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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) No S126560

Plaintiff/Respondent Los Angeles County

Vs.
NAO051938-01

JAMELLE EDWARD ARMSTRONG

Defendant/Appellant

p— N , , ;N , , , ,

APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF

On Automatic Appeal from the Judgment of the Los Angeles County
Superior Court, Honorable Tomson Ong, Judge.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Information was filed on June 25, 2002, charging appellant with
eight counts of criminal activity. The charged counts are as follows: Count
L - first degree murder of Penny Keptra', on or about December 29, 1998, in
violation of Penal Code section 187 (a). Six separate special circumstances
allegations were also alleged, charging that during the commission of the

crime set forth in Count I, appellant was engaged in the commission of a

1. In the record, this name has also been spelled “Keprtra.” Appellant will use the
rendering of the deceased name as used in the Information.
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robbery, kidnaping, kidnaping for the purpose of rape, rape, rape with a
foreign object and torture; Count 2- second degree robbery against the
person of Penny Keptra, on or about December 29, 1998, in violation of

Penal Code section 211; Count 3- kidnaping for the purposes of rape against

the person of Penny Keptra, on or about December 29, 1998, in violation of

Penal Code section 209 (b)(1); Count 4-forcible rape while acting in concert

against the person of Penny Keptra, on or about December 29, 1998, in
violation of Penal Code sections 264.1, 261(a)(2) and 262(a)(2); Count 5-
forcible Rape against the person of Penny Keptra, on or about December
29, 1998, in violation of Penal Code section 261 (a)(2);_.Count 6-sexual
penetration by foreign object while acting in concert against the person of
Penny Keptra, on or about December 29, 1998, in violation of Penal Code

sections 289(a)(1) and 264.1; Count 7- sexual penetration by a foreign

object against the person of Penny Keptra, on or about December 29, 1998,

in violation of Penal Code section 289(a)(1); Count 8- torture against the

person of Penny Keptra, on or about December 29, 1998, in violation of
Penal Code section 206. (I CT 306.)

A Motion to Suppress appellant’s confession was heard and denied.
(1 RT 129 et seq.) Jury selection began on February 2, 2004 (III CT 683)
and the jury was empaneled on March 30, 2004. (III CT 726.) The
prosecution’s case commenced on April 1, 2004 (III CT 728), with it
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resting on April 12, 2004. (IIl CT 750.) On the same day, appellant testified
on his own behalf. (III CT 751.) On April 14, 2004, the prosecution
commenced its rebuttal case. (IIl CT 755.) The jury was instructed on April
16, 2004. (III CT 872.) On April 23, 2004, the jury returned a guilty verdict
on all counts and true findings on all allegations. IV CT 933 et seq'.)

The penalty phase of the trial commenced April 29, 2004. (IV CT
961.) The prosecution rested the next day. (IV CT 967.) Appellant
commenced presentation of his case on May 3, 2004, resting the next day.
(IV CT 969 et seq.) The prosecution began its rebuttal case on May 4, 2004
(supra) and rested on May 5, 2004. (IV CT 1003.) The jury was instructed
and began deliberations on May 6, 2004. (IV CT 1067-1068.) On May 10,
2004, the jury returned a verdict of death. (IV CT 1074.)

On July 16, 2004, appellant’s Motion for a New Trial and
Modiﬁcation of Sentence were denied by the trial court and a Jjudgment of
death was entered. (V CT 1410.)

‘This appeal is automatic. Counsel was appointed on January 31,

2008.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

GUILT PHASE

PROSECUTOR’S CASE

In the early daylight hours of December 30, 1998, a highway worker
discovered the body of Penny Keptra on a 405 Freeway embankment near
Long Beach Boulevard and Wardlow Street in Long Beach, California. (22
RT 4808, 4833.) The area where the body was found was fenced in, and
would have been difficult to see from either Wardlow Street or Long Beach
Boulevard. (22 RT 4832-4833.) There was evidence that the something had
been dragged through the embankment area. There were also boot prints
surrounding the area of the body. (22 RT 4814-4832, 4838-4840.) A piece
of a broken wooden stake was found in the area of the body. (22 RT 4815.)

An autopsy revealed that the cause of death was multiple traumatic
injuries to the head and neck, most of the injuries being caused by blunt
trauma. Strangulation could not be excluded as a contributing cause of
death. (19 RT 4233-4234.) The body evidenced various bone fractures and
soft tissue injuries, including trauma to the genital area consistent with
penetration with a foreign object. (19 RT 4233.) It was opined by the

medical examiner that the injury to the genitalia took place ante-mortem.



(Ibid.)

On December 29, 1998, Penny Keptra was residing with Joseph
O’Brien. That evening, he gave Penny a book of food stamps, serial
number F02520550V, containing a five dollar coupon and a dollar coupon,
with instructions to purchase milk and cereal for him at the local store. (20
RT 4351.) This booklet was originally part of a shipment of Los Angeles
County food stamps which were shipped to and received by the Nix check
cashing store, at 6583 Atlantic Boulevard in Long Beach. (20 RT 4245.)

Penny left for the store between 10:00 and 10:30 p.m. that evening.
This was the last time Mr. O’Brien saw her alive. (20 RT 4351-4353.)

Between Christmas and New Years of 1998-99, Efram Garcia was
working at the Lorena Market located at 6725 Broadway in Los Angeles.
(20 RT 4383.) He identified appellant as being a person that he had seen in
the neighborhood of the store. (20 RT 4389-4390.) During the investigation
of this crime, the police obtained from Mr. Garcia two food stamp coupons
that bore the serial number F02520550V. (People’s Exhibit 18 and 18A; 20
RT 4393.) Mr. Garcia was not able to provide the exact date that these
coupons came into the possession of the Lorena Market. (20 RT 4394.)

Paul Edwards was a homicide detective assigned to the Keptra
murder ivestigation. (21 RT 4586-4587.) He conducted a search of the
murder scene, and found a single white sock and a food coupon book cover.
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The serial number on the book was F-02520550. (21 RT 4592-4593.)

In the early evening of December 29, 1998, appellant, his brother
Warren Hardy, Kevin Pearson and another man named “Chris” arrived at
Monte Gmur’s residence in Long Beach. All of these men were
acquaintances. (20 RT 4361-4363.) They spent part of their time at the
Gmur residence drinking, although Gmur did not know exactly how much
appellant drank. (20 RT 4363-4366.) However, Mr. Gmur referred to
appellant as being “stupid drunk” when appellant and the three others left
the Gmur residence sometime after 9:30 p.m. (20 RT 4366, 4369.)

Mr. Gmur stated that when they were at his apartment, Pearson was
wearing black high work type boots, dark brown Dickies pants and a light
brown sleeved shirt. Appellant was wearing black tennis shoes, blue
corduroy pants and a long sleeve University of Michigan shirt that was blue
and gold in color. (20 RT 4376.) Hardy was wearing a black leather jacket
and dark pants. (20 RT 4377.)

On January 7, 1999, a search was executed at appellant’s mother’s
house at 731 Redondo Avenue in Long Beach. A pair of black shoes were
found that were identified as belonging to Warren Hardy. (20 RT 4481 )
DNA analysis of a blood stain on said shoes revealed that the stain was
contributed by Ms. Keptra. (20 RT 4338.) A cream colored shirt with black
checks was recovered from the premises that had a semen stain that
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matched Jamelle Armstrong. (22 RT 4758, 4322-4324.) In addition;Ms.

Keptra’s blood was found on the pants that Pearson was wearing. (20 RT
4336.) At the same location, police recovered 3 pairs of tennis shoes. No
blood stains were present on these shoes. (22 RT 4807.)

Blue denim overalls were recovered at the house of Hardy’s
girlfriend, Tiyaire Felix. (21 RT 4594.) Appellant admitted to wearing
these overalls the night of the crime. (23 RT 4978.) They bore a blood stain
contributed by Ms. Keptra. (20 RT 4338.) In addition, black boots, like
those worn by Pearson, were also found at this location. (21 RT 4594-
4595.) These boots bore blood stains that matched Ms. Keptra. (20 RT
4337.) At the same location, a black leather jacket belonging to Mr. Hardy
was found in a closet. (20 RT 4778.) It bore a stain of Ms. Keptra’s blood.
(20 RT 4333.)

Keith Kendrick was an acquaintance of appellant and Kevin Pearson.
He initially testified that on either December 30th or December 31st, 1998,
he was at his residence with appellant andv Kevin Pearson. They were all
watching a television news report about a woman found murdered near the
freeway. Kendrick commented to the other two men, “[o]h, I know who did
that, Killer Kev did that.” Immediately after hearing this remark, appellant
whispered to Pearson, “[h]Jow did he know that?” (20 RT 4416-4418.)

Kéndrick testified that even though he wasn’t paying much attention

7



to Pearson after this, he “vaguely remembers” Pearson giving furthér details
about what happened. Kendricks stated that Pearson related that he,
appellant and Warren Hardy “had a girl in the bushes having sex with her.”
Kendrick also stated that Pearson stated that appellant and Hardy started
beating the woman with a stick. (20 RT 4419.)

On cross examination, by appellant’s counsel, Kendrick stated that
the first time that Pearson had talked to him about the murder was
December 29, 1998, when the two of them were alone. (20RT 4424) In
addition, he testified that appellant never made a statement to him that
appellant had any involvement appellant in the death of the woman. (20RT
4424.) Kendrick also testified that Pearson told him the details of the attack
during an occasion when Kendrick was alone with Pearson. (Ibz‘d.)
Kendrick stated that Pearson didn’t relate any details of the assault while
the in presence of appellant. (20 RT 4431.)

During a recess, the prosecutor and Kendrick conferred about the
nature of Kenrick’s testimony. After the recess, Kendrick again changed his
story, now stating that on December 30, 1998, he was at Monte Gmur’s
house with Pearson when Pearson told him about the crime. No one else
was present. (20 RT 4447.) Kendrick stated that the next day, that he was
watching the news with Pearson, appellant and Gmur. A new story came on
about a woman’s body being found near the freeway. It was at this point
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that the witness made the remark about “Killer Kev” and appellant stated
“IhJow he know?” Kendrick testified that at this point Pearson began
relating some of the details as to what had happened to the woman,
including that “they” had sex with this woman in the bushes. Kendrick
stated that appellant looked “disgusted and concerned when he heard this.”
(20 RT 4451-4453.) Kendrick testified that while Gmur was present during
this conversation, he doesn’t know what Gmur actually heard. (20 RT 4453-
4454.)

It was also revealed on cross-examination that Kendrick was in
police custody at the time he initially spoke to the police about this matter.
He was released soon thereafter. (20 RT 4428-4429.)

At the time of the search of appellant’s mother’s residence, Detective
Steven Lasiter also spoke to Pamela Armstrong, appellant’s mother, who
lived at that address. Mrs. Armstrong stated that appellant Armstrong and
his brother, Hardy, spent the night at her house on December 28, 1998, and
left that next morning. The last time she saw them that morning they were
on foot as they did not have a car. (21 RT 4601-4602.)

Mrs. Armstrong told Detective Lasiter that the next time she saw
appellant was January 5, 1999, when he came over to spend the night. She
told the witness that she last saw appellant was when she left for work at
5:40 a.m. the next day. (21 RT 4601-4602.) The witness stated that Mrs.
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Armstrong said she thought that Warren Hardy came over her house either
December 30" or 31%, 1998, to get some clothes. (21 RT 4603.)

Detective Lasiter further stated that Mrs. Armstrong said when she
saw her son on January 5", he was acting particularly “sneaky. (21 RT
4603.)

On January 8, 1999, Detective Lasiter interviewed Jeanette Carter,
appellant Armstrong’s girlfriend. Before the interview, Ms. Carter was
aware that appellant had been arrested for murder. (21 RT 4604-4606.) Ms.
Carter stated that appellant called her on December 30, 1998, from his
mother’s house and told her something to the effect, “I did something bad.”
(21 RT 4606.) Appellant then asked Ms. Carter if she heard about the lady
that was found on the freeway and Ms. Carter responded by asking him if
he was involved in that crime. Appellant answered in the affirmative, but
when Ms. Carter pressed him for details he stated “[p]syche, I’m just
kidding. I wasn’t involved in that.” (21 RT 4607.) Detective Lasiter
testified that Ms. Carter said that appellant subsequently told her that he
was involved in the incident on the freeway. She indicated that appellant
sounded nervous when he answered her questions. (21 RT 4607-4608.)

Detective Lasiter stated that when Ms. Carter’s statement was tape
recorded, she told Lasiter that she asked appellant again if he was involved
in the incident, and he said he was. Appellant told her that he was with

10



Kevin Pearson and Warren Hardy when they encountered a woman. Kevin
got into an altercation with the woman “‘and they began beating her and
ultimately they raped her...or Kevin raped her, and they beat her and
dragged her away and left her on the side of the road naked.” (21 RT 4610.)
She also told Detective Lasiter that appellant told her that Pearson raped the
victim with a stick, as well. (Ibid.)

Ms.Carter also talked to Detective Lasiter “about the beating, and
stripping off the woman’s clothes, throwing her over a fence and dragging
her down a drainage ditch, stomping on her.” (21 RT 4610.) She also stated
that while Kevin Pearson raped the victim, appellant held her arms and
Hardy held her legs.? (21 RT 4611.) She also stated that during the incident,
while appellant was holding the victim’s arms, Pearson also stuck a stick up
her vagina. She also stated that Pearson told “them” to throw the victim
over a fence, then they dragged the victim down a Idrainage ditch and then
up a hill where they left her there naked. (7bid.).

Ms. Carter also told Detective Lasiter that during the incident Kevin
said “we should kill” the victim. Ms. Carter also mentioned to the detective

that “they” had taken some food stamps and a small amount of cash from

2. The syntax of the direct testimony at this point makes it appear that Ms. Carter
was a percipient witness to the crime. From the context of the entire testimony,
she was not. Her knowledge of the crime came from appellant.
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the victim. She said that appellant told her that “we stomped on her, we beat
her, we drug her, we left her alone, you know, naked.” (21 RT 4611-4612.)

Detective Lasiter testified that on January 7, 1999, he and other
police personnel interviewed appellant, after reading appellant his Miranda
rights. (21 RT 4621-4625.) The initial statement was not recorded.
Detective Lasiter told appellant the police were investigating a crime and
wanted some information about his activities over the past few weeks,
specifically December 29, 1998. (21 RT 4625-4626.) Appellant told the
detectives that on the evening question, he was at Monte Gaur’s house with
Warren Hardy, Kevin Pearson and several other individuals named, Chris,
Gerard, Harold and Daniel. (21 RT 4629.) He said that Monte’s house was a
place where he would regularly hang out. On the evening of December 29,
1998, appellant said that he was drinking a combination of Cisco,
Nighttrain and Thunderbifd alcoholic drinks. (21 RT 4629-4630.) Appellant
said that he was not “falling down drunk,” but he could feel the affects of
the alcohol. Appellant stated that some time between 10:00 and 10:15 p.m.,
he, Hardy, Pearson and Chris walked to the area of Anaheim and Long
Beach Boulevards. (21 RT 4630.)

Appellant stated that they went to the bus stop at that intersection.
Chris got on a city bus. Appellant, Hardy and Pearson, walked north on
Long Beach Boulevard to the Pacific Coast Highway. Once they arrived at
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the Pacific Coast Highway, they tried to get people to buy them alcohol but
failed, so they decided to take the Blue Line train to Hardy’s girlfriend’s
house. (21 RT 4631.) They all boarded the train but they soon had to get off
because the train line was shutting down for the night. (/bid.)

According to appellant, when he and his two companions debarked
the train, their intent was to catch a bus. They began walking toward Long
Beach Boulevard. Appellant stated that they were walking single file, with
him in the lead. At some point, appellant looked back and saw Hardy
crossing the street with Pearson following him. Appellant stated that he did
not know where they were going but turned to follow them as they
approached the center divider of the road. (21 RT 4631-4636.) At this point,
appellant noticed a woman in the area toward which Hardy and Pearson
were walking. (21 RT 4636.)

As appellant continued to follow the other two across the street, he
heard the woman say something to the effect of “I hate you.” Pearson then
stated something like, “[h]Jow about $50.00 for the three of us,” which
appellant interpreted this to be a solicitation for oral sex. (21 RT 4637.)
Appellant told the detectives that the woman pushed by Hardy and Pearson
and walked toWard him: As the woman passed him, he heard the word “no”
and then saw the woman fling the back of her hand at his face, making light
contact with his cheek. (21 RT 4637-4638.)
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Appellant then said the woman ran into a “leafy area.” She then
turned around and extended her two middle fingers to appellant and his two
companions and said something to the effect of “I hope they kill you all.”
Appellant then heard Pearson say “I’'m fixing to BKC this bitch.”
Appellant explained to the detectives that “BKC” is a derogatory rap term
used against people that the speaker might want to beat up. Appellant then
told the police that Pearson ran up to the woman and began punching her.
(21 RT 4638-4639.) Hardy began walking toward where the assault was
taking place with appellant following. (21 RT 4639.)

Immediétely thereafter, appellant saw that Hardy had the woman’s
arms in the air. He said he saw the woman fall down as a result of being
punched by Pearson, who then went through her pockets looking for and
demanding money. (21 RT 4639-4640.) Appellant told the detectives that
he saw Pearson take food stamps from the woman’s pants pocket. He then
heard Pearson announce that he was going to take her pants off. As Pearson
started to do that, the woman began to struggle and Pearson told appellant
to hold her arms and Hardy to hold her feet. Appellant said that as she was
lying on the ground, he grabbed the woman’s arms and held them over her
head. (21 RT 4642.)

Appellant then said that the woman began screaming and Pearson
started to stomp on her stomach and chest. Pearson then said, “[t]his isn’t
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over yet bitch. Let’s kill the bitch,” at which point Pearson tore off the‘
woman’s underwear and ripped her shirt to expose her breasts. Appellant
stated that the woman pulled away from his grasp but he managed to regain
control of her. The woman continued to struggle and scream and appellant
said he let her go. Pearson then got up and began to stomp the woman’s
face and neck. Appellant said he saw the woman’s head coming off the
ground as she was gasping for air, making a coughing noise. (21 RT 4645-
4646.)

Pearson then began to talk about what to do with the victim. (21 RT
4646-4647.) Appellant told the detectives that Pearson said they could not
leave the woman where she was and they would have to move her to an
area on the other side of a 5-6 feet high chain link fence. (21 RT 4658.)
The appellant stated that he went to the chain link fence and forced it down
- so Hardy and Pearson could lift the woman over it. After Ms. Keptra was
| pushed over the fence by Hardy and Pearson, appellant said he saw her land
in the drainage ditch. Pearson then grabbed the body and dragged it in a
southerly direction in the ditch. (21 RT 4658-4659.)

Appellant told the detectives that he and Hardy proceeded to where
Pearson was standing over the body. He saw Pearson trip over a wooden
stake, breaking off part of it. Pearson then used that stake to beat Ms.
Keptra. (21 RT 4659-4661.) After beating the woman, Pearson gave the
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stake, which measured approximately three feet in length, to Hardy who
gave it to appellant who put the stick down in the area of the chain link
fence. (21 RT 4663.).

Appellant then told the detectives that prior to Kevin’s beating the
woman with the wooden stake, she was still alive because she was moaning.
After Pearson finished beating her with the stick, Ms. Keptra was quiet. (21
RT 4665-4667.) Appellant related that Pearson wanted him to help move
the body and gave him a piece of cloth, perhaps a piece of a shirt, and
appellant wrapped it around Ms. Keptra’s legs to help carry her. The body
was carried part of the way up the embankment and dropped, but it rolled
part of the way back down. (21 RT 4667-4668.)

The three men then went back over the fence, through the leafy area
to the bus stop at the corner of Long Beach Boulevard and Wardlow
Avenue. (21 RT 4668.) Appellant and Hardy arrived first. Pearson arrived
soon thereafter carrying a bag and told appellant to put the clothes he had
used to carry the body in it. About five minutes later they boarded a bus to
Los Angeles. (21 RT 4672.) When they got off the bus they went to
Hardy’s girlfriend’s residence where they spent the rest of the night. (21 RT
4673.) The next morning, appellant asked what happened to the food
stamps, and was told by his two companions that they used them to buy
soda and cookies at a liquor store. (21 RT 4674.)
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At this point, Detective Lasiter told appellant that there was no stake
at the crime scene, that there was evidence that the woman was sexually
assaulted and that the police would probably be able to prove who
committed said assault. The detective then told appellant that he needed to
be honest with the police. (21 RT 4674.) Appellant then told the detectives
that Pearson put the stick up the woman’s vagina. In addition, appellant
said that he held Ms. Keptra by the arms while Pearson got on top of her
and was in between the woman’s legs for three to five minutes. (21 RT
4674-4675.) Appellant said that befofe Pearson got on the ground between
the woman’s legs, he asked him and Hardy for a condom. (21 RT 4679.)

Appellant also stated that he thought that Kevin was trying to force
the woman to fellate him. (21 RT 4676-4677.) Appellant said that Pearson
stuck the stick inside the woman between five and fifteen times. (21 RT
4677.)

Appellant also stated that after Pearson got out of the position where
he was in between the woman’s legs he said, “I should have fucked her in
the aés.” After this comment, the woman began to struggle and pulled away
from appellant’s grasp. It was at this point that Pearson got up and began to
stomp on the woman’s neck and chest. (21 RT 4678-4679.)

Detective Lasiter asked appellant whether he had also stomped on
the woman. Appellant replied that after Kevin did the act associated with
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oral sex, appellant stomped on her chest and stomach area a few times. (21
RT 4682.) Appellant later told Detective Lasiter that the “stomping” in
reality was a “pushing off” with his foot on Ms. Keptra’s stomach. (22 RT
4793-4794.)

At this time, Detective McMahon came into the interview room with
a portion of the interview tape he made with Hardy. He played a short part
of this tape for appellant in which Hardy admitted réping the woman with a
stick. McMahon then left the interview room and one of his police
interrogators told appellant that they did not think he was telling them the
complete truth. They told appellant that he needed to tell them the truth
because his brother was doing so. (21 RT 4685-4686.) At that point,
appellant told the detectives that he saw his brother put the stick in the
woman after Pearson did and then handed the stick to appellant. (21 RT
4686-87.) Appellant still denied having any sexual contact with the victim.
(22 RT 4783.)

It was at this time that the turned on their tape recorder and taped
appellant’s statement. The tape was played in its entirety for the jury. (21

RT 4704.)
DEFENSE CASE

Appellant’s Testimony
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Appellant testified that on the evening in question, he was at Monte
Gmur’s house with his brother Warren Hardy, Kevin Pearson and a person
named Chris. They were at the Gmur residence to test some musical
equipment. Appellant stated that while he was there he had approximately
forty ounces of a mixture of three inexpensive wines. (23 RT 4918-4919.)
Appellant felt “woozy and tipsy,” but did not feel high, stating that “high”
1s a “mind altering thing” and “tipsy” is “a body function thing where you
spin arounci and you feel it, you just go out of it.” (23 RT 4918.)

At some point in the evening, appellant left the Gmur residence to
get a cigar. Appellant returned, but soon thereafter he, Pearson, Hardy and
Chris left because Gmur said he had to work the next morning. (23 RT
4920.) The four of them walked to the train station at intersection of
Anaheim and Long Beach Boulevard. During the walk they looked for a
store in which to buy more liquor but could not find an open store. When
they got to the station, Chris left the other three. (23 RT 4921-4922.)

Appellant was 18 years of age on December 29, 1998. (23 RT 4924.)
He wés in a good mood that evening. He had no weapons on him and as far
as he knew, his two companions were unarmed as well. (23 RT 4921-4922)) |
The three of them boarded the train, but the train only went as far as
Wardlow Street when the train line shut down for the night. (23 RT 4923.)
After the three got off the train, they walked up the hill of Wardlow Street.

19



Appellant again related he was very happy and had no intention of hurting
anyone that evening. (23 RT 4925.)

At this point, appellant heard a voice yell “[f]luck you, niggers.” The
voice came from across the street. He saw Hardy cross the street but had no
idea what was going on. Appellant followed his brother across Wardlow
and observed a woman standing in the direction from which the voice had
come. (23 RT 4926-4928.) At this point, the woman said something to
Hardy in a raspy voice. From her actions and voice timbre, it seemed to
appellant she was on some sort of drugs. (23 RT 4929-4930.)

Appellant testified that up to this point, he had no contact with the
woman at all. Hardy made some sort of statement to the woman about
“fifty dollars for the three of us,” which appellant assumed to be Hardy just
“playing around.” (23 RT 4930.) Appellant was not sexually attracted to the
woman. At the time, he was living with his girlfriend, with whom he had a
three month old baby. (23 RT 4931.) The woman then ran past Pearson and
Hardy and as she was running her hand lightly slapped appellant’s check. It
didn’t cause appellant any pain and appellant felt that “it was nothing to be
alarmed about.” (23 RT 4932.)

The woman then “ran into the mulch, this leafy area.” She then stuck
out her middle fingers and said “[f]luck you niggers. You niggers should
die.” (23 RT 4933.) Pearson then ran up to the woman and starting
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“socking her” in the face until she fell to the ground. He continued striking
her with his fists. (23 RT 4933-4934.) Appellant was caught by surprise by
Pearson’s actions. Pearson then said that he was going to “BKC this bitch”
as he continued to stomp and punch her. (23 RT 4934.)

Appellant had no role in Pearson’s attack on the woman. However,
when Pearson started going through the woman’s pockets, he ordered
appellant to hold the woman’s arms down. (23 RT 4935-36.) Appellant did
so but not with the intent to effect a robbery. Appellant saw Pearson take
food stamps from the woman and put them in his pockets. (23 RT 4940.)
Thinking that the contact with the woman had ended, appellant let go of the
woman’s arms. (/bid.) However, Pearson commenced to again stomp her
chest and neck. (23 RT 4937.) Appellant tried to get Pearson and Hardy to
leave the woman alone and to leave the area. (23 RT 4937-38.) Appellant
wanted to leave but Hardy had the money that appellant would have needed
to get transportation home. (23 RT 4938.)

Instead of leaving, Pearson again ordered appellant to hold the
woman down again, as he again went through her pockets. Pearson was
unable to obtain any additional property from the woman and appellant let
go of her. (23 RT 4941.) Appellant then moved behind a wall in the leafy
area. Pearson asked in a sarcastic voice whether appellant had a condom.
Appellant answered he did not. Pearson then asked Hardy for a condom
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who also said he did not have one. Appellant then saw Pearson stand
between the woman’s legs. Pearson then got down on her knees and lifted
the woman from the back of her thighs, got down between her legs and
unzipped his pants. It appeared to appellant that Pearson had sex with the
woman for a minute or two. Appellant denied having any contact with the
victim at this point. (23 RT 4942-4943.)

Appellant testified that after Pearson got up from between the
woman’s legs, he stood by her face and then dropped to his knees. From his
viewpoint, he could not tell whether Pearson was masturbating or trying to
force the woman to fellate him. (23 RT 4943-4944.) At that point, Pearson
got up from his knees and said “I should fuck this bitch in the ass.”
Appellant told Pearson once again that they should all leave. Appellant
testified trying to get Pearson and Hardy to leave was his way of helping
Ms. Keptra. (Ibid.)

Hardy and Kevin then moved Ms. Keptra from the leafy area and
threw her over a chain link fence. Appellant stated that while Hardy never
had any direct sexual contact with the woman, he did see his brother
holding a stick and putting it in the woman’s vagina. Appellant thought that
Hardy’s conduct was “animal-like” and took the stick from him. (23 RT
4945-4946.)

Appellant also saw Pearson using the stick on Ms. Keptra. The stick

22



was obtained by Pearson after he tripped over it and picked it up. He used
it to strike Ms. Keptra five to fifteen times and force it into her vagina. (23
RT 4951-4952.) Appellant found this attack “scandalous” and only
watched, by the light of a Bic lighter, because looking at her would “teach
me (appellant) a lesson.” (23 RT 4955.)

He further condemned Pearson because of “[t]he way he acted like
an animal and snatched her clothes off and raped her like he had no morals
like he didn’t have a care in the world, like he didn’t give...like he didn’t

care about her.” (23 RT 4955.)

PENALTY PHASE

PROSECUTOR’S CASE

Monte Gmur, who was also a witness in the guilt phase, testified that
appellant was at his house on December 29, 1998 for approximately 3-3 %
hours. During this period of time, appellant was accompanied by Pearson,
Hardy and a person named Chris. (26 'RT 5620, 5623.)

At some time during this evening, Pearson approached Mr. Gaur and
asked him if he could use the back bedroom to put Chris “on the block,”
which meant to violently initiate him into a gang. Appellant’s counsel
objected to this line of questioning, but the objection was overruled by the
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court. Mr. Gmur refused this request. (26 RT 5621-5622.) Mr. Gmur stated
that he did not know for sure where appellant was when Pearson asked his
question but thought he “was étill in the studio.” The witness later stated
that he really couldn’t say if appellant overheard this conversation. (26 RT
5622-23,5633.)

Shortly after this brief conversation, appellant and his three
compantons left the Gmur residence. The four of them returned 15-20
minutes later. Upon returning, Hardy made a phone call to someone named
“Capone” and said “Yeah, he’s cool, we’re going to call him ‘Playboy.””
(26 RT 5624-5625.) Mr. Gmur wasn’t sure if appellant was within hearing
distance of Hardy’s phone conversation. (26 RT 5633.) He did not observe
any indication that Chris had been assaulted, nor did it appear that appellant
was out of breath when he returned to the Gmur residence. (26 RT 5631,
5637.)

Janisha Williams testified that she had known appellant for about
seven years but had no contact with him since he was arrested for the
instant crimes. She said that the “Capone Thug Soldiers” were “a little
crew” or gang of between 12-30 members of which appellant was a
member. (26 RT 5641-5643, 5663.) She stated that to get into the gang, a
person has to beat someone up and be beaten up himself. (26 RT 5644.)

She stated that several years ago, she observed appellant engaged
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with a group of people who were kicking “innocent people” off their
bicycles, “just for the fun of it.” This happened on several different
occasions. (26 RT 5644-45, 5650.) She also said that she had observed
appellant using a stick to hit people and getting into fist fights. (26 RT
5647.) She also said that appellant had a temper and could be a thug. (26
RT 5648.) She also stated that she specifically saw a group that appellant
was with kick a woman off her bike. Ms. Williams stated that although
appellant went along with the others, he did not engage in the assault. She
remembered paramedics assisting this woman. (26 RT 5648-5649.)

Hugo Barajas was a deputy sheriff at the Los Angeles County Jail.
He was responsible for inmates when they went to the shower, received
visitors or went to get their medicine. On December 10, 1999, appellant was
one of the inmates in his custody. (26 RT 5672-5673.) There had been
some racial tension at the time between Hispanic and black inmates and the
two groups were being segregated from one another. Officer Barajas was
sitting in the officer’s cage where he was able to observe everything on his
assigned module. As part of his duties, he released four black inmates,
including appellant, to shower. (26 RT 5674-5676.)

Immediately after this release, there was a call to release a Hispanic
mmate to the visitor’s room. (26 RT 5676-5677.) In order to get to the
visitor’s room, the Hispanic inmate had to pass by the shower. As he did,
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the Hispanic inmate was attacked by the four black inmates, including
appellant. At this point, the cellmate of the Hispanic inmate ran to help his
friend. Officer Barajas observed appellant punch and kick both Hispanic
inmates. (26 RT 5677-5681.)

Officer Barajas observed one of the Hispanics having a piece of
metal wire, sharpened at one end, protruding from under his left armpit.
The other Hispanic inmate was bruised around the face and body. (26 RT
5680.) The witness could not say who used the sharpened piece of wire in
the assault and could not say for sure who originally possessed it, the black
or Hispanic inmates. (26 RT 5698.)

Teddy Keptra was the son of Penny Keptra. He was fifteen years of
age when his mother was murdered. He identified various photos of his
mother interacting with both himself and other members of the family. (26
RT 5755-5757.) He stated that he had sisters, but they were not living at
home at the time of his mother’s death. (26 RT 5758.)

The witness indicated that he was not able to finish high school after
his mother’s death. He stated that his mother was his friend and was never
able to talk to his father the way he was able to talk to his mother. (26 RT
5758-5759.) He felt he shared a special bond with his mother as they
shared the same birthday. Holidays have been difficult for him as his
mother died during the holiday season. (26 RT 5759.)
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When the witness heard the guilty verdict in the trial he felt better
but not much. On his birthday, he locks himself in his room and thinks
about his mother. He stated that the death of his mother still affects him. He
feels sad and lonely and not a day goes by when he doesn’t think of her. (26

RT 5760-5762.)

APPELLANT’S CASE

Detective Lasiter was called by appellant’s counsel in an attempt to
dembnstrate that appellant appeared remorseful while giving his statement
to the police. However, Detective Lasiter stated that appellant did not really
seem remorseful during the January 7, 1999, interview and felt that he only
felt badly about his situation and not the murder of the victim. (27 RT 5769-
5770.) This opinion was based upon the fact that when appellant first came
into the interview room he asked why he was in custody. Appellant first
denied involvement, and it wasn’t until he was confronted with other
evidence that he gave several different stories about what happened. (27 RT
5770-5771.)

Detective Lasiter said that appellant never said he felt badly. There
were times during the interviews when appellant put his head down and

became quiet. It was at this point that the witness formed the opinion that
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appellant felt badly because the risk to him was becoming graver. (27 RT
5771-5772.) However, the witness stated that during an January 8, 1999,
interview, appellant apologized for his actions. Detective Lasiter testified
that he was not sure if this was remorse, but, at that point, appellant seemed
to feel badly about what happened. (27 RT 5772.)

Appellant’s counsel referred Detective Lasiter to his preliminary
hearing testimony in which he stated that during the January 7, 1999,
interview of appellant there were times when appellant appeared to feel
badly about what happened and seemed contrite and remorseful. (27 RT
5775-5776.) However, the witness insisted that the only time that appellant
demonstrated any remorse was when he apologized on January 8", (27 RT
5778-5781, 5795.)

Larry Clark testified that he has been a minister for fifteen years. He
had contact with appellant for four or five years beginning when appellant
was ten years old. He met appellant’s family at the First Shining Light
Church. Mr. Clark stated that he counseled the family both at church and at
their home. (27 RT 5818-5821, 5825.) The witness stated he had no contact
with the family for eight years prior to trial. (27 RT 5822, 5861.)

Mr. Clark testified that during the period he knew them, the
Armstrong family lived in Carmelitas, a government housing project for
welfare recipients. This was a very rough neighborhood with a lot of drug
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dealing, prostitution and gangs. (27 RT 5821.) Mr. Clark stated that
Warren Hardy was the oldest child in the family, and appellant followed
him everywhere. (27 RT 5824.) Mr. Clark stated that Pamela Armstrong
struggled as a mother and that the family had financial problems. (27 RT
5876.) He really did not know much about appellant’s father, except that
there were times that the father was separated from the family. (27 RT

5877.)
Mr. Clark stated that appellant enjoyed art. He also testified that

while appellant was at the church, he taught him right from wrong. (27 RT
5826.) Mr. Clark stated that during the time period he knew the family, he
would see Jamelle every Sunday and sometimes during the week. Appellant
would participate in basic clean-up duties and hand out gifts to poor
children. (27 RT 5837-5838.)

On cross examination, Mr. Clark indicated that toward the end of his
pastorship at the church, his contact with appellant became more sporadic.
(27 RT 5850.) He also testified thét he had no idea what appellant did when
he was not in church. (27 RT 5853.) In response to the prosecutor’s
questioning, Mr. Clark stated that he wasn’t aware that appellant was a gang
member or that he had committed acts of violence against innocent persons
other that Ms. Keptra. Mr. Clark told the jury that this changed his opinion

of appellant. (27 RT 5854-5856.)
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The witness also stated that when Warren, appellant’s older brother,
had a problem with someone, appellant would become involved as well. He
also stated that as far as he was concerned, appellant had the ability to
control his own destiny. (27 RT 5857-5858.) Mr. Clark further testified that
whomever committed the crimes against Ms. Keptra was a “horrible
person.” (27 RT 5886.)

James Armstrong, appellant’s father, testified that he was “a poor
excuse for a parent.” He stated that he never taught his son right from
wrong but, instead, to be a “hustler,” to make money anyway he could.
Armstrong stated he made his money by selling drugs and pimping. (27 RT
5900.) He said that he was in and out of appellant’s life during his
childhood. (27 RT 5901-5902.)

Armstrong stated that he used drugs in the presence of appellant on
an everyday basis. He also stated that on one occasion, he took appellant to
Chicago with him and exposed him to this criminal lifestyle. (27 RT 5904-
5905.) On the way to Chicago from Long Beach, Armstrong said he used
and sold drugs. The witness bought drugs for appellant while in Chicago.
They were also accompanied by two of the witness’s “lady friends” who
stayed with them. During the stay in Chicago, appellant was given
marijuana, cocaine and alcohol to ingest. Mr. Armstrong’s own drug habit
cost him up to $800.00 a day. (27 RT 5915-5919.)
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In addition, while living at home, Armstrong would provide
appellant with alcohol even through he knew it was harmful and wrong to
give alcohol to a child. (27 RT 5920.) Armstrong also said that his wife was
an alcohol and drug user and they would use these substances in front of
appellant when he was a younger child. The witness supplied Mrs.
Armstrong with marijuana, PCP and alcohol, which she would use on a
daily basis. He also stated that he has been in jail on many occasions for
spousal abuse. (27 RT 5923-5925.)

Appellant’s father testified that he never paid any attention to
appellant’s schooling, rarely took him to school, and never helped with his
homework. He further stated that he had no idea what life was like for his
son between the ages of 6-16 because the witness was “always loaded or on
the streets.” (27 RT 5931-5932.) Armstrong said that during this time
period he stole from appellant’s piggy bank and was engaged in repeated
violence against his wife. (27 RT 5932-5933.)

On cross-examination, Armstrong stated that he had never been
arrested for drugs even though he ingested them for 30 years. (27 RT 5939.)
He also admitted to not being present for the greater part of appellant’s
childhood. (27 RT 5940.) Armstrong testified that although he had a very
similar upbringing to his son, he never committed murder or rape. (27 RT
5945.)
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PROSECUTOR’S REBUTTAL CASE

Cindy Marcotte, an investigator with the Alternate Public Defender’s
Office testified that she interviewed James Armstrong in January, 1999. At
that interview, Armstrong told her that he believed that the children never
saw him take drugs. (28 RT 5985.) However, he also stated that the
children saw a lot of drinking, fighting, dysfunction and “drugging.” (28 RT
5987-5989.)

The prosecution then called Pamela Armstrong, appellant’s mother,
who stated that she loved him a lot and did not want to see him get the
death penalty. She further stated that she taught him right from wrong as he
was growing up and the family celebrated holidays. (28 RT 5993-5994.)

Mrs. Armstrong indicated that while raising her sons she was
employed outside of the home. When she worked, she would have a family
member or friend take care of the boys. (28 RT 5999-6001.) She also
indicated that when her husband James did drugs, most of the time the kids
were not present. (28 RT 6001-6004.)

She also testified that her husband abused her. (28 RT 6004-6007.)
The two brothers, three years apart, were close and shared a bedroom. (28
RT 6008.) At an early age, Hardy began his association with gangs. (28 RT

6008.) Appellant started his gang association when he was 12-13 years of
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age. (28 RT 6008-6009.)

The witness stated that she spanked appellant to discipline him. (28
RT 6014.) She stated that appellant dropped out of school in the tenth
grade. (28 RT 6014-6015.) She further stated that gang members would
show up at her house and eventually became aware that appellant was a
member of a gang. (28 RT 6017-6019.) She stated that she knows very little
about gangs and had no idea that appellant drank or was engaged in
criminal activity when he was growing up. (28 RT 6020.)

Mrs. Armstrong stated that at some point appellant moved out of her
house. In December, 1998, appellant was living with his girlfriend but
occasionally visited with her. He did not have a key to her premises. (28
RT 6021-6022.)

Regarding her relationship with her husband, Mrs. Armstrong
testified that they were separated for as long as they were together,
sometimes for just days and sometimes for a year or two. Extended
separations occurred several times. She made her husband leave their
residence because he was doing things she did not want the kids to see. (28
RT 6026-6028.)

Mré. Armstrong also testified that she and the children lived in
governmental housing, first in Pasadena, then Monrovia and then the
Carmelitas housing project. They eventually moved to a private home in
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Long Beach on Fashion Avenue. She didn’t remember exactly how old
appellant was when they made this move but remembered that appellant
attended elementary or middle school while living there. (28 RT 6031-
6039.) The family moved to an apartment on Redondo Avenue in Long
Beach when appellant was in high school. Appellant moved out of that
apartment when he was sixteen years old and irﬁpregnated his girlfriend.
(28 RT 6037.)

Mrs. Armstrong testified that when the family first moved to
Carmelitas, their apartment was clean and refurbished. There were rules that
no gang members were allowed in the apartment complex. She stated that
while she living in Carmelitas, she attended the Shining Light Church
where Miller Jackson was the head pastor. He knew the family better than
Reverend Clark, who was just an assistant pastor. During appellant’s
elementary and middle school years, appellant participated in as many
church related activities as Mrs. Armstrong could arrange for him. (28 RT
6041-6044.)

Mrs. Armstrong testified that she never personally “exposed”
appellant to drugs nor did she give him alcohol. She admitted to using
alcohol and drugs, but did not remember if she did so in front of her
children. (28 RT 6046.)

On cross examination, Mrs. Armstrong admitted that there were
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times that she drank heavily while appellant was present. (28 RT 6047-
6048.) She also indicated that there were times that home life would “be
hell.” (28 RT 6048.) Her husband James had a pretty severe drug problem
and he would steal money from the children. He would also steal food from
the house and presents from under the Christmas tree. She, herself, was
convicted of welfare fraud. (28 RT 6048-6049.)

James would attack her in front of the kids. Once he bit her very hard
and she was forced to flee the residence with the children. (28 RT 6049-
6050.) She also testified that when James was under the influence of drugs
he would take off his shirt, stand under the streetlight and “act crazy.” The
children observed this. (28 RT 6050.) Further, on one occasion, James took
Jamelle to a park but a stranger had to bring him home because James had
gotten high. (28 RT 6050-6051.) Mrs. Armstrong also stated that she
stopped going to church because James was accusing her of having affairs
with various church members. Mrs. Armstrong stated that her husband’s
conduct exacerbated her drinking problem. She stated that she tried to hide
her drug and alcohol abuse from the children but there were times when the
children were around when she was drunk or high. (28 RT 6052.)

When Mrs. Armstrong went to work, she left her children with either
a neighbor or a family member. There were times when she would come
home and find the children hanging out in a common apartment area with
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no one supervising them. (28 RT 6053.) In 1984, there was an incident in
which James kicked the front door in and beat her up in front of the
children. (28 RT 6054.)

Mrs. Armstrong testified that she thought that living at Carmelitas
would be an improvement for the family but it wasn’t. She and her family
were threatened and other kids would threaten her children on the way to
school. The project was claimed by drug dealers and gangs. Fights were
commonplace and Mrs. Armstrong could not always protect her children.
She would often call the police for assistance. She admitted she wasn’t a
very good role model for appellant. She tried to get him into a boy’s home
for his protection but failed to do so. (28 RT 6055-6056.) Further, there
were times she was accused of neglect by the police. (28 RT 6057.)

The prosecutor then called a series of police witnesses to discuss
appellant’s alleged gang affiliation. On March 7, 1996, Detective John
Bruce was working as a patrol officer in Long Beach, when he made
contact with appellant on the street. Appellant informed the officer that he
was a member of the Rolling 20's gang and that his “moniker” was “Big
Young Dog.” (28 RT 6156.)

On October 28, 1997, Long Beach Patrolwoman Janet Cooper also
made contact with appellant, who told her that he was a member of the
Rolling 20's gang and was called “Young Dog.” (28 RT 6158-6159.)
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In July, 1996, Officer Phil Candelaria, assigned to the juvenile
division of the Long Beach Police Department came into contact with
appellant. As a result of this contact, he called Pamela Armstrong, who as a
result of their conversation came to the police station to pick up appellant.
Appellant gave his name as “Young Dog.” (29 RT 6218-6219.)

Detective Victor Thrash has been a gang enforcement officer for the
Long Beach Police Department for the past ten years. (29 RT 6221.) The
witness stated that there are three major black gangs in Long Beach; the
Insane Crips, the Rolling 20's and the Mack Mafia. The Insane Crips and
Rolling 20's gangs would sometimes band together against the Bloods but
generally kept apart from one another. Lately, there had been friction
between the gangs. (29 RT 6221-6223.)

The witness also described the gang related term of “jumping in.”
He stated this is when an established member of a gang would instruct two
or three other members of the gang to initiated a new member by fighting
him. (29 RT 6224.) The witness also testified that these gangs are involved
in violent crime and committing such crimes increases one’s status in the
gang and the more violent the crime the better stating that doing a murder
“puts them pretty high up there.” He further stated that gangs have
organizational structures and to move up in the structure one must either
commit violent crimes or show loyalty. (29 RT 6225-6226.)
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Detective Thrash also testified that he reviewed the Long Beach
Police Department data based which revealed that appellant was a member
of the Rolling 20's gang. (29 RT 6226-6228.)

Tom Keleler, was a Long Beach Police Officer working South
Division Patrol. He made contact with Jamelle Armstrong who stated that
he was a member of the “terrorist street gang the Insane Crips.” (29 RT
6231.)°

ARGUMENTS

JURY SELECTION ARGUMENTS

L. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL
CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR UNDER THE SIXTH AND
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION BY EXCLUDING QUALIFIED POTENTIAL
JURORS FROM PARTICIPATION IN THE PENALTY PHASE

A. DISCUSSION OF THE LAW

The nature of the weighing process in the penalty phase has
essentially been distilled into CALJIC 8.88 which states to return a verdict
of death, each of the jurors, individually, must be persuaded that the

aggravating factors “are so substantial in comparison with the mitigating

3. It is unclear from the transcript whether this characterization of the gang was
made by appellant at the time of contact or whether it was a gratuitous remark by
Officer Keleler.
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that it warrants death...”

This basic maxim of California law leads to the question that is at
the center of appellant’s argument. On what basis may the trial court
exclude prospective jurors for cause on the grounds that their personal
beliefs are such that they cannot follow the law. The answer has evolved
from decisions of the United Stétes Supreme Court and this Court over
many years and clearly demonstrates that the trial court committed
reversible error in this case in excusing many qualified prospective jurors.

Over forty years ago, in Witherspoon v. lllinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510,
the United States Supreme Court made clear that the Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution prohibited the sovereign
from exclﬁding Jurors who said they were opposed to capital punishment
and/or who indicated that they had conscientious scruples against inflicting
it but could otherwise follow the law and impose it under the law. (Id. at
513.) The High Court expressly rejected the notion that such individuals
could be constitutionally excluded because they will frustrate the states
interest in the legitimate enforcefnent of its death penalty statute. (Id at 518-
519.) Witherspoon rejected the exclusion of potential jurors because of
personal opposition to or bias against the death penalty.

A man who opposes the death penalty, no less than one who

favors it, can make the discretionary judgment entrusted to
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him by the State and can thus obey the oath he takes as a
juror. But a jury from which all such men have been excluded
cannot perform the task demanded of it. (Witherspoon, supra,
at 519.)

Witherspoon then firmly corrected the trial court that uniformly
excluded those jurors with personal qualms against the death penalty

stating;

...when (the court) swept from the jury all who expressed
conscientious or religious scruples against capital punishment
and all who opposed it in principle, the State crossed the line
of neutrality. In its quest for a jury capable of imposing the
death penalty, the State produced a jury uncommonly willing
to condemn a man to die. (Witherspoon, supra, p.520,521.)

The High Court concluded

It is, of course, settled that a State may not entrust the
determination of whether a man is innocent or guilty to a
tribunal ‘organized to convict.” (Citations omitted) It requires
but a short step from that principle to hold, as we do today,
that a State may not entrust the determination of whether a
man should live or die to a tribunal organized to return a
verdict or death. Specifically, we hold that a sentence of
death cannot be carried out if the jury that imposed or
recommended it was chosen by excluding veniremen for
cause simply because they voiced general objections to the.
death penalty or expressed conscientious or religious scruples
against its infliction. No defendant can constitutionally be put
to death at the hands of a tribunal so selected. (Witherspoon,
supra, at 521-522.)

In Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412, the High Court reiterated
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that the State cannot exclude prospective jurors for cause “because their -
acknowledgment that the possible imposition of the death penalty would or
might affect their deliberations.” (Witt at 420-421.) The Court stated that
the fact that a prospective juror “would be more emotionally involved or
would view their task with ‘greater seriousness and gravity’ did not
demonstrate that the prospective jurors were unwilling or unable to follow
the law or obey their oaths.” (1bid.)

In addition, the Wit Court affirmatively adopted the standard
promulgated by Adams v. Texas (1980) 448 U.S. 38, 45 which stated that “a
Jjuror may not be challenged for cause based on his views about capital
punishment unless those VieWs would prevent or substantially impair the
performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and
his oath.” (Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at p. 420.)

Obviously, there may be instances where the responses of a
prospective juror as to his or her capacity to sit on a capital juror under the
above law contain ambiguities as to said juror’s true feelings about their
ability to do their duty. The United States Supreme Court and this Court
have recognized that the trial court is in the best position to resolve
ambiguities in juror responses and to this end can look to the individual
Jjuror’s demeanor and the totality of his voir dire to make the determination
as to whether he or she should be excused under the above law. (Darden v.
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Wainwright (1986) 477 U.S. 168, 178; Wainwright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S.
at 421.) In cases where after proper questioning, a particular juror’s state
of “substantial impairment” remains ambiguous, the trial judge must resolve
this ambiguity. As stated by this Court “[o]n appeal we will uphold the trial
court’s ruling if it is fairly supported by the record, accepting as binding the
trial court’s determination as to the prospective juror’s true state of mind
when the prospective juror has made statements that are conflicting or
ambiguous.” (People v. Cunningham (2001) 25 Cal.4th 926, 975 citing to
People v. Jenkins (2000) 22 Cal.4th 900, 987.)

However, as stated above, the ambiguity and conflict must exist
within the context of the juror’s responses to questioning. “Ambiguity”
does not refer to a potential juror who can follow the law in spite of a
personal bias against the death penalty. In People v. Stewart (2004) 33
Cal.4th 425, 446, this Court explained that “a prospective juror who simply
would find it ‘very difficult’ ever to impose the death penalty, is
entitled-indeed, duty bound-to sit on a capital jury, unless his or her
personal views actually would prevent or substantially impair the
performance of his or her duties as a juror.”

Stewart pointed out that “decisions of the United States Supreme
Court and of this Court make it clear that a prospective juror's personal
conscientious objection to the death penalty is not a sufficient basis for
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excluding that person from jury service in a capital case under Wizt [citation
omitted.] (Stewart, supra, 33 Cal. 4™ at 446.) This Court further cited to
Lockhart v. McCree (1986) 476 U.S. 162, 176, in which the Supreme Court
clearly stated that “[n]ot all those who oppose the death penalty are subject
to removal for cause in capital cases; those who firmly believe that the
death penalty is unjust may nevertheless serve as jurors in capital cases so
long as they clearly state that they are willing to temporarily set aside their
own beliefs in deference to the rule of law.” (Ibid.)

This Court’s holding is not of recent vintage. Twenty years ago in
People v. Kaurish (1990) 52 Cal.3d 648, 699, this Court made a similar
observation. In referring to the conditions under which a trial court can
excuse a “life-leaning” prospective juror for cause, Kaurish referred to both

Witt and Witherspoon stating;

Neither Witherspoon (citation omitted) nor Witt (citation
omitted) nor any of our cases, requires that jurors be
automatically excused if they merely express personal
opposition to the death penalty. The real question is whether
the jurors attitude will “ ‘prevent or substantially impair the
performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his
instructions and his oath.” ”

The Stewart Court cited to its decision in Kaurish, supra, 52 Cal.3d
648, recognizing that since California law “contemplates that jurors will

take into account their own values” in determining the penalty, the fact that
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such beliefs would make it very difficult to impose the death penalty is not
equivalent to the “substantial impairment” standard of Witt. (Stewart, supra,
33 Cal.4th at 447.)

Regarding the burden of proof for such an excusal, in People v.
Stewart (2004) 33 Cal.4th 425, 445, in citing to Witt, this Court stated that
the prosecution, as the moving party, bore the burden of demonstrating to

the trial court that this standard was satisfied as to each of the challenged
jurors.

Relying on the rulings of the United States Supreme Court, this
Court has held that a trial court’s error in excluding even a single juror who
was not “substantially impaired” pursuant to the above law requires
reversal of the death penalty, “without inquiry into prejudice.” (People v.
Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 454, citing to Gray v. Mississippi (1987) 481
U.S. 648, 659-667.) Hence, any such error mandates reversal of the death
judgment.

In this case, as set forth more fully below, appellant contends that

nine jurors were improperly recused for cause.
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B. THE DISMISSAL FOR CAUSE OF THE FOLLOWING
PROSPECTIVE JURORS WAS A VIOLATION OF THE ABOVE
LAW

1. PROSPECTIVE JUROR GERARD PFEFER -JUROR # 2644
a. Answers to Questionnaire (CT7371-7418.)

Prospective Juror Gerard Pfefer was a sixty-six year old Jewish
male. (26 RT 7374,7380.) After reading the summary of the case facts Mr.
Pfefer indicated that he could be fair in this particular case. (26 CT 7410, Q
177.) He also stated that the death penalty “was appropriate in some cases”
(Ibid. Q 178), indicating that he was neither strongly in favor of it or against
it. (Ibid., Q 179.) Mr. Pfefer also stated that at one point in his life he was
more strongly in favor of the death penalty, but his attitude was somewhat
affected by reports of verdicts overturned because of DNA evidence. (/bid.,
Q 181,182.) He further stated that he felt that the death penalty was applied
- “too randomly” but was not part of any group that advocated any position
on the penalty. (/bid., Q 183.)

| Mr. Pfefer stated that the death penalty should not be abolished, and

the state should have the death penalty as “in some cases it is called for.”

4. There was a short summary of the charges in this case placed immediately
before the questions in all of the questionnaires that related to the imposition
of the penalty. (See 26 CT 7409)
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(26 CT 7411, Q 186-187.) While he opined that life in prison without parole
is the “worse” penalty (“to be locked up for 20-30 years or more years
would be worse”) and he recognized that it is “difficult...to have someone’s
life in your hands,” he could “set aside religious, social, or philosophical
convictions and decide the penalty question based solely upon the
aggravating and mitigating factors presented to (him) about defendant’s
crime and his background and the law as given by the Jjudge.” Mr. Pfefer
stated that “all facts should be presented” before he would impose either of
the two penalties. (26 CT 7412-7413, Q198, 200, 203.)

In describing a hypothetical case in which death would be the
appropriate penalty, Mr. Pfefer stated it was where “someone has without
any thought taken another’s life to gain money, pfoperty or hunted down
another to kill them.” (26 CT 7414, Q 209.) Mr. Pfefer further stated that he
would not automatically vote for either penalty. (26 CT 741 5,Q214-217)
While indicating that he was “torn” between the two penalties and
recognized the seriousness of his responsibility, he believed that he could

do his duty. (26 CT 7417, Q 228, 231.)
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b. Oral Voir Dire’

As with all of the prospective jurors, the oral examination began
with the court. After advising Mr. Pfefer of the basic process of the
weighing of the aggravating and mitigating factors, the trial court informed
him that

...the weighing of the factors is not quantitative but qualitative
mm which the jury, in order to fix the penalty of death must be
persuaded that the bad factors are so substantial in comparison
to the good factors that death is warranted instead of life
without parole. (7 RT 1410.)

Mr. Pfefer indicated that he understood. (/bid.) The prospective juror
further stated that he would not automatically vote for either penalty. (7 RT
1411.)

In response to questioning from appellant’s counsel, Mr. Pfefer
indicated that he could evaluate all of the evidence to determine whether
appellant should be sentenced to death. (7 RT 1412.) The prospective juror
also stated he could consider “any aspect of defendant’s character or record,

or any circumstance that the defense offers as a basis for a sentence of less

than death.” (7 RT 1413.)

5. This Argument contains numerous references to and quotations from the voir
dire as it is necessary to demonstrate that this and other jurors were not
ambiguous in their responses.
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The prosecutor’s examination commenced with the prospective juror
restating that he was neither strongly in favor of nor strongly against the
death penalty. (7 RT 1415.) Pressed for the circumstances in which he could

impose a death sentence, the prospective juror replied,;

Well, T think when the case calls for it, as the judge has just
said in the penalty phase the mitigating circumstances or the
circumstances that would, you know, either defense or
prosecution would convince me that it called for the death
penalty, I’d have to listen to the different circumstances. And
hopetully keep an open mind, but don’t, I would not gointo a
case feeling immediately that, you know, either one way or
the other. (7 RT 1415.)

Not satisfied, the prosecutor again asked the prospective juror under
what circumstances he could impose the death penalty. (7 RT 1415-1416.)

Mr. Pfefer responded as follows:

Well, I guess if all the evidence pointed to that , I guess, the
something that calls for death, the circumstances that the
crime was committed, the various things that maybe
happened before, prior history, things like that, outweighs
whatever good this person has done, then I think I can do it.
(7 RT 1416.)

The following exchange between the prosecutor and the prospective

juror then occurred:

Question: You think you could do it?

Answer: Right,

Question: You are not sure

Answer: Well, I have never been in that place before.
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Question: Would you believe it that many of the people who
sat in that same chair have said the same thing.

Answer: I think it is a big responsibility.

Question: Absolutely. And do you find that it would be too
difficult for you?

Answer: [ don’t think so. I think T am willing to do it. As
part of society I have never had to do it. I could live without
doing it, but I feel I could do it. I feel I could do what I’m
called to do.

The prosecutor then turned to the prospective juror’s lack of absolute

certainty as to which of the two possible penalties is “worse.”

Question: .....on Question 227, it says “Which do you believe
is a more severe punishment.”? And you did not circle either
death or life without the possibility of parole and under the
explanation you put “I do not really know.”

Answer: No, I don’t know, because I have never been there
before. I have heard arguments both ways. I have heard
argument that keeping a person in prison for 50 years is a
terrible thing or putting them to death, here in the State of
California that takes anywhere from 15-20 years with all the
appeals and so on. I reject the argument about the financial
thing that people usually use. In fact, we discuss it in my
class but there are a lot of kids that always say it costs too
much money to keep a person in prison for that many years.

I do not think that’s got a point, to the decision the jury has to
make.

Question: Okay, but if you don’t know which is worse, life
without the possibility of parole or the death penalty, how
can you

Answer: Well, I think again, I go back to what takes place
during the trial, during the penalty phase. I would listen to all
the evidence, and I don’t know what the, you know what I
mean, what we are trying to prove by killing someone or
putting him in prison forever. Let me explain a little bit
further. Again, if the circumstances surrounding the crime
and all the factors leading up to it called for the death
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penalty, then I think, I could do that too. (7 RT 1418.)

The prosecutor then referred the prospective juror to Question 228,
in which he stated he was “torn between” the two penalties and asking if
this were the case “how will we know you are able to impose the
appropriate punishment.” (7 RT 1418-1419.) The following exchange then

occurred.

Juror: Well, I don’t know how you would know. I really
don’t. Again, you have to take my word that I would listen to
all the evidence and make the decision I think is right. And
since you are on the prosecution side, you would have to
convince me, not maybe convince me like I was resisting it,
but show me that this man deserves the death penalty in this
case.

Question: Okay. What is that I would have to do to convince
you of that?:

Answer: Possibly show me a history of cruelty and maybe
committing other crimes. I don’t know what you will offer in
evidence because I have never been on a trial like this. In
fact, I have never been on a trial. Showing something that he
has done this before.

Question: If I’m unable to show you that he has done
anything like this before are you going to vote for life
without possibility of parole.

Answer: I don’t know. There may be other evidence there,
one crime maybe because of the circumstances surrounding it
and all of the different charges, maybe that would be enough
to impose the death penalty. (7 RT 1419.)

After the prospective juror assured the prosecutor that he would not
require more than one victim to find for the death penalty (7 RT 1419-

1420), the prosecutor once again asked the prospective juror what he would
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need the prosecutor to present for the prospective juror to vote for the death

penalty. (7 RT 1420.)

Juror: I think what I just said about the circumstances, the
type of crime that it was. We were read the charges. And it
sounds like it may have been a cruel thing to do, but again,
until I hear the evidence, I don’t know. I don’t know
anything about the case itself.

Question: Are you going to require me to prove all the
charges that were listed in order to vote for the death penalty.
Answer: Well, ’'m not sure. I think the judge said there were
six charges that led to the special circumstances. I am not
sure. Maybe only one is bad enough. We will probably find
out, the judge or the attorneys will tell us that it only takes one
of the circumstances to require the death penalty. 7 RT 1420-
1421.)

Mr. Pfefer declined to say that for certain special circumstances
standing alone he could not impose the death penalty. (RT1421-22.) The
prosecutor endeavored to put words in the prospective juror’s mouth, asking
“isn’t it true that you believe that (life) would the better punishment.” The

prospective juror again denied holding this view.

Juror: I do not think the better punishment. I think it could be
used. I know we are one of the few countries in the world that
still uses the death penalty. A lot of industrialized countries
feel like life imprison (sic) is good enough punishment for
somebody.

Question: Do you feel the same way?

Answer: No, I go back to thinking that the circumstances
surrounding the crime call for the death penalty.

Question: What circumstances can you think of call for the
death penalty?

51



Answer: Maybe in case like this case, possibly, the charge the
way the charges were read with torture and things like that
rape with using the foreign object, the cruelty of the crime,
possibly assuming that all this took place, and the defendant
committed these crimes, then it could call for the death
penalty. (7 RT 1423.)

The prosecutor then asked Mr. Pfefer to state that he believed the
death penalty to be the “worse” penalty. (7 RT 1424.) However, the
prospective juror clearly that he only thought that it “might be,” stating that
when he said that it might be in the questionnaire he was thinking of his
own perspective. (Ibid.)

Ignoring Mr. Pfefer’s thoughtful reply, the prosecutor pressed the
prospective juror to agree that he could not say whether he could impose
the death penalty;

Question: And since you don’t know how you feel about the

death penalty, how are you able to determine whether or not

your could impose the death penalty, if the circumstances
warrant it?

Answer: If the circumstances warrant it, I would be able to
impose it. (7 RT 1424.)

The prosecutor then told the prospective juror that up to this point he
had not been able to tell her what circumstances might warrant a death
sentence when in fact the prospective juror had answered this question
several times before. (7 RT 1425.) The prosecutor then asked the
prospective juror if he was the prosecutor on this case, would the
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prospective juror want himself on the jury. Mr. Pfefer stated he would. In
response, the following exchange occurred;
Question: Even though in your frame of mind you are torn
between life without the possibility of parole and between the
death penalty.
Answer: No, I think in my frame of mind, I'm willing to listen
to all the circumstances from both sides and make up my

mind then about whether to impose the death penalty on
someone or life in prison. (7 RT 1425.)

After the prosecutor gave Mr. Pfefer a synopsis of the weighing
process and how a verdict is reached, she yet again asked whether he could
follow the law and reach a verdict on the penalty. The answer was an
unequivocal “Could I? Yes, yes.” (7 RT 1427.)

In spite of multiple unambiguous statements from Mr. Pfefer that he
could follow the court’s instructions, the prosecutor was unremitting in
trying to force some sort of ambiguous statement from the prospective
juror.

Question: Okay. Do you have an question in your mind? Do
you have a question. (7 T 1427.)

Mr. Pfefer once again made it perfectly clear that he can perform his
duties under the law.

Answer: Well, I was thinking of the aggravating and

mitigating and that’s what I think [ have been saying. That if

L, in my mind, feel that the aggravating circumstances
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outweigh or are more than the mitigating circumstances then,
yes, I could impose the penalty. (7 RT 1428.)

Question (by Prosecutor): Could you come back into this
courtroom and tell the defendant you are going to kill him?
Can you look him in the eye and say “I'm going to kill you.”
Answer: Well. I don’t think so, I’'m not killing him, but the
State is killing him.

Question: But by coming back with a verdict of death, you are
going to kill him.

Answer: Well, I could say it if the circumstances surrounding
the crime, yes, that the crime deserves that punishment.
Question: I’m going to hold you to that.

Answer: That’s why I’m here. (7 RT 1428.)

The prosecutor then posed a hypothetical question in which one man
held a victim while the other beat him,® and asked if Mr. Pfefer believed
that the two men were “equally guilty”; the prospective juror said he did.
(7 RT 1428.) In response to the prosecutor’s additional questioning, Mr.
Pfefer stated that there was “no doubt” in his mind that he could impose the
death penalty on the person holding the hypothetical victim, if that victim
died. (7 RT 1428-1429.)

Although, this prospective juror had enunciated numerous times
that he understood the process and could find for death should the
circumstances warrant, the prosecutor once again asked “[s]o what are your

ideas about the use of the death penalty?” (7 RT 1429.)

6. This hypothetical was employed by the prosecutor in the individual voir dire of
the jurors improperly excluded by the court . It will henceforth be referred to as
the “assault” hypothetical.

54



Mr. Pfefer stated that the death penalty was not a deterrent because
it wasn’t consistently enforced. (7 RT 1429-143 0.) The prosecutor seized
upon this rather self-evident statement, and accused the prospective juror
of not being able to impose the death penalty because of his feeling about
deterrence. (7 RT 1430.) The prospective juror responded, “[w]ell, I don’t
think that just because my idea is that death penalty is not a deterrent it
doesn’t keep me from imposing the death penalty.” (7 RT 1430.)’

The prosecutor followed up with yet another misleading,
provocative question: “But that’s what you said here “[1]f the facts do not
meet my ideas of the death penalty then I will not impose it.”

Mr. Pfefer rejected this interpretation, stating “[w]hat I said if the
circumstances surrounding the crime call for the death penalty, I can make
that decision. (7 RT 1431.)

Unable to convince Mr.'Pfefer that he was conflicted regarding the
imposition of the death penalty, the prosecutor referred to a question on the
questionnaire.

Question: Okay, you wrote here on that same question where

it days “describe the circumstances that would be an

appropriate case to impose life without possibility of parole “
and you put “Someone who may have been with others in

7. Deterrence is not, of course, the only justification offered for capital
punishment.
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murder.” So are you saying if someone was just an
accomplice that they deserve life without possibility of parole
without the death penalty?”

Answer: Well to go back to your example one person holding
someone and the other person doing whatever and/or killing
than person, yes, I think that they are equally guilty.
Question: But my question...here in the questionnaire you
indicated that the circumstances that would be appropriate for
life without the possibility of parole is someone who may
have been with others in the murder.

Answer: Right, maybe they didn’t take place, maybe they
were with them, maybe they were driving in the car, maybe -
they were standing over someplace and watching the crime
take place.. They were there, maybe you could convict then
of being an accomplice and so on and so forth, maybe they
don’t deserve the death penalty. (7 RT 1432.)

The prosecutor then proffered yet another hypothetical to Mr.
Pfefer. This one consisted of three people involved in a bank robbery; one
goes into the bank to rob it, one stands at the door as a look-out and one
waits in the car. The person in the bank kills somebody while he was in
there.® (7 RT 1432.)

In response to the prosecutor’s questioning by saying he thought that
all were equally guilty (7 RT 1432) the following exchange then occurred:

Question: And would you be able to impose the death penalty

on the person in the car, if the aggravating circumstances

substantially outweigh the mitigating circumstances.
Answer: Well, when you put it, if it outweighs.

8. This hypothetical was employed by the prosecutor in the individual voir dire of
the jurors improperly excluded by the court . It will henceforth be referred to as
the “bank robbery” hypothetical.
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Question: That is the only situation in which you can impose

the death penalty.?

Answer: Right

The prosecutor then continued with this scenario which had
absolutely nothing to do with the facts of this case, pressing Mr. Pfefer to
state in that hypothetical, he would impose the death sentence. The
prospective juror résponded, “I probably wouldn’t impose the death
penalty.” (7 RT 1433.)

The prosecutor again returned to the prospective juror’s views that
life in prison might be worse and in spite of Mr. Pfefer’s repeated
assurances that his opinion would not affect his obedience to the law, she
again challenged him. To this, an obviously frustrated Mr. Pfefer stated, “I
dlon’t, know how many times I can say I would go back to the
circumstances of the crime and whatever. I don’t think, I would not go into
this case saying I’'m not going to impose thc death penalty, which, I think,
is what you are asking me.

- (7TRT 1433))

Rejecting the prospective juror’s honest and reasonable ansWer, the
prosecutor then instituted the following exchange.

Question: ... I’m asking if you would impose what you think

is .the worse possible punishment for the worse possible

crime.

Answer: What I think is the worse possible punishment, I
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don’t think has anything to do with it. It depends on the case.

Question: You believe that the worse possible punishment can

be imprisonment for life.
Answer: For me, I am not talking about someone else. (7 RT

1433-1434.)

The prosecutor then engaged in what can only be described as an
attempt to confuse the prospective juror, trying to convince Mr Pfefer, in
spite of all that he said, that he could only impose life in prison. (7 RT
1434-1435.) The prosecutor then confronted the him with the “fact” that
the he didn’t know how he “felt” about the death penalty. The prospective
Juror stated, “Well, I really don’t know what I’m supposed feel about the
death penalty...that’s all I can say. I don’t know how I feel about the death
penalty.” (7 RT 1435-1436.)

In response to defense counsel’s follow up questions, the
prospective juror again made it crystal clear that he would be fair and
objective, listen to the court’s instructions, and be able to impose the death
pehalty in the event the aggravating circumstances substantially

outweighed the mitigating. (7 RT1436-1437.)

c. Prosecutor’s Challenge and Court’s Ruling

The defense passed this prospective juror for cause. (7 RT 1438.)

The prosecutor challenged on the following grounds:

Ms. Locke-Noble: He has indicated he doesn’t know how he
feels about the death penalty. There is no way we can
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determine whether or not he is for against or whether or not
he will impose the death penalty. He says he will impose the
death penalty, but on the other hand he says he feels that life
without the possibility of parole is a replacement for the death
penalty. He also believes that the death penalty is not a
deterrent and yet if the facts don’t meet his idea of the use of
the death penalty, then he feels that life without the possibility
of parole is what he is going to use. He is torn between life
without the possibility of parole and the death penalty and on
all of the special circumstances, he indicated he thought so,
probably, he was reluctant, possibly. He couldn’t give me
any circumstances in which he would impose the death
penalty, not even to say for example, mass murder, 911. He
couldn’t come up with anything. He doesn’t know how he
feels about it. (7 RT 1438.)

When asked to respond, defense counsel stated, “Your Honor, I
believe the key to this inquiry is his statement based upon the charges read,
this would call for death. And it’s quite fact specific this case, based on the
charges, is such a case that would call for death.” (7 RT 1438.)

The trial court granted the challenge, stating the following;

People’s challenge for cause granted. I’ll explain to you why.
With respect to the state of mind under People v. Cox and
Bradford, he teaches trial advocacy. He wants to serve on this
Jury, sort of like his laboratory to be able to serve. He
indicates that most civilized industrial countries there is no
death penalty. There is only life without parole and they seem
to be functioning well. If it does meet his ideas of the death
that he is not going to impose the death penalty of the (sic)
And he indicates the death penalty does not deter. If it does
not occur neither idead (sic) of logic ipso facto, you could
infer that he could not impose, but that’s the inference that has
to be drawn based on the state of mind. He also indicated
there is one other thing, when asked about the special
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circumstances, under which special circumstances would he
consider as a potential for the death penalty. He is ...he
waivers each one of them. Robbery, “I think I could,” Kidnap
for rape, same answer, “I think I could,” rape with a stake,
“probably but,” and then he made a qualifier kidnaping for
torture, probably there is not one. He said, yes, this is a
special circumstance, I could consider as a factor. And we are
talking about factor a issue here. He believes that life without
1s a replacement for the death penalty, I think intellectual. It’s
an intellectual thinking on his part because we have had quite
a few jurors, pretty smart, and the way they answer the
questions [ consider to be some kind of intellectual sophistry.
In this particular case, based even on the aider and abettor
theory, he indicates he could not, based on the aider and
abettor theory, the person driving the car with the...if the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweigh the
mitigating circumstances, he indicates that he could not
impose the death penalty. He flat out said he could not. And
if the theory of the People in this case is an aider and abettor
theory that would preclude consideration of a potential
penalty. Therefore based upon Wainwright versus Witt, and
the California case that follow after this, in this court’s view,
based upon his state of mind, and the way he answers
questions, he is a substantially impaired person of his duties,
the court-and I’'m going to grant the cause.

d. Application of the Law to the Challenge
The voir dire of Prospective Juror Pfefer represented a complete
breakdown in the process set up by the United States Supreme Court to
assure a capital defendant a fair penalty phase jury. The judge
misunderstood the law and failed to listen to the responses of the

prospective juror. The prosecutor’s questioning was driven by her zeal to

purge this obviously thoughtful, intelligent and independently-minded man
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from the jury. The only person involved that seemed to have any inkling of
what constituted a properly qualified juror in the penalty phase was Mr.
Pfefer. Mr. Pfefer instinctively understood that it was irrelevant how he felt
about deterrence or how /e felt about the meaning of the death penalty to
him in his personal life, or how /e felt about giving the death penalty to an
imaginary person, sitting in an imaginary car, in the vicinity of an
imaginary bank; a scenario that was concocted only to confuse the
prospective jurors.

Mr. Pfefer sensed what this Court knows. The only relevance of a
juror’s personal beliefs is whether they substantially impair his ability to
follow the law. (Witt, supra.) As will be discussed below, it is highly
questionable if Mr. Pfefer ever stated or inferred any personal views in
opposition to the imposition of the death penalty, at all. He repeated over
and over again that his respect for the law was such that he could follow it
to the letter.

The reasons for the court’s granting the challenge were factually
incorrect. It is almost as if the court was paying no attention, whatsoever,
to what the prospective juror said. Mr. Pfefer never said that he could not
impose the death penalty in an aider and abettor situation. He certainly
never suggested that the life penalty should replace the death penalty
regardless of the circumstances. To the contrary, he stated repeatedly that
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the appropriate penalty depends on the circumstances of the case.

As stated in Section B 1 a of this Argument, there was absolutely
nothing in the questionnaire that even suggested that Mr. Pfefer did not
qualify under the law to sit on this jury. In fact he specifically stated that
he could “set aside religious, social or philosophical convictions and decide
the penalty question based solely upon the aggravating and mitigating
factors presented to (him) about defendant’s crime and his background and
the law as given by the Judge.” (26 CT 7412-7413, Q 200.) When asked for
a hypothetical case in which he would impose the death penalty, he stated it
was where “someone has without any thought taken another’s life to gain
money, property or hunted down another to kill him.” (26 CT 7414; Q
209.) Such a scenario is very similar to the facts of this case.

The oral voir dire by the prosecutor was hostile and provocative. It
was clearly designed to intimidate the prospective juror into saying
something that the prosecutor could use to dismiss this man from the case.
She repeated the same questions multiple times, hectoring the prospective
Juror that his answers were inconsistent when clearly they were not.

However, Mr. Pfefer was not intimidated. He would not bow to the
prosecutor’s attack on his unambiguous assertions that he could follow the
law in imposing the penalty. The prosecutor’s challenge for cause was
based on falsehoods and complete mischaracterization of what Mr. Pfefer
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said. The claim that there was no way to determine whether the prospective
juror would vote for deafh because he allegedly did not know how he
“feels” about the death penalty is specious. This man made it clear on
occasion after occasion that he believed that the death penalty was
appropriate in certain cases, including situations where a defendant was
charged as an aider and abettor. He stated that he understood the way the
process worked and was willing to subjugate his personal beliefs to it.

Further, the prosecutor’s argument that the prospective juror could
not serve because he did not feel that the death penalty was a deterrent has
no legal basis. Nowhere in the law is there any requirement that a juror
must be a zealous advocate of the death penalty before he can sit on a
capital case. Mr. Pfefer’s comments about deterrence were based upon an
accurate observation of the state of affairs in California; the death penalty
takes so long to be executed that it is not a credible deterrent to would be
murderers. However, the prospective juror also stated that this would not
prevent him from following the law and servings on this case.

The prosecutor’s clafm that the Mr. Pfefer could “not come up with”
any scenarios in which he would vote for the death penalty is nothing less
than an outright prevarication. The prospective juror gave several scenarios
on the type of case in which he could impose the death penalty, including a
scenario very similar to this case. (7RT 1428-1423.)
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In granting the prosecutor’s challenge, the trial court speculated
without any factual basis that the prospective juror was a teacher who
fancied himself some sort of social scientist whose motivation for sitting on
this jury was to use it as a “laboratory” and subvert the process. The court
characterized Mr. Pfeffer as an “intellectual” and like other “intellectual”
prospective jurors he practices “some kind of intellectual sophistry.” (7 RT
1440.) It was on this completely baseless and inexplicable characterization
of Mr. Pfefer, that the trial court analyzed the chailenge.

The trial court was as inaccurate as the prosecutor in its
characterization of Mr. Pfefer;s answers. Contrary to the court’s statement,
Mr. Pfefer did not “waiver” in what he said about the death penalty. He
repeatedly refused to commit himself to as penalty before he heard all of
the facts. However, he said that he would listen to all the facts and apply
the law as the court gave it.

The court further cited to the prospective juror’s answers regarding
whether he could execute a hypothetical wheelman in a robbery, stating
that the prospective juror indicated he could not, and that since the States
case was based on an aiding and abetting theory, the prospective juror was
unfit to serve.

In fact, Mr. Pfefer plainly stated that he could impose the
punishment on the hypothetical driver “if the circumstances surrounding

64



the crime...deserves the punishment.” (7 RT 1428.) The prosecutor
accepted this-answer stating to the prospective juror “I am going to hold
you to that,” to which Mr. Pfefer answered “[t]hat’s why I am here.” (Ibid.)
However, in spite of this rare concession by the prosecutor, and the actual
answers provided by the prospective juror, Mr. Pfeffer was disqualified.

As stated many times by this Court, the real question that must be
answered through the use of voir dire in 2 capital case is “whether the
juror’s views about capital punishment would prevent or impair the juror’s
ability to return a verdict of death in the case before the juror. ” (emphasis
added) (People v. Ochoa (2001) 26 Cal.4th 398, 431 citing to People v.
Bradford (1997) 15 Cal.4th, 1 129, 1318; People v. Hill (1992) 3 Cal 4th
959,1003; see also People v. Heard (2003) 31 Cal 4th 946, 958.)

The prosecutor’s repeated use of this bank robbery hypothetical
throughout the voir dire clearly was not intended to answer this question, as
it had only the most peripheral connection to this case. While the facts of
appellant’s trial invoked an aiding and abetting instruction, unlike the
prosecutor’s hypothetical, they involved an allegations of direct, hands on,
violent conduct by appellant. In the simplistic, misleading hypothetical
given by the prosecutor, the “person in the car” had no direct part in any of
the activify leading up to the killing. He was in a remote location,
presumably knew nothing of any plan to harm anyone, never saw the
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victim, did nothing to aid in the killing. This hypothetical criminal is what
was once referred to as a “wheelman.” The prosecutor chose this example
because the imposition of the death penalty on such an uninvolved
criminal, while legally possible, would give pause to most citizens. This
hypothetical person’s relative lack of involvement is factually so removed
from the facts of the instant case that the use of this hypothetical is useless
in predicting a juror’s attitudes in this case.

However, there is yet another problem with the use of such a
hypothetical. Not only is the “wheelman™ hypothetical factually irrelevant
to this case, it was legally defective because it was incomplete and
impossible to answer. The felony-murder special circumstance is
applicable to a defendant who is not the actual killer, only if the defendant
acted with the “intent to kill” or “with reckless indifference to human life
and as a major participant, aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces,
solicits, requests, or assists in the commission of [one of the eleven
enumerated felonies].” (California Penal Code section 190.2, subd. (d);

People v. Estrada (1995) 11 Cal.4th 568, 572.)

The portion of the statutory language of section 190.2(d) at
issue here derives verbatim from the United States Supreme
Court's decision in Tison v. Arizona (1987) 481 U.S. 137, 107
S.Ct. 1676, 95 L.Ed.2d 127 (hereafter Tison ). In T ison, the
court held that the Eighth Amendment does not prohibit as
disproportionate the imposition of the death penalty on a
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defendant convicted of first degree felony murder who was a

“major participant” in the underlying felony, and whose

mental state is one of “reckless indifference to human

life.”[citation omitted] (People v. Estrada, supra, 11 Cal.4th

at 575.)

Therefore, even if Mr. Pfefer had personal scruples against imposing
the death penalty upon the hypothetical driver who had no suspicion that
anyone’s life many be in danger’, his hesitancy would find very good
company in Justice O’Connor who wrote for the Tison majority.

Obviously, it was not in the prosecutor’s interest to fully explain the
legal underpinnings of sentencing an aider and abettor to death. Nor did the
trial court feel it necessary to correct, or forbid, this factually and legally
flawed hypothetical. Perhaps it was Mr. Pfefer’s “intellectual” character
that instinctively sensed that there was something wrong with the
prosecutor’s simplistic and misleading hypotheticals. This prospective juror
was wrongfully dismissed on the basis of a prosecutorial misstatement that
the he was nof able to sentence to death a hypothetical defendant, in a
completely unrelated fact scenario, in a situation where the United States
Supreme Court itself might well preclude such a sentence.

Appellant has not found any case that directly discusses the

prosecutor’s use of irrelevant hypotheticals to challenge an otherwise Wit

9. As stated in this Argument, Mr. Pfefer plainly stated that he could impose the
death penalty on such an imaginary person.
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qualified juror. However, much can be learned People v. Butler (2009) 46
Cal.4th 847, which discussed how much a prospective juror should be told
about the facts of the case in an effort to ascertain whether said juror’s
personal beliefs create a substantial impairment under Witt. The Butler
Court stated that while questions about the specific facts of the case that
invite prejudgment or educated the jury as to the facts of the case should be
avoided. (Butler, supra, at p- 859), the trial court “must probe prospective
Jjuror’s death penalty views to the general facts of the case.” (Butler, Supra,
at p. 860 citing to People v. Earp (1999) 20 Cal.4th 826, 853.)

Reconciling these competing principles dictates that

death-qualification voir dire must avoid two extremes. On the

one hand, it must not be so abstract that it fails to identify

those jurors whose death penalty views would prevent or

substantially impair the performance of their duties in the case

being tried. On the other hand, it must not be so specific that

it requires the prospective jurors to prejudge the penalty issue

based on a summary of the mitigating and aggravating

evidence likely to be presented. [Citation omitted] In

deciding where to strike the balance in a particular case, trial

courts have considerable discretion. [Citations.] ; People v.

Cash, supra, 28 Cal.4th 703, 721-722; People v. Zambrano,

supra, 41 Cal.4th at 1120-1121: see also People v. Carasi

(2008) 44 Cal.4th 1263, 1285-1287.)

This Court did make it clear that the decision as to whether a juror
can sit as a juror on death cases must be based upon the general facts of the
case in question. In the instant case, the prosecutor urged the court to make

its decision on the facts of some hypothetical situation that had nothing to
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do with this case. The trial court erroneously obliged, ignoring all of the
prospective juror’s unambiguous answers indicating his qualification to
serve.

Along these same lines, in People v. Cash (2002) 28 Cal.4th 703,
720, this Court stated that regarding Wit challenges “a challenge for cause
may be based upon a juror’s response when informed of facts or
circumstances likely to be present in the case being tried.” The Court’s
logié was that this sort of questioning enables the trial courts to ascertain if
the juror “harbors bias” as to some fact or circumstance that would cause
them not to follow the penalty phase instructions.(/bid.)

This prospective juror unambiguously and repeatedly stated that he
could apply the law as set forth by the court as to the imposition of the
penalty. If the court felt that there was any ambiguity —the record shows
there was not- it was its affirmative duty to clear up any misunderstanding
by making appropriate inquiry using the only approved standard: whether
this prospective juror could set aside any personal beliefs and could carry
out his duty without “substantial impairment.” (See People v. Martinez
(2009) 47 Cal. 4™ 399, 425-427.) As stated by the High Court in Morgan v.
Illinois;

The adequacy of voir dire is not easily the subject of
appellate review (citation omitted) but we have not hesitated,
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particularly in capital cases, to find that certain inquiries

must be made to effectuate constitutional protections.

[Citations omitted.] (Morgan v. Illinois (1992) 504 U.S.719,

730.)

This trial court did not make such inquiry. It simply ratified the legally
and factually flawed rationale of the prosecutor by improperly dismissing
Mr. Pfefer.

A representative survey of this Court’s cases affirming the dismissal
of prospective jurors on Witherspoon/Witt grounds reveals nothing that
even resembles what occurred in this case. In People v. Ochoa, supra, 26
Cal.4th at 428-430, the answers to the controlling Witt question by the
Jurors that were properly excluded were that the death penalty was “state
sanctioned murder,” that the juror “would never be able to vote for the
death penalty,” and that the prospective juror would never be able to
impose the death penalty regardless of the evidence.

In People v. Pinholster (1992) 1 Cal.4th 865, 916, which involved a
felony-murder charge, the dismissed prospective Jjuror made it
“unequivocally”clear that her opinions about the death penalty would
effect her vote at the guilt phase. She further stated that she could not vote
for death regardiess of the circumstances. In People v. Bradford (1997) 15

Cal.4th 1229, 1319, the dismissed prospective Juror said it was “very

unlikely” that she could ever vote for the death penalty and that the only
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crime in which she could do so would be one involving the death of a child
or if defendant was a commandant of 3 concentration camp.

In People v. Hill (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1004, 1003, the dismissed
prospective juror, after a good deal of thought, eventually told the court
that he could not vote for the death penalty. In People v. Viscotti (1992) 2
Cal. 4th 1, 45, the dismissed prospective juror was so against the death
penalty he stated that he could not even impose it on Adolph Hitler.

All of these examples are cases in which the prospective jurors in
question expressed an “unalterable preference” against the death penalty.
(Morgan v. Illinois, supra, 504 U.S. at 734-736.) None of the first eight
dismissed jurors in this Argument gave answers remotely like those in the
above. None of them had any fundamental personal reservations against
the death penalty.

Regarding the burden of proof for such an excusal, in People v.
Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 445 , in citing to Wirt, this Court stated;

Before granting a challenge for cause concerning a
prospective juror, over the objection of another party, a trial
court must have sufficient information regarding the
prospective juror's state of mind to permit a reliable
determination as to whether the Jjuror's views would “prevent
or substantially impair” the performance of his or her duties
(as defined by the court's instructions and the juror's oath
(citations omitted)...The prosecution, as the moving party,
bore the burden of demonstrating to the trial court that this

standard was satisfied as to each of the challenged jurors.
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The prosecutor did not even come close to sustaining her burden.

Mr. Pfefer was improperly excused from the jury panel. There was
absolutely ndthing in his voir dire that could justify a trial court excusing
him from service on a capital jury according to the law stated above.
According to the highest court in the land, no further prejudice need be
shown. (Gray v. Mississippi, supra, 481 U.S. at 659-667.) The death

judgment must be vacated.

2. PROSPECTIVE JUROR LEONARDO BIJELIC- #6179

a. Questionnaire Responses

Mr. Bijelic was a fifty-four year old man was born and raised in
Croatia, who moved to California when he was twenty-three years old. (53
CT 15433, 15435.) Nothing in the answers on his questionnaire hinted at
any Witt-disqualifying answers. When asked his general feelings about the
death penalty he answered “I am for it.” (53 CT 15469, Q 178.) He
further stated that the death penalty is used “too seldom.” (Ibid, Q 183.)
He further stated that “[i]f very violent crime is comited (sic) death penalty
is justified.” (53 CT15470, Q 186.) He further stated that the imposition of
the death penalty depended on the facts. (53 CT 15471, Q 196.)

Mr. Bijelic also stated that he had no personal beliefs that would
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make it difficult for him to impose the death penalty and he would be able
to impose it based on the facts and the law that the judge would give. (53
CT 15471-15472, Q 199-200.) He expressed concern that a person who
received a sentence of life without parole might eventually be freed. (53
CT 15473, Q 208.) Mr. Bijelic stated he would not automatically vote for
either penalty. (53 CT 15474, Q 215-218.) He also indicated that death is
the worse of the two possible penalties. (53 CT 15476, Q 227.)

b. Oral Voir Dire

In response to the trial court’s standard introductory questioning,
Mr. Bijelic made clear that he understood the legal process involved in the
Jury’s determination of the penalty and would not automatically vote for
either penalty. (11 RT 2108-211 1.)

Further, in response to the questioning by appellant’s counsel, Mr.
Bijelic stated that he did not favor one penalty over the other. He also said
he had an open mind to both penalties and could follow the law as
explained by the judge. (11 RT 2111-21 15.)

After listening to the prosecutor’s explanation of the weighing
process, Mr. Bijelic stated that he could impose the death penalty if the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the mitigating. (11 RT
2115-2117.) The prosecutor then referred the prospective juror to his
answer on questionnaire question 191, in which he wrote that the death
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penalty should be imposed for cases that were “premeditated and brutal.”
(11 RT 2118.) In order to ascertain what the prospective juror meant by
this answer the prosecutor gave the following hypothetical and received

the following answer.

Question: Someone is walking down the street. He has gun
with him. He is not planning on doing anything. He is just
walking down the street. He goes by a liquor store. It's

got big glass window. He looks inside and sees the cash
drawer open. It's piled high with cash. He wants that

cash. He has not planned anything. He goes inside the
liquor store. He takes the cash out of the drawer, and he
kills the cashier, in your mind, is that sufficient to impose the
death penalty...would that be sufficient in your mind to
impose the death penalty, if the aggravating circumstances
substantially outweigh the mitigating circumstances....
Answer: If aggravating factors substantially outweigh the
good ones, yes, I would be able to.

Question: Even though --

Answer: Even if it's not like I said, premeditated. (11 RT
2118-2119.)

In response to the prosecutor’s additional questions, Mr. Bijelic
stated that even though he was concerned that the law might change and life
without parole prisoners may be released, he could vote for the life penalty
where warranted. (11 RT 2119.)

When queried as to what types of crimes would warrant life without

parole, the prospective juror stated “self-defense and sickness.” (11 RT

2119.) The prospective juror described “sickness” as a situation where a
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defendant was an adult but had a mind like a five or six year old. (11 RT
2120.) Mr. Bijelic also stated that intoxication did not excuse a person’s
criminal actions. (11 RT 2121-2122.)

The prosecutor then posed the “assault” hypothetical to the
prospective juror. (11 RT 2123.) Mr. Bijelic told the prosecutor he would be
able to impose the death penalty on the person who was doing the beating
but the penalty as to the holder would largely depend on his intent. (11 RT
2123-2124.) |

In response to the robbery hypothetical, the prospective juror stated
all three participants were not necessarily equally guilty. However, if the
hypothetical defendant in the car knew that the defendant was carrying a
gun and might possibly kill the victim, he could impose the death penalty.
(11 RT 2124-2127.)

¢. Prosecutor’s Challenge and Court’s Holding

Appellant passed this prospective juror for cause, but the prosecutor
challenged on the ground that Mr. Bejelic could not impose the death
penalty in aiding and abetting cases.

Yes, your honor, I don't believe this juror can apply the law with

regards to aiding and abetting. He is the only juror we have

had so far that has had the opposite response of the two

hypotheticals that I have given.

The Court: And a very good response and very interesting

one. This is a very smart juror.
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Ms. Locke-Noble: That's the basis of my challenge for
cause.(11 RT 2127.)

The discussion continued:

The Court: Ms. Locke-Noble is saying as a matter of law the
person cannot impose based on aiding and abetting
circumstances that, that is a proper basis for cause and your
response is?

Mr. Patton: In the circumstances proposed by the people in
terms of the robbery situation, he indicated he would impose
death. :
The Court: That's assuming that there has a weapon, but if
there is no weapon used, no gun, because of the issue of a gun
there is no gun used. I usually call guns weapons, if there is
no gun use, he cannot impose even if it is aiding and abetting
Mr. Patton: I don't mean to bring this up again, is the court
saying my continuing objection, we are pre-judging what the
evidence would show.

The Court: I have no evidence. I don't know what the
evidence is. Every case is unique. Itry every case with a
clean slate. I don't pre-judge anything, but if the case law,
certain circumstances, aiding and abetting. In this case, it
appears that on the aiding and abetting theory, he could not
impose the death penalty. If that is the theory, that the people
have. Idon't know if it is, but that's the direction wouldn't
they be at a disadvantage because at the get-go because we
can't have a person or that person would be substantially
impaired from performing his duties with the oath and in
accordance with oath and instructions.

Mr. Patton: I don't think so, your honor, submitted.

The Court: Ms. Locke-Noble?

Ms. Locke-Noble: Submitted. (11 RT 2127-2129.)

In granting the challenge the court stated “[t]he challenge for
cause is granted. You know, I'm reading from Ms. Locke-Noble's

stance if one of the jurors on the aiding and abetting theory, that the
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aiding and abetting theory is none (sic) weapon or none (sic) gun
aiding and abetting theory and therefore that seems to be the
predominate hypothetical that this court will be considering.” a(11
RT 2129.)
d. Application of the Law to the Challenge

The removal of this prospective juror follows the pattern previously
established by the prosecutor and the court. The prosecutor again employed
legally incorrect and factually irrelevant hypotheticals to remove a
prospective juror, the totality of whose voir dire clearly reveals a person
qualified to sit on a capital jury. Again, the court’s granting of the challenge
has nothing to do with Witt/Witherspoon and their progeny, but rather
resulted from a misreading of answers to hypotheticals.

From the record, it appears, like Mr. Pfefer, this prospective juror
was the only person involved in his voir dire process that fully understood
the law. The “assault” hypothetical was even more legally flawed and
deceptive as the “robbery” hypothetical. As stated by this Court several
times;

To prove that a defendant isl an accomplice ... the prosecution

must show that the defendant acted ‘with knowledge of the

criminal purpose of the perpetrator and with an intent or

purpose either of committing, or of encouraging or facilitating

commission of, the offense.’ [citations omitted] When the

offense charged is a specific intent crime, the accomplice
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must “share the specific intent of the perpetrator’ this occurs

when the accomplice ‘knows the full extent of the

perpetrator's criminal purpose and gives aid or encouragement

with the intent or purpose of facilitating the perpetrator's

commission of the crime.” (Ibid.)” [Citations omitted] What

this means here, when the charged offense and the intended

offense-murder or attempted murder-are the same, i.e., when

guilt does not depend on the natural and probable

consequences doctrine, is that the aider and abettor must

know and share the murderous intent of the actual perpetrator.

(People v. McCoy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1118.)

This was precisely what the juror was trying to explain to the
prosecutor in his voir dire, when he stated he was assuming that the person
holding the hypothetical victim did not know that the victim was going to
be severely beaten. (11 RT 2124.) Mr. Bijelic wisely sensed that he could
not possibly answer the “assault” hypothetical because he did not know the
intent of the hypothetical person holding the victim. Unless the “holder”
had a specific intent to kill, he could not be convicted of first degree murder
under California law, let alone be subject to the death penalty.

The judge was correct when he stated Mr. Bijelic was smart." He
was smart enough not to be lured into an easy answer to a hypothetical that

was nothing less than a trick question, impossible to properly answer on the

facts given. This is not a proper basis for excusal for cause.

10. Unlike with Mr. Pfefer, this time the judge did not paint Mr. Bijelic’s
intellegence in perjorative terms, but still ultimately dismissed him from service.
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The court also settled upon the prosecutor’s other argument in
granting the challenge; that the prospective juror stated that he could not
impose the death penalty on a hypothetical wheelman if that person had no
idea that the robber in the bank had a gun. As with Mr. Pfefer, this
hypothetical was legally defective because it was incomplete and
impossible to answer. The prosecutor’s simplistic and misleading
hypotheticals therefore served as a platform from which to argue for
excusal when no legal cause was shown. The prosecutor continued to rely
upon a tactic of positing a hypothetical completely factually removed from
the facts of this case and wording this hypothetical in such a way that
virtually any prospective juror would have a great deal of trouble finding
for death. If prospective jurors could be eliminated from capital trials
because they would not impose the death penalty in the hypothetical that the
prosecutor presented, the only péople left on the jury panel would be jurors
so enthusiastic about the implementation of the death penalty that they
would truly be a tribunal “uncommonly willing” to condemn a man to
death. (Witherspoon v. Illinois, supra, 391 U.S. at 520.)

The removal of Mr. Bijelic for cause violated both the letter and
spirit of the law set forth by High Courts of the United States and
California. There was no ambiguity on Mr. Bijelic’s part that needed to be
resolved by the court. The dismissal of this prospective juror for cause
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violated appellant’s rights to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution and corollary provisions of
the State Constitution. The unconstitutional dismissal of but one prospective
Juror who qualified to sit under the law is cause for reversal of the death
judgment.

3. PROSPECTIVE JUROR SAM RUTIGLIANO # 3489

a. Questionnaire Responses

Sam Rutigliano was a thirty-one year old male of Italian descent (40
CT11633.) He felt that the death penalty is “a big deterrent to many others
who may wish to kill.” (40 CT11669, Q 178.) For this reason, he felt that
California should continue to have the death penalty. (40 CT 11670, Q
186.) He further stated that the death penalty should be imposed in
“extremely cruel cases.” (Ibid, Q 191.)

Mr. Rutigliano also made it clear that each case should be
determined on its own facts, and that death was the worse of the two
possible penalties. (40 CT 11671, Q196-198.) He also indicated that he
could set aside any personal beliefs and decide the case on the facts and the
law as set forth by the court, indicating that his “duty as a juror (is) to be
fair and unbiased.” (40 CT 11671-11672, Q 200.)

Mr. Rutigliano stated that in a case that involved acts such as
mutilation and torture he could find for death. (40 CT 11673, Q 209.) He
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further stated that he would not automatically refuse to vote for either
penalty. (40 CT11674, Q 215-218.) He also stated that he would like to sit
on the case because “I know I am a fair person. I have always been one to
listen to both sides of an argument. I also know people that have done good
things, and people who have done bad things. A defendant/prosecution
deserve jurors that are not one-sided and biased.” (Ibid., Q 231.)

b. Oral Voir Dire

The oral voir dire again began with preliminary questioning by the
court in which it described the special circumstances, the two phases of the
trial, the general nature of aggravating and mitigating factors and the basic
weighing précess. The court also explained the finding that the jury must
make before reaching a verdict of death. (8 RT1562- 1565.) Mr. Rutigliano
informed the court that he understood this law (Ibid), and stated that he did
not have any personal beliefs that would cause him to automatically vote for
either penalty. (8 RT 1564-1565.)

In response to questioning from defense counsel, Mr. Rutigliano
stated that going into the trial, he had an open mind aboﬁt which of the two
penalties to impose. (8 RT 1565.)

The prosecutor commenced by asking about the prospective juror’s
response to questionnaire question 210, in which he stated that an example
of a crime for which life without parole was the proper sentence was one
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which was “accidental or not premeditated.” (8 RT 1566.) The prospective
Juror made it clear that he could follow the court’s instructions and impose

a death sentence for felony murder;

Question: Let me add one more thing. As the court has told
you, the only way you can impose the death penalty is if he's
found guilty of first degree murder. And a murder in the
course of a robbery is a special circumstance, which is what
happened in this factual situation I gave you, and the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweigh the
mitigating circumstances. Would you be able to impose the
death penalty then?

Answer: Yes. [ mean, if that's what the judge says.''(8 RT
1169.)

The prosecutor gavevher own explanation of the weighing process,
and Mr. Rutigliano’s responses made it clear that he could find for death if
appellant was found guilty of murder and at least one of the special
circumstances was found true. (8 RT 1572-1574.)

The prosecutor then employed the “assault” hypothetical, where on
person is holding someone’s arms and the other is beating on the victim.

Question: Okay. Do you believe that the person holding the

arms is as equally guilty as the person doing the hitting?

Answer: Maybe not equally, but close.
Question: Okay. Why don't you think he's equally guilty?

11. By this simple statement, Mr. Rutigliano made it clear that he would follow
the law as given by the court.
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Answer: He's not actually doing the hitting, I mean, so it
depends on what the charges are, if you're saying he's hitting
him, he's not hitting him or her, which ever, it all depends on
what you're being accused of doing.

Question: Okay. If the person holding the victim's arms, if
the victim is unable to escape or defend themselves, do you
believe they're equally guilty?

Answer: Yes.

Question: Okay. So now looking at that, person is holding the
arms of the victim and the other person is beating them, are
they both equally guilty? If you don't believe they are, that's
fine.

Answer: It's something I'd really have to think about.
Question: But we have to know your answer today.

Answer: You know, I would still kind of say probably not
equally. ,

Question: Okay. So let me ask you this additional fact. The
victim, the person that was being beaten, dies. It's first degree
murder and there is a special circumstance that's been found
true. Would you be able to impose the death penalty on the
person holding the arms?

Mr. Patton: Objection. Incomplete hypothetical.

Ms. Locke-Noble: -- if the aggravating circumstances
substantially outweigh the mitigating circumstances?
Prospective Juror No. 3489: Yes.

Question: Now, why can you impose the death penalty on that
person, but yet you don't believe that person is equally
guilty?

Answer: You just said that the aggravating is more than the
mitigating, so -- I mean, when we were talking earlier I said
right now I kind of didn't weigh it equal, but when you stated
it that way, you're saying that the aggravating was far more
than the mitigating, so that kind of is tipping the scale more.
(8 RT 1574-1576.)

Even though Mr. Rutigliano made it perfectly clear that he could
impose the death penalty on both persons, the prosecutor took the position

that he was hypocritical when he stated he could impose the death penalty
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on someone who was not as “equally guilty” as another hypothetical
participant. However, in spite of the prosecutor’s attempts to put words in
the prospective juror’s mouth, Mr. Rutigliano again made it clear that his
mind was open to the death penalty.

Question: But the court has said that you do not have to
impose the death penalty when the aggravating circumstances
substantially outweigh the mitigating circumstances, so I
don't understand what you are telling me. If you find that
someone is not as guilty, how can you impose the death
penalty on them?

Answer: Actually, you asked if I could, if that was possible,
if it was more. Icould. I'm not saying I would, you know,
you're saying could I.

Question: But what I don't understand is if you don't think
that the two people are equally guilty, wouldn't you give
them different punishments, because they weren't equally
guilty?

Answer: Well, when we were saying they weren't equally
guilty, that was before you started saying the mitigating and
the aggravating was outweighing it. But now, I mean, if
there was more stuff to it than what you've just said, you
know, and you start saying they did this, they did this and
this, that's starting to bump it up more than just holding on.
That, to me, it's like raising the scale more than from being
equal, from wherever, that would possibly be life. Now
you're talking about it being far worse.

Question: I just said substantially outweighs, I didn't say that
it was far worse. I just said it substantially outweighs. And
the court says even if it substantially outweighs, you can still
impose life without the possibility of parole.

Answer: Yes.

Question: So in your mind, because the person holding the
arms is not as guilty as the person actually doing the
punching, wouldn't you impose life without the possibility of
parole on him and give the other guy, the one actually doing
the punching, the death penalty?
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Answer: I could do both in that. Like I said, you asked could

Ido either, so- -(8 RT 1576-1577.)

Not succeeding in her attempts to disqualify this prospective jury by
leading him into saying he could not impose the death penalty, the
prosecutor then used the same completely factually unrelated, legally
flawed hypothetical she used on prospective juror Pfefer, the “bank
robbery” hypothetical. This hypothetical included the “fact” that neither
the lookout nor the driver had any idea that the hypothetical man in the
bank had any intention of shooting anyone. (11 RT1578.) In response to the
prosecutor’s questions, Mr. Rutigliano stated that he did feel that the
lookout or the driver were as guilty as the shooter, and would “probably”
not impose the death penalty on them if they did not know that there was
going to be a shooting. (11RT 1578-1579.)

However, when given the opportunity to explain the type of case in
which he would impose the death penalty, Mr. Rutigliano described a
situation just like the instant case. He stated that it would be a “horrible
crime” (11 RT 1579) where “you would have to really be trying to really
hurt that person, I guess, make it far -- you know, more pain.” (11 RT
1580.)

Obviously not content in being told by the prospective juror that he

could impose the death penalty in a case such as the one actually being
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tried, (People v. Cash, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p.720), the prosecutor again
busied herself in unearthing some hypothetical set of facts under which Mr.
Rutigliano could not impose death. However, she had little success, with
the prospective juror unambiguously stating that he could find for death in
a robbery felony murder and that he could go into such a case with a
“clear” mind. (11 RT1580-1581.)

Having failed several times to ferret out some set of facts under
which Mr. Rutigliano could not impose death, the prosecutor tried yet
again. This time, she parsed the individual special circumstances, and
presented them in a factless vacuum.

Question: Let me ask you this. If the defendant was convicted
of first degree murder and the special circumstance was only
the rape, would you be able to impose the death penalty, if the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the
mitigating circumstances?

Answer: Could I or would I?

Question: Would you?

Answer: I'm not sure.

Question: If the only special circumstance proved to be true
was the kidnap for rape, would you impose the death penalty
if the aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the
mitigating circumstances?

Answer: Possibly.

Question: And assume the same hypothetical for the rape
with a stake.

Answer: Possibly.

Question: And the same circumstances, the same hypothetical
for just a plain kidnaping.

Answer: I'm not sure.

Question: And the same circumstances for a torture.

Answer: Probably. (11 RT 1582-1583.)
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¢. Prosecutor’s Challenge and the Court’s Ruling

As soon as the voir dire ended and before the prosecutor even made
her challenge for cause, the court actually encouraged the prosecutor make
such a challenge, pointing out to her that she previously challenged another
prospective juror who gave similar responses. (8 RT 1584-1585.)

The prosecutor, taking her cue from the court’s improper suggestion
that a challenge was warranted, stated inaccurately stated that Mr.
Rutigliano answered that he “could not” impose the death penalty on the
persons serving as the lookout or the driver in the bank hypothetical. She
further arguéd that the juror was “inconsistent” in saying he could impose
the death penalty on the holder in the beating example, even though the
holder was not “equally guilty” to the person who did the beating. (8 RT
1585-1586.)

Appellant’s counsel reminded the court that he had a standing
objection to the hypotheticals that the prosecutor was using. (8 RT 1587.)
Further, counsel argued to the court that Mr. Rutigliano’s answers made it
clear that he was not substantially impaired under Witt. (8 RT 1586-1589.)

Counsel expanded upon his objections to the aiding and abetting
hypotheticals that the prosecutor had been proffering.

[ think jurors, without any law being given to them with
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respect to aiding and abetting, really are left kind of to fend
on their own. They're not trained as lawyers, that is the point
that I'm trying to make. They're not trained as lawyers. If the
court was to tell them, like in a preliminary fashion, we could
probably avoid this by giving an aiding and abetting
instruction, giving an instruction with respect to when a
person who is not the actual slayer can be held responsible for
the special circumstances, and that is when he's aware that his
conduct involves a grave risk of harm or of death. And this
particular prospective juror, he said, "well, was the guy aware
that the guy was going to go in the bank and shoot him, you
know?" So I would just ask you to allow me one

more opportunity to, you know, put this on the record.

okay? If the court, perhaps, would tell them

the law with respect to aiding and abetting is such and

such, the law with respect to a non-slayer -- see,

that's a complicated matter. (8 RT 1589-1590.)

The court responded to this request by asking if not giving the
instruction was not a better way to test a juror’s views on capital
punishment.

The Court: By not giving the instruction, wouldn't that be a
better view, wouldn't that be a better way to test their mind, a
true test of their mind, as to whether or not they would be able
to impose the penalty of death, whether they could on an aider
and abettor?

Mr. Patton: I don't believe so, your honor. because I think if
they are aware of what the law is — you see, and I think I
learned in law school years ago, and I think even in the media
right now, some people — there is a divided point of view
about to what extent should a person who assists another in a
crime --

The Court: Well --

Mr. Patton: -- be responsible.

The Court: honestly, you don't believe everything you see in
the media, do you?

Mr. Patton: I'm speaking about, you know — this is -- I am
saying, your honor, that the lay public, the non-trained
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lawyer, feels that the accomplice rules sometimes, as well as
the felony murder rules, are very harsh. But they realize that's
the law, and they will follow the law and hold each person
responsible. (8 RT 1591-1592.)

The prosecutor then stated her views on this issue.

If a juror knew the law, the juror would then frame his
question in accordance with the law. A true test of the juror's
state of mind with regard to aiding and abetting, and
accomplices, is to find that out without pre-instructing them,
because then we know what their true views are. If they
know what the law is, in advance, we can not find out what
their true views are, because they want to follow the law.

(8 RT1593.)

The court essentially adopted the prosecutor’s argument and refused
to give further generalized instructions as to the aiding and abetting theory.

(8 RT 1597-1598.)

...based on this court's look at (juror No.)3489 and his state of
mind that this court is required to assess, based on Bradford
and Cox, in applying Witt versus Wainwright, this court sees,
in part, (juror no.)3489 in the same way as (juror no.) 2644.
He picks and chooses the special circumstances that he
believes he would be able to consider the penalty of death on,
and that shifts and changes the burden of the people, because,
you know, you have to fit the special circumstances for him.
The second thing is that in terms of an accomplice, or an aider
and abettor, it is his true state of mind that they're not equally
guilty, and even if they are guilty, they're not equally guilty.
In other words, in these folks' eyes, the person is guilty, but
there's a degree of guilt. And that is really the true test of
whether or not they would be able to consider the penalty of
death or automatically vote for life without parole.
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And this person is honest. He says probably not on the

getaway driver and the lookout person, probably not, giving

the state of mind to this court that that's really the right way

we do aider and abettor questions. I didn't really know, and

perhaps now I do, that the people's theory in this case

probably is an aider and abettor theory. 1 didn't realize that,

because [ sit tabla rosa -- I'll give you that spelling

later, madam reporter. Now this court is being

educated as to how this case probably will be

presented, so that is a fair way to ask the questions.

the challenge for cause is granted as to (juror n0.)3489. (8 RT

1598-1599.)

d. Application of Law to the Challenge

The court and prosecutor were right about one thing. Mr. Rutigliano
was very similar to Mr. Pfefer. (Juror #2644.) They were both improperly
excused. Both the prosecutor and court mischaracterized the jurors’
statements to create the impression that this juror’s personal belief would
impair him from imposing the death penalty in a case such as this. In
reality, there was nothing in the juror’s answers to suggest that. In fact, as
with all of the dismissed jurors, this particular question, critical to the Wizt
process, was never even asked of Mr. Rutigliano. Instead, once again the
prosecutor spent her time trying to get the prospective juror to state that in
some hypothetical case, that has absolutely no connection with the instant
case, he would be reluctant to impose death.

Even though this juror made it clear in the oral voir dire and in his

questionnaire that he would follow the law as stated by the court, it would
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have been understandable that the prosecutor might want to test these
statements by the juror by asking pertinent and relevant questions as to the
general fact pattern of rhis case. However, it is clear from the voir dire that
the prosecutor sought only to extract from the prospective juror anti-death
statements by the use of confusing and irrelevant hypotheticals.

Once again, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Rutigliano’s statement
that he “probably” would not impose the death penalty on a hypothetical
wheelman or lookout person if they didn’t know that the man in the bank
intended to kill disqualified him. However, again this hypothetical was
completely irrelevant as to whether Mr. Rutigliano could impose the death
penalty in this type of case, where the theory of the prosecution was that
appellant was directly and intimately involved in the events that caused the
victim’s death.

The prosecutor also relied upon her confusing incomplete
hypothetical as to one person holding a murder victim while the other beat
him to death. The prosecutor argued that the juror was inconsistent when he
stated that, while he did not believe that the two perpetrators were “equally
guilty,” he could impose the death penalty upon the holder if the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the mitigating,
However, it was not the juror who was “conflicted’” it was the

hypotheticals themselves.
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Again, the prosecutor introduced the legally meaningless and
ultimately misleading phrase “equally guilty” into the voir dire. The
implication that there are different gradations of guilt is obviously wrong.
One 1s either guilty or is not. As discussed previously, aa assault is not a
predicate felony for felony murder. The only way that the holder could be
convicted of murder is if he shared the striker’s intent to kill. In the
hypothetical the prosecutor gave, it is impossible to tell if the holder is
guilty of the murder, as his guilt obviously rests upon sharing the intent of
the person actually doing the striking.

Therefore, given the juror’s lack of legal knowledge and the legally
flawed suggestions that there are degrees of guilt, the prospective juror’s
answer that he could impose death on the holder even though he was not
“equally” guilty was quite reasonable.

The prosecutor and the court vetoed any attempt to clear up the
confusion that these aiding and abetting hypotheticals invariably created.
Appellant’s counsel rightly informed the court under Wit the question that
had to be answered was whether a juror could bend his own beliefs to the
will of the law and the only way to ascertain this answer was to inform the
prospective jurors as to the nature of the law that they would have to follow.

(Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 420.)
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Counsel correctly explained this law to the court and asked that the
prospective jurors be instructed, to permit a determination of whether their
personal beliefs would substantially impair them in doing their duty.
Instead, both the prosecutor and the court again relied upon the jurors’
uninformed answers to irrelevant and confusing hypotheticals.

Mr. Rutigliano had no personal beliefs against the use of the death
penalty. His dismissal was based upon factually irrelevant and/or legally
flawed and confusing “hypotheticals.” The court explicitly precluded any
attempt to explain the law upon which these hypotheticals were based. A
prospective juror’s uninformed personal opinion of the law is irrelevant in
the Witt/Witherspoon equation. It is whether that Juror can follow the
actual law that controls.

The dismissal of this prospective juror for cause violated appellant’s
rights to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the _
United States Constitution according to the interpretation of both the United
States Supreme Court and this Court. The trial court’s error as to this

prospective juror alone mandates reversal of the death judgment.
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4. PROSPECTIVE MAXINE MORALES- #2442

a. Questionnaire Responses

Maxine Morales was a sixty year old Hispanic female. (24 CT 7324.)
In her questionnaire, she made it clear that while she had no real feeling
about the death penalty (24 CT 7361, Q 178-179), California should have it
and she could personally impose it. (24 CT 7362, Q 186, 188.) She further
stated that any decision between life and death should be made based upon
the individual case. (Ibid, Q 189-192; 24 CT 7396, Q 196; 24 CT 7365, Q
209-210.) She also stated that she could set aside any personal beliefs and
decide the case on the facts and the law, further stating “I would do the best
that I could to have justice served.” (24 CT 7363-64, Q 200.) Ms. Morales
also stated that the two penalties are equally severe. (24 CT 7368, Q 227.)

b. Oral Voir Dire

After advising her of the basic process of weighing of the
aggravating and mitigating facfors, the court informed Ms. Morales that the
“weighing of the factors is not quantitative but qualitative in which the jury,
in order to fix the penalty of death must be persuaded that the bad factors
are so substantial in comparison to the good factors that death is warranted
instead of life without parole.” (7 RT 1444.) The juror indicated that she

understood and that she would not automatically vote for either penalty. (8
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RT 1445-1445))

Ms. Morales stated that she was “equally open” and “neutral” to
both pehalties and that she could follow the court’s instructions and
consider the factors she was given in determining the penalty. (7 RT 1445 J)
She also indicated that she could take appellant’s childhood into
consideration but could impose death if the aggravating circumstances
substantially outweighed the mitigating, even though the law never requires
the imposition of the death penalty. (7 RT 1446-1448.)

The prosecutor attempted without success to use M. Morales’
fairness and lack of pre-determined attitudes as a factor against her ability
to sit as a juror. However, Ms. Morales neutralized the prosecutor’s attempt

to misstate her most reasonable and balanced views as to the imposition of

penalty.

Question: You indicated that you are neutral. You are not
more in favor of the death penalty nor more in favor of life
without the possibility of parole, correct? ‘
Answer: That’s correct.

Question: So how can I determine whether or not you would
impose the death penalty, if it was an appropriate case?
Answer: I don't know that you can determine that at this
point. I think that determination or decision would be made
after the information was given to me or any other juror. At
this point, I don't have a say one way or the other, because I
haven't heard anything. So at this point that's why I say I'm
neutral. I'm not leaning one way or the other.

Question: Are you for the death penalty?

Answer: I'm not for or against it.
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Question: Now, you indicate on question 178, "What are you
general feelings about the death penalty?" you put, "none."
Answer: You know, I'm going to say something that may be
good for the court to hear, just is as a juror filling out the that
form. When I was filling that form from 11:00 until 4:30
that I turned it in. It was very taxing. It was, I felt the
important part of the gist of that question was left to the end
which in some respects me, personally, felt should have been
more at the beginning. If you look at my writing the
beginning of my writing, I write very neatly, trying to be very
concise and accurate. As I got further into the form, I was
like so exhausted that you could even tell by my handwriting,
it is haphazardly done. It's done quickly. At that point I was
interested in getting the information completed, but I also
was concerned with completing it appropriately. So when I
said, I have no opinion, at that point I go back to what my
original statement was. I feel that this is a very high
responsibility would be placed on me.

Question: In your hands.

Answer: And I certainly would want to do the right thing by
the defendant or by the other side. I would want to do
whatever the evidence or the information warranted. And I --
at this point I couldn't say that I have a decision one way or
the other or I feel one way or the other way. I don't. Idon't
feel one way or the other about it. I feel like I would have to
have it proven to me and that the information would be
concise and the information that [ would take away from it to
help me make the decision. It would be a very difficult
decision if I had to decide that it was a death penalty. I don't
think anybody would walk away feeling great about doing
that, but I feel I have to do what was warranted by the case. (7
RT1448-1450.)

By any definition, this was a prospective juror who took her
responsibility very seriously, understood it, and was able to follow it.
However, dissatisfied with the juror’s answer, the prosecutor continued to

relentlessly pursued the juror, asking “[hJow can you impose the death
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penalty if you don't even know what your feelings are regarding it?” (7 RT
1450.)

Yet again, Ms. Morales informed the prosecutor that while she did
not have a personal opinion on the death penalty, she was very neutral and
if the facts of the case warranted death she could vote for that penalty. (7
RT1450-1452.)

In response to further prosecutorial questioning, Ms. Morales stated:

I'm sure that you form opinions as you go through life, but

this isn't forming an opinion. This is real. This is happening

so in other words, I would have to walk away from this

situation with a clear conscious. If I was selected as a juror, I

would want to weigh all of the facts, the good and the bad,

and what the other jurors would have to say before I could

make a decision. Things that I have formed as opinions in my

life time, I think are -- they have no consequence as it deals

with the real life. This is the real life being approached about
sitting on jury for a death case or a murder case. (7 RT 1452.)

To this reasonable, fair and legally qualifying statement, the proseéutor
once again repeated the same legally irrelevant question; how the juror
“could possibly impose a death sentence if you have no feelings toward it
one way or other you have no opinion.” (7 RT 1452-1453.) Ms Morales
remained consistent in her answer.

I think the feelings that I have, if it's appropriate for the case.

If the evidence, the bad things outweigh the good things, and

it's decided consistently with the other jurors involved that I

would be comfortable with going with the death penalty. (7
RT 1453.)
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Unable to discredit Ms. Morales legal qualifications to sit on
appellant’s jury, the prosecutor turned to her hypotheticals. Regarding the
“assault” hypothetical, Ms. Morales indicated that she could sentence both
to death. (7 RT 1455.)

Regarding the “bank robbery” hypothetical, when asked if all of the
three participants were “equally guilty” (7 RT 1456.) Ms. Morales stated
that she thought that the men standing lookout outside of the bank and the
driver were less guilty that the man who pulled the trigger. (Ibid.) The
prosecutor then asked if the juror could impose the death penalty on the
wheelman if the aggravating evidence outweighed the mitigating, and the
juror said “yes.” This followed:

Question: Now, why? How could you impose the death
penalty on that person when you said he wasn't as guilty as
person who did actual shooting?

Mr. Patton: Objection, your honor that's improper.

The Court: The objection is noted and it is sustained. I think
that she did not say it's not guilty it's not as guilty.

Question Ms. Locke-Noble: I believe she said he was less
guilty.

The Court: I’ll let you follow up on that.

Question Ms. Locke-Noble: You indicate that the person
waiting in the car was not as guilty as the person who pulled
the trigger, correct?

Answer: Right.

Question: so how can you impose the death penalty on the
person who is waiting out in the car, when you believe he is
not as guilty as the person who pulled the trigger?

Mr. Patton: Objection, it is not complete, the factors are -- it's
not complete.
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Answer the court: Okay. The objection is that it is an
incomplete hypothetical. That's overruled. I understand the
hypothetical. Answer, please.

Answer: Why would I feel comfortable in saying that he
should get the death penalty as well as the one that pulled the
trigger because he is less guilty?

Question: Right.

Answer: Because you said that the bad -- mitigating. I get
that word confused, the bad issues about him were more than
the ones that weren't bad.

Question: But the law says that you do not ever have to
impose the death penalty. You always have the option of
imposing life without the possibility of parole. It is only when
the bad factors substantially outweigh the good factors that
you can impose the death penalty. The law never requires
you to impose the death penalty. Knowing that, would you
impose the death penalty on the person waiting in the car?
Answer: No. (7 RT1457-1458.)

c. Prosecutor’s Challenge and Court Ruling

Appellant passed this juror for cause. The prosecutor made the
following challenge.

Well, I think this is the same situation that we had on the
previous juror. She indicated under aiding and abetting, she
would not be able to impose the death penalty. And I think
that would substantially impair her ability to be a juror in this
particular case. Along with the fact that she doesn't know
what her feelings are, whether she is for or against the death
penalty. (7 RT 1460.)

The challenge was opposed by appellant. (RT1461.) The court

granted the prosecutor’s challenge stating;
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Challenge for cause is granted, same as the last one. The law
does not require the imposition of the death penalty, that is a
correct statement of the law. And in this particular case even
Mr. Patton trying to rehabilitate the second time around this
Juror is adamant that since the law does not require in an aider
and abettor, the person outside whether that person is, I
assume, is the getaway driver or the one keeping the car warm
for the getaway, less guilty but still guilty. And she
understood the concept of guilt or guilty versus not guilty, but
Just the same guilty, but will not impose the death penalty,
will not consider that as an option and believes that life
without parole is a sufficient penalty. This is the exact same
situation as the previous juror, and based on the Wainwright,
which is Witt and Cox and Bradford. She is substantially
impaired from performing her oath and duties as a juror in this
case and I'm going to excuse her based upon people's
challenge. (7 RT 1461-1462.)

d. Application of the Law to the Challenge

Once again, a juror who several times made it perfectly clear that

she was fair and open minded and would follow the law as given by the

Jjudge was prohibited from serving because she couldn’t impose the death
penalty on a hypothetical wheelman in the car, a hypothetical far removed
from this case. Once again, this chimera of the prosecutor’s imagination is
allowed to stand in the place of the people and events involved in this case.
Once again, the court accepted the prosecutor’s legally insupportable theory
that if one cannot impose the death penalty in every conceivable situation

that it could technically be imposed, you can’t sit as a death penalty juror.
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What makeé this so troublingly disingenuous is that appellant’s
counsel requested that the prospective Jurors be instructed as to the law
regarding aiders and abettors before they answered voir dire questions, and
the prosecutor and judge refused to do so. The prosecutor much preferred
her own court approved app;oach in order to purge this jury of anyone who
wasn’t a true death penalty enthusiast, eager to impose the death penalty for
whatever offense the law may theoretically allow. Even if it could be said
that there waé some sort of ambiguity in Ms. Morales answers, the court
made no attempt to resolve it.

The dismissal of this prospective Juror for cause violated
| appellant’s rights to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments
to the United States Constitution according to the interpretation of both the
United States Supreme Court and this Court. Regardless of how this Court
finds as to the dismissals of any other of the prospective jurors presented in
this argument, the trial court’s error as to this prospective juror alone,
mandates reversal of the death judgment.

5. PROSPECTIVE JUROR ORLANDO SALAZAR
JUROR-# 5849

a. Questionnaire Responses

Mr. Salazar was a sixty-two year old male of Columbian descent.
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(20 CT 5926.) In the questionnaire, when asked how hé felt about the death
penalty, he stated that he “[must] follow the law.” (20 CT 5962, Q 178.) He
said that he didn’t know how he felt about the death penalty or whether he
could personally vote to enforce it. (Zbid, Q 187-188.) He also wrote that
life in prison was worse for a defendant because death was quicker. (20 CT
5964, Q 198.) However, he also stated that he could set aside any personal
beliefs and decide the case based on the facts presented and the law given
by the court. (20 CT 5964-5965, Q 200.)

Mr. Salazar could see himself voting for the death penalty, stating
again that he “must follow the law (20 CT 5966, Q 209.) He would not
automatically vote for either penalty. (20 CT 5967, Q 215-218.) Mr.
Salazar also stated “I have a duty to my country and community, I have the
time now and I will do my best to be fair and help bring a fair trial.” (20
CT5969, Q 231.)

b. Oral Voir Dire
After advising him of the basic process of the weighing of the
aggravating and mitigating factors, the court informed Mr. Salazar that,
the weighing of the factors is not quantitative but qualitative
in which the jury, in order to fix the penalty of death must be
persuaded that the bad factors are so substantial in

comparison to the good factors that death is warranted instead
of life without parole. (6 RT 1208.)
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The juror indicated that he understood (Ibid.), and that he would not
automatically vote for either penalty. (6 RT 1206-1210.)

Mr. Salazar confirmed that he could impose the penalty based on
the facts of the case and the law and stated that his personal opinions would
“have nothing to do with it.” (6 RT 1210.)

In response to the prosecutor’s questions, Mr. Salazar indicated that
he did not have any opmions about the frequency of the use of the death
penalty nor whether California should have it as a penalty for murder,
indicating that was a decision for the “authorities,” not him. (6 RT1211-
1212.) The prospective Juror indicated that he wasn’t aware that California
still used the death penalty and that he didn’t feel that he was qualified to
say whether California should have the option of death. (6 RT 1212-1214.)

Mr. Salazar then stated that although his church’s dogma opposed the
death penalty, this would have no affect on him and he could follow the
law. (6 RT 1214.)

The prosecutor then asked a series of questions in an attempt to
confuse the juror into stating he could not impose the death penalty. Mr.
Salazar would not be fooled.

Question: The law says you do not have to impose the death

penalty.

Answer: The law says what?

Question: You do not have to impose the death penalty. The
law doesn't say that —
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Answer: No, it doesn't.

Question: The law says that you can impose the death
penalty, so you're telling me that you will follow the law?
Well, the law says you can always impose life without the
possibility of parole, so will you always impose life without
the possibility of parole.

Answer: No, ma'am. That's why you go into deliberations
with the rest of the 12 or 11 members,

Question: But this is you. I'm talking about you, not the other
11 people, just you.

Answer: If [ feel like it should call for the death penalty and if
I am satisfied that it is appropriate, yes, I would.

Question: Okay. How are you telling me that you could vote
for the death penalty, when you said that what you're going to
do is follow the law, and the law says you don't have to
impose the death penalty?

Answer: Because at this point, ma'am, at this point I don't
have anything to go by. I don't have any hatred. I don't have
any bad feelings against anybody, to be able to say, yeah, I'm
going to vote for that. I have to sit through the whole thing
and analyze it, and have at least a feeling of what's going on
before I even -- I'm able -- before I'm able to have any idea
that I might want to go for the death penalty. I need to have
enough -- something to substantiate that decision you're
asking me something without knowing anything, and at this
point I only believe that the person being charged is innocent,
as far as our law says. Up to this point, that's it. Now, it's up
to the district attorney or the state to prove differently, and
then that's when you become aware of - okay, then it merits
it. (6 RT 1214-1216.)

Unwilling to accept Mr. Salazar’s assurances that he could indeed
follow the law, the prosecutor renewed her attempt to get him to say
something that would disqualify him. However, the prospective juror

continued to assure the court that he could impose either penalty if the facts

of the case and the law warranted it. (6 RT 1218-1222)
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The prosecutor theﬁ referred Mr. Salazar to jury questionnaire
question 198, in which he indicated his opinion that life without parole is
the worse penalty because “death is quick” and “life is long” with prison
being “hell.” (6 RT 1222-1223.) The prosecutor then attempted to convince
Mr. Salazar that because of this opinion, he could not impose the death
penalty if the aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the
mitigating. (6 RT 1223.) However, Mr. Salazar distinguished his personal
opinion from the law and gave no indication that he would not be able to
follow said law. (6 RT 1223-1226.)

Mr. Salazar made it clear that, before hearing the facts, he could not
say if he would impose the death penalty. (6 RT 1226—1227.) The
prosecutor then proffered the “assault hypothetical and Mr. Salazar
indicated the punishment as to the holder would depend on whether the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the mitigating. (6 RT
1227-1228.) Mr. Salazar then reiterated that he needed additional facts to
make any decision but that by the end of the case he would be able to do so.

(6 RT 1228-1229.)
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¢. Prosecutor’s Challenge and Court Ruling

Appellant passed this juror for cause (6 RT 1230.) The prosecutor

challenged this juror for cause stating the following;

Ms. Locke Noble: Yes, your honor. I'm challenging him for
cause for the following reasons: first of all, he thought the
death penalty was abolished. He has no feelings, one way or
the other, concerning the death penalty. He can't tell me
whether or not life without the possibility of parole is --
actually, he did tell me it was a worse sentence, and then he
said, well, death is final. So I'm not sure that he meant that
was worse, but he kept saying life without the possibility of
parole is worse. He indicated pretty much that he had to have
hatred or bad feelings about the defendant, personally, in
order to impose the death penalty, although he backed off on
that a little while later. 1 truly don't know where he stands. It
appears to me that he is going to impose life without the
possibility of parole, because he believes that life without the
possibility of parole is the worse punishment, and someone
should have to live with it, which is what he said on his
questionnaire. It's question no. 227, which is, "which do you
believe is a more severe punishment, death or life without the
possibility of parole?" And he put, "life without the possibility
of parole. He'll live in hell for the rest of his life." He said he
doesn't even want to think about it. He doesn't want to think
about the penalty. He’s not qualified to say what the penalty
should be. It’s something ugly and I don't want to think about
it. And he also said that he follows the doctrines of the
catholic church, in which they believe that you should not
impose the death penalty, to a point. He couldn't tell me what
point. He says he doesn't want to think about it. He can not
decide. He went back and forth. And I think he falls under
Cox. (6 RT 1230-1231.)
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Appellant’s counsel objected to the challenge but the court granted it
stating;

The Court: People's challenge for cause is granted. I'll
explain to you why. Let me invite any reviewing court,
should there be any review, particularly to the question area
on question 198, when asked whether or not if there's a first
degree plus special circumstances, plus aggravating
outweighs mitigating, whether or not he could make an
election between the death penalty or life without parole, or
would he automatically vote for life without parole. I
remember that his answer is "Death is quick. Life is long.
Prison is hell." He then, when asked directly in open court, he
said he'd prefer not to say "prefer death." And then, in fact, I
emphatically seen him with his right fist waving, he said, "I'm
not for death. Death. death. Death." He says that's his own
feeling. He's got to have a lot more. He just simply did not
Wwant to answer the question. I think that he is very
conflicting in his answers in this case. One of the other things
also that concerned me is that he wanted to interject his own
personal feelings into the case, in order for him — because, I
understand, based on his state of mind, to even consider the
issue of capital punishment he has to have hatred or bad
feelings for the defendant. He said, "I have no hatred or bad
feelings for the defendant." I heard that explicitly, it rung my
ear as I turned around. And 1 think that is not the standard
that would be appropriate. Based thereon, this court believes
that he's substantially impaired in the performance of his
duties, in accordance with his instructions and the oath. (6 RT
1232-1234.)

d. Application of Law to Challenge
It is hard to imagine a more intellectually dishonest challenge by a
prosecutor or response from a court as was the case with this juror. Mr.
Salazar was an honest, thoughtful juror, prepared to do his duty to his

country. He was deprived of this opportunity, not because he could not
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impose the death penalty, but because he did not fit the profile of a juror
predisposed to blindly impose the death penalty.

As with the other prospective jurors discussed in this argument, Mr.
Salazar was subjected to prosecutorial questioning designed not to discover
whether the juror could follow the law and consider both penalties, but to
elicit an answer that could be twisted to suggest the opposite. Both the
prosecutor and the court completely mischaracterized his answers in the
oral voir dire. Mr. Salazar never stated that his religious beliefs would
substantially impair him from imposing the death penalty. In fact, he
specifically stated that in spite of his religion’s teachings, he realized that it
was his ;‘duty to follow the law.” (6 RT1214-1215.)

Further, the juror never indicated that his personal preference of
penalties for himself would be life without parole meant that he could not
follow the law and impose the death penalty on appellant. Again, he
indicated the contrary. (6 RT RT1223-1226.) The trial court’s statement that
he saw Mr. Salazar in “open court”...emphatically...with his right fist
waving, (saying), "I'm not for death, death, death, death." (RT1233) might
establish ambiguity except for one thing: nowhere in the record does such
an utterance by Mr. Salazar ever appear. The only words similar to these

appeared as Mr. Salazar was trying to explain his neutrality on the penalty.
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What I'm trying to feel in my conscience is not that I'm going
to be a -- what can I Say -- a person that will go for the death,
you know. Some people are like, no, I don't even want to
think about that much, because I take it very serious. But if
it's called for and if it is one of the options, and if I sat on the
case long enough to understand what's going on, I think that
am more equipped to have a very good answer at that time,
I’'m not going to sit here and tell you, yeah, death, death,
death; I'm not. I'm not for that. I'm for justice. And after
sitting through the whole case and analyzing the situation,
then I'd be better equipped to say, yeah, death or life
imprisonment. At this point [ couldn't -- I don't feel like --
death, to me, is final, it's something that I'm not going to
answer readily, just because somebody wants me to answer
that way. (6 RT 1224-1225)

This comment by the juror represents a careful, neutral thought
procbess, well aligned with the law of Wizt and Stewart. However, both the
prosecutor and court either ignored or intentionally misconstrued what Mr.
Salazar actually said.

Both the prosecutor the court made much of the “fact” that the
prospective juror said that he needed to have “bad feelings or hatred” before
he could impose the death penalty, concluding as he did not have such
feelings he was disqualified from sitting on the jury. Once again, Mr.
Salazar’s words were taken out of context and twisted. The prospective
Juror never said this. What really was said was as follows:

Question: Okay. How are you telling me that you could vote
for the death penalty, when you said that what you're going to
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do is follow the law, and the law says you don't have to
impose the death penalty?

Answer: Because at this point, ma'am, at this point I don't
have anything to go by. I don't have any hatred. T don't have
any bad feelings against anybody, to be able to say, yeah, I'm
going to vote for that. I have to sit through the whole thing
and analyze it, and have at least a feeling of what's going on
before I even -- I'm able -- before I'm able to have any idea
that I might want to go for the death penalty. I need to have
enough -- something to substantiate that decision. You're
asking me something without knowing anything, and at this
point I only believe that the person being charged is Innocent,
as far as our law says. Up to this point, that's it. Now, it's up
to the district attorney or the state to prove differently, and
then that's when you become aware of -- okay, then it merits
it. (6 RT 1216)

The juror then made it perfectly clear that he could follow the law.

Juror: Perhaps I wasn't understanding that I had already sat
through the whole case and they had already proven that the
defendant was guilty. Okay. So he's guilty. Now, we're in
the final phase, in deciding the sentence --

Ms. Locke-Noble: Correct.

Juror: And if it is what the law says it should be, yes, of
course (6 RT1217-1218)

Mr. Salazar never said that he “couldn’t think about” the death

penalty in the context that he could not impose it. He simply informed the

prosecutor that he did not think much about it as a part of his daily life.

(6 RT 1213.)

The dismissal of Mr. Salazar was based, in fofo, on an intellectually

dishonest process. There was no ambiguity in his voir dire that indicated

that he could not be able to be impartial and follow the law. Even if there
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was some ambiguity in Mr. Salazar’s answers, the court did nothing to
resolve it but simply decided that a refusal to pre-judge amounted to a
disqualification. As with the above four jurors improperly challenged by the
prosecutor and dismissed by the trial court, there was no follow up
questioning by the court. As stated in Witt,

[T]he trial court has a serious duty to determine the question

of actual bias, and a broad discretions in its rulings on

challenges therefore...In exercising its discretion, the trial
court must be zealous to protect the rights of an accused.
(Wainwright v. Wit, supra, 469 U.S. at 429-430 citing to
Dennis v. United States (1950) 339 U.S. 162, 168.)

The court’s discretion bears the concomitant responsibility of an
affirmative and proactive duty to ascertain the true state of mind of the
prospective juror, and protect a defendant against a jury “stacked” to
impose the death penalty.

The dismissal of this Jjuror was not based upon serious questions of
the law as to close issues vis a vis Witt or its progeny. It was based upon
what appears to be the prosecutor’s deliberate misquotations of Mr. Salazar
and the court’s unquestioning acceptance of the prosecutor’s specious
arguments. It simply did not matter what Mr. Salazar said. He was a marked

man by the prosecutor. This sort of bending of the truth and twisting of the

law to deprive a citizen of this country an opportunity to do his duty has no
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place in any American courtroom. The fact that a man’s life was at stake
only made the conduct of the prosecutor and court that much more chilling.
For yet a fifth time, a perfectly acceptable, intelligent and
thoughtful prospective juror was culled from this jury panel in violation of
the United States Constitution. This dismissal was based wholly upon
distortions of Mr. Salazar’s words. Again, a single dismissal mandates

reversal of the death judgment.

6. PROSPECTIVE JUROR MILA HAN SON - #9961
a. Questionnaire Responses

Ms. Hanson was a fifty-five year old woman born and raised in
Russia, who immigrated to the United States when she was thirty. (22 CT
6378). She did not have any strong opinions but was for the death penalty
in “some cases.” (22 CT 6412,Q 179, 182.) She stated that the penalty that
a person receives “depends on the facts” (22 CT6414, Q 196), and also felt
that death was the worse of the two possible penalties. (Ibid, Q 198.)

Ms. Hanson had no personal convictions that would make it difficult
for her to impose the death penalty, and said could decide the penalty on the
facts according to the law given by the judge. (22 CT 6414-6419.) Further,

she could “see herself” voting for death. (22 CT 6416, Q 209.) She also
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stated she would not automatically vote for either penalty. (22 CT 6417, Q
215-218.)
| b. Oral Voir Dire
The juror understood the court’s explanation of the death penalty
scheme and the weighing process and again stated she would not vote
automatically for either penalty. (6 RT 1249-1252.)

In response to questioning by appellant’s counsel, Ms. Hanson
indicated that she has an open mind to the penalty and if the facts warranted
she could impose the death penalty. (6 RT 1253.)

In response to the prosecutor’s qhestioning, Ms. Hanson professed to
have little personal opinion as to whether California should have the death
penalty or whether it should be abolished. (RT1254-1255.)

Q: Okay so. Here is my hard question.

If you have no thoughts, no opinions and it's not for you to
judge, how could you possibly impose the death penalty on
someone?

A: It depends on the circumstances and the facts, if I think if
it's really horrible crime and deserves probably deserves, it's
every juror will probably judge the way they feel how it will

affect them.

Q: Well, you have to base your decision on the facts not how
you feel, but on the facts.

A: On the facts.

Q: And if you feel that the aggravating
circumstances substantially outweigh the mitigating
circumstances, it is at that point in time in which you
could impose the death penalty and what I'm hearing, you
don't want to be involved. You don't want to make a
decision. You don't feel qualified to judge in this
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particular situation,

A: Tdon't feel that T am less qualified than any other person.
And if T have to make a decision, I will. T don't think anybody
wants to make decisions like that S0.

Q: Tagree with you. No one would want to make that
decision, but what I'm trying to find out, along with counsel,

look the defendant in the eye and say I'm going to kill you?
A: Tthink I can. I can, (6 RT 1255-1256.)

Having failed to convince the juror that she could not impose the
death penalty, the prosecutor then commenced her oft used attempt to

confuse the prospective juror as to which was the “worse” penalty.

Q: You indicated on your questionnaire, that you thought
death was the worse punishment, but for you personally life
without the possibility on of parole would be the worse -
punishment?

A: No. Iindicated that I would prefer life without possibility
of parole.

Q: So I misunderstood what you were saying.

A: Uh-huh, :

Q: Okay the question is 227, "which do you believe is a more
Severe punishment death or life without the possibility of
parole?" You circled death and then you put the question is,
"why do you think that js the more severe punishment?” You
circled is more severe punishment you did not circle and you
put, "I prefer life for myself. So as I understand what you are
telling me, and tell me if I'm wrong, death is the worst
punishment and death would be worse for you, but if you
were in this situation, you would rather have life without the
possibility of parole, am [ correct?

A: Right. |

Q: Now, I understand what you are saying, because you
personally would prefer to have life without the possibility of
parole. Are you going to put yourself in the place of the
defendant and give him the punishment that you want?
A:No. (6 RT 1256-1257.)
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In response to the prosecutor’s continuing questions, the prospective
Juror indicated that while she is concerned that “sometimes innocent people
are convicted” this would not play a role in her deliberations, (6 RT 1257.)
The prosecutor presented the “assault” hypothetical asking if the two
perpetrators were equally guilt. As with many of the other jurors, she was
confused by this question as she did not know the intent of the holder. (6
RT 1260-1261.) When the prosecutor asked if both perpetrators should get
death, the prospective juror wisely stated that “it should be more to it than

holding.” (6 RT 1261.)

Q: So are you saying, "no, I cannot, I impose the death
penalty on the person who is holding the arms"?

A: Ifit's all the information I have.

Q: This is the information you have.

A: No.

Q: And is that because you don't believe that he as guilty as the
person who is doing the beating?

A: Maybe he is guilty, but he is not the one who the is doing
beating and he is probably not such a bad person compared to
the other who was doing the beating.

Q: So do you think that someone has to be bad in order to have
the death penalty imposed upon them?

A: It usually is...

Q: If the aggravating circumstances substantially outweigh the
mitigating circumstances, do you believe that life without the
possibility of parole would be the punishment that you would
give to the person who was holding the person who died?

‘A: No. '

Reporter: Excuse me?

Ms. Locke-Noble: She said "no."
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Q: Would you be able to impose the death penalty on that
person the person holding the arms?

A: Yes.

Q: You just changed your mind.

A: You said aggravating circumstances.

Q: Do you remember when I posed the hypothetical to you the
person that is holding the arms? Do you recall that?

A: Yes, that's the one information you gave me from the
beginning.

Q: No. Listen. When I first gave you the hypothetical, the
first thing I asked you is the person that is holding the arms is
equally guilty as the person who punched. You said, no,
because there should be more because the other person is
doing more. Do you remember

that?

A: It's not exactly the way I answered. Well —

Q: Is that correct? Is that how you feel?

A: The way I answered the person who did the beating is
probably leader. He probably influenced the other people.
Maybe they did it just to please him. There are lots of
different reasons could be, and if at the end you say anyway
aggravating circumstances are outweigh mitigating,

Q: We are just talking about the first part of the hypothetical.
We will get to the other part.

A: Ithink he is less guilty.

Q: And that's what you said before.

A: He might be less guilty.

Q: Now I added they facts. I said now let's consider the person
that is being beaten died, it's murder in the first degree and the
special circumstances have been found to be true, then I said
with the -- if the aggravating circumstances substantially
outweigh the mitigating, would you be able to impose the
death penalty on the person holding the arms?

A: Yes.

Q: You said, "no."

A: Maybe I don't remember,

but I think you did not mention the comparison of
circumstances before.

Q: Tdid.

A: Or I just missed it, sorry.

Q: Okay. Because I did ask you that and
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you have now changed your mind.
A: No, I didn't change my mind, probably I didn't hear you.
Q: And you also said that someone has to be bad in order to
impose the death penalty upon them, do you recall saying that?
A: Yes.
Q: Are you changing your mind with

" respect to that?
A: No.
Q: You still believe somebody has to be
of bad character and have some history or some person who
can do it to another person.
A: Yes, it's a bad person.
Q: And that person, in order for you to impose the death
penalty, you have to believe that that person is bad, correct?
A: Absolutely. (6 RT 1262-1266.)

c. Prosecutors Challenge and the Court’s Ruling

Ultimately, the prosecutor challenged Ms. Hanson stating that she
could not sit because “she had no opinion” as to the imposition of the death
penalty or whether California should even have the death penalty.
(6 RT 1270.) The prosecutor also challenged on the grounds that Ms.
Hanson could not be relied upon to impose the death penalty because she
gave confusing answers to the “assault” hypothetical. The prosecutor
further stated that the juror could not sit because she would only impose
death on a “bad” person, (6 RT 1270-1271.)

Counsel opposed the challenge. (6 RT 1271.) The court granted the
challenge on the grounds that she gave conflicting answers, that she could

only execute a bad person, interpreting that to mean that the juror would
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only execute a person of prior bad character. The court also said that the
Juror failed to speak audibly. (6 RT 1271-1272.) The court held “she is not
an appropriate juror for this case.” (6 RT 1273)
d. Application of the Law to the Challenge
This was yet another perfectly qualified juror who was wrongly
excused despite being able to impose either penalty.

As stated, the “assault” hypothetical is fatally flawed. It misstates the
law and is inherently confusing. The guilt of the holder depends on his
intent. If the prospective Juror does not know the holder’s intent, she
cannot answer the question. Not only did the prosecutor once again refuse
to expand the hypothetical so it made legal sense, she directly told the juror
that she must give an answer without further information about the intent of
the holder. (6 RT 1262.)

This voir dire was yet another cynical exercise in which the
prospective juror was asked an inherently unanswerable question and was
dismissed for not blindly answering it to the satisfaction of a prosecutor
with an agenda that went far beyond the selection of a fair Jury. Ms. Hanson
did her best to try to answer a series of deliberately confusing questions
from the prosecutor as to these “hypotheticals.” However, she had no real
knowledge of the law and how the aiding and abetting law actually

operated. Instead, the prosecutor forced her to guess. Neither the prosecutor
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nor the court had any intention of informing the jurors as to what aiding and
abetting actually signified in the hypothetical given. (8 RT 1589 et seq.)

By doing so, the court missed the entire purpose of the Hovey Vdir
dire. The purpose of this process is not to probe a juror’s misconceptions
about the law. Obviously, very few jurors in our system of jurisprudence
understand much about the law before they arrive at the courthouse door

‘and fewer still understand the intricacies of California’s death penalty
scheme.

The trial court’s role in this process is to inform them of the pertinent
law. In a death penalty case, this responsibility acquires an additional
significance, as the law of Wiz requires that the court determine whether the
prospective juror could set aside any of her personal beliefs and follow the
statutory death penalty scheme. Therefore, it is essential for the prospective
Juror to understand that law so that the key determination under Wi may be
made. |

In this case, the court and prosecutor deliberately kept the
prospective jurors in the dark, then asked them to opine on the legal
meaning of inaccurate, confusing and extreme hypotheticals. The court
never once intervened to disabuse a prospective juror of any legal
misconceptions and ask said juror if he or she could follow the law as it was

written.
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The questioning regarding whether a person would have to be “bad”
before Ms. Hanson could impose the death penalty was not only
misleading, it was based upon the utterly absurd premise that a juror who
cannot execute a “good” person should be dismissed under Witt. Ms.
Hanson was perfectly content to follow the law. She framed the issue of
guilt and punishment in terms of the word “bad,” which was exactly the
term that the court used in describing aggravating factors.

The prosecutor’s statement that Ms. Hanson should be dismissed
because she didn’t have any fixed beliefs as to the death penalty again
shows how far this prosecutor would go to remove open-minded people
from this jury. There is absolutely nothing requiring that a prospective juror
must have an opinion about the legislative wisdom of the death penalty to
be allowed to sit. Ms. Hanson said she could remain open minded and
follow the instructions of the court. The fact that she really had not given
much thought to the death penalty was irrelevant.

The court’s apparent frustration that the juror did not speak as audibly
as he would have liked while having absolutely nothing to do with the
constitutional fitness of Ms. Hanson to sit on appellant’s jury, was
indicative of the trial court’s fundamental misunderstanding of its duty to
provide appellant with a fairly constituted jury. It was yet another specious

reason to cast off yet another open-minded, intelligent prospective juror.
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Ms. Hanson and the other prospective Jurors had the constitutional
expectation that if they could follow the law and subrogate their personal
feelings to it they could sit on this most solemn tribunal. Jamelle
Armstrong had that constitutional expectation as well. Instead, yet another
Juror was subjected to sophistic, cynical, confusing and at times hostile
questioning by the prosecutor, questioning intended from the outset to
dismiss a prospective juror that the prosecutor thought might question a
clear, unobstructed path to the death chamber.

Another qualified, open-minded and intelligent person was sent
home for all the wrong reasons. Appellant was once again deprived of a
constitutionally constituted jury to decide whether he lived or died. The
Judgment of death must be reversed.

7. PROSPECTIVE JUROR LORRAINE MENDOZA- #3058
a. Questionnaire Responses

Lorraine Mendoza was a thirty year old woman of Spanish descent.
(26 CT 7474.) She stated that she has always been “open-minded” to the
death penalty, (26 CT 7510, Q 178-179) and that she supports the ultimate
penalty. (26 CT 7511, Q 188.) She also indicated that death was the worse
penalty. (26 CT 7512, Q 198.) Ms. Mendoza further stated that she had no
personal convictions that would make it difficult for her to impose the death

penalty and she could decide the penalty on the facts according to the law
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given by the judge. (26 CT 7521-7522, Q 199-200.) She could impose the
death penalty depending on the case and would not vote automatically for
either penalty. (26 CT 7514-7515 Q209, 215-218.) She also indicated that
life without parole was the worse penalty. (26 CT 7517, Q 227.)
b. Oral Voir Dire

Ms. Mendoza clearly stated that she favored neither penalty and
would be able to follow the court’s instructions in determining which one to
impose. (6 RT 1062-1064.)

The prosecutor accused the juror of not being able to impose the
death penalty because the prospective juror did not have any strong
opinions about it. (6 RT 1068.) Ms. Mendoza summarily rejected this
illogical presumption and assured the prosecutor that her determination of
penalty would depend solely on the evidence, ({bid.) Ms. Mendoza was
then presented the “assault” hypothetical to which she responded by stating
that she could impose death for the holder. (6 RT 1072. ) Trying to provoke
the juror into changing her answer, the prosecutor told Ms. Mendoza that
she noted a hesitancy in her answer. Ms. Mendoza explained her answer
was reflective of the time she needed to picture the question in her mind.
(Ibid)

In her questionnaire, Ms. Mendoza stated that life without parole

could be the worse of the two penalties because the defendant would have
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to carry the guilt his entire life. The prosecutor then asked a series of
objectionable questions in the vein that if a life without possibility of parole -
prisoner appealed his sentence it meant that he was not living with guilt. (6
RT 1080-1081.)

The prospective juror said that if the bad evidence substantially
outweighed the good she would vote for death. However, the prosecutor
then told her that you never have to give the death sentence, and the juror
then stated that she would give it in the worst cases. (6 RT 1083-1084.)
Upon further questioning by appellant’s counsel, Ms. Mendoza stated that if
the bad evidence substantially outweighed the good she would impose the
death sentence. (6 RT 1087.)

¢. Prosecutor’s Challenge and Court Ruling
The prosecutor challenged Ms. Mendoza on the ground that her
personal belief that life without parole is the worst of the two sentenced left
her substantially impaired. (6 RT 1088) Over counsel’s objection , the court
granted the challenge for this reason. (6 RT 1089.)
d. Application of the Law to the Challenge
The crux of voir dire was not whether the prospective juror believed
that life in prison was the worse of the two penalties. It was whether Ms.
Mendoza could set aside her personal beliefs and follow the law. There was

nothing at all in her voir dire that indicated she could not do so. Ms.
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Mendoza plainly told the prosecutor that she could impose the death penalty
if the aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the mitigating. (6
RT 1071-1072.) Ms. Mendoza stated once again that she could impose
death on the “holder” in the assault hypothetical. (6 RT 1072.) She also
specifically stated that she could put her personal feelings aside and listen to
the court’s instructions and follow the law. (6 RT 1075.)

Further, Ms. Mendoza stated that if the bad outweighed the good she
would have to vote for the death sentence. <6 RT 1082-1083.) It was only
then after a series of leading and suggestive questions by the prosecutor that
Ms. Mendoza stated that it was her “opinion” and “belief” that life without
parole might be the proper sentence in such a situation, because, to her it
was the worse of the two sentences. (6 RT 1083-1084.)

There was nothing at all in this exchange to suggest that Ms.
Mendoza was unable to aside any personal feelings and follow the law. Her
responses indicated she could do just that. Even if there was an ambiguity,
it was the responsibility of the trial court to resolve it. Yet, the court left
possible ambiguities simply hanging in the air, resolving them in favor of
the prosecution. It is well accepted that trial court must make a good faith
attempt to resolve any ambiguities. (See People v. Heard, supra, 31 Cal.4th
at p. 985.) While great deference is shown by the appellate courts to this

resolution, the resolution must be “fairly supported by the record.” (Ibid.)
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This was not a question of resolution based on a Juror’s “demeanor”
or non-verbal cues. (See People v. Bramit (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1221, 1235.)
Up to the prosecutor’s leading questioning, the prospective juror seemed
quite comfortable in her assessment that she could follow the law. It should
come as no surprise that a trained lawyer, left uncontrolied by the court, can
get an inexperienced prospective juror to state something slightly
contradictory. What was a surprise was the court’s consistent refusal to
attempt to clear up ambiguities by asking some impartial common-sense
questions. It is of note that there wasn’t a single occasion where the court
asked any follow-up questions to any of the dismissed prospective jurors
discussed in this Argument.

The burden was on the prosecution to Justify their challenges. As
with all of the other jurors referenced in this Argument, the burden was not

met. Reversal of the death judgment is the only remedy.

8. PROSPECTIVE JUROR KIBIBI GREEN -#5354
a. Answers to Questionnaires
Kibibi Green was a twenty-four year old African American woman.
(54 CT 15882.) Her answers to the death penalty related questions showed
absolutely no constitutional infirmity as to her service. She stated that the

death penalty was appropriate “if the nature of the crime permits that.” (54
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CT 15917, Q 178.) She stated that her death penalty views had not changed
over the years. (/bid., Q 182.) She felt that California was right to have the
death penalty (Ibid., Q 186) and indicated that she could impose the death
penalty depending on the case. (Ibid.,, Q 186-193.) She also stated that death
was the worse of the two penalties. (54 CT 15919, Q 197.) She said that the
purpose of the death penalty was “to serve justice on the criminal.” (54 CT
15918, Q 192))
b. Oral Voir Dire
After hearing the court’s explanation of the sentencing

process, Ms. Green unambiguously stated that she would never vote
automatically for either penalty. (11 RT 2212-2214.) She then stated that if
the aggravating factors substantially outweighed the mitigating factors, she
could return a verdict of death and would do so based upon the legal
instructions given by the court. (11 RT 2214.) She was personally neutral as
to the penalty and could be fair to both sides.

In response to the “assault” hypothetical, Ms. Green stated that she
could impose the death penalty on both perpetrators. (11 RT 2217-2218.)
She also stated that she could impose death for crime like the ones which
appellant stood accused. (11 RT 2224.)

After the prosecutor re-explained the sentencing procedure, Ms.

Green confirmed that she could follow the law and find for death where
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appropriate. (11 RT 2221 -) Then the prosecutor presented her with the
“bank robbery” hypothetical. Ms. Green indicated that while the people
serving as the lookout and the wheelman were guilty of robbery, they were
not guilty of murder under her rather limited knowledge of the law. (11 RT
2242-2245.)

The following exchange then occurred concerning the burden of
proof.

Q: (By prosecutor) Okay, question no. 44, it says, "what

are your opinions in general about criminal defense

attorneys?" And you put, "there to prove innocence."

Answer: Yes.

Question: Are you going to require the defense

to prove their client to be innocent?

Answer: Yes. (11 RT 2245-2246.)

No further inquiry would be made about Ms. Green’s above
statement which was completely out of character with the rest of her written
and oral voir dire.

Follow up questioning by appellant’s counsel better explained the
felony murder concept as it pertained to the bank robbery hypothetical.
Once the juror better understood what the law required, she stated that she

could hold all three participants liable as required by the law. (11 RT 2246-

2253.)
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¢. Prosecutor’s Challenge and Court’s Ruling

Appellant passed Ms. Green for cause. The prosecutor challenged the
juror for cause on the basis that the prospective juror would make the
defense prove the innocence of appellant. (11 RT 2254-2255.) The
prosecutor stated that even though Ms. Green’s misapprehension of the law
would not prejudice the prosecution, she could not sit as a juror. (11 RT
2255.)

Appellant’s counsel argued that Ms. Green’s response to the burden
of proof question was appropriate and understandable and did not signify
that she didn’t believe in the presumption of innocence. (1T'RT 2256-2257.)
Counsel then requested that the court allow him to reopen the questioning.
(11 RT 2260.) The court refused to do so. The court instead granted the

challenge solely on the presumption of innocence grounds stating;

One of the important things, of course, in assessing jurors in
this case. If I don't grant the cause now, I'll grant the cause at
the general voir dire. But we the question I keep coming
back to, specifically, is when Ms. Locke-Noble asked
question no. 44, on whether or not the defense would have to
prove the innocence of their client, and she said, "yes." And
that was after the court gave the instruction of reasonable
doubt and the defendant's presumption of innocence. If I
retain this juror, what will happen is one of two things,
assuming an adverse decision is with Mr. Armstrong; either
they will argue that this court kept a juror that it should not
have kept, because justice demands or in the alternative, they
will argue that that is what is going to happen, and I can't let
it happen, because then we will have to do this all over again.
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In fairness to Mr. Armstrong, he is presumed innocent in my

eyes until 12 people say otherwise, and he is presumed

innocent. The burden is on the people. This juror

sees it differently, that the burden is on the criminal

defense attorney to prove the innocence of their client.

even after I instructed 2.90, at the very beginning, and this

questionnaire was filled out on the day that I gave that

instruction, which is fresh in her mind. I will grant the cause

in the interest of Mr. Armstrong's presumption of innocence.

(11 RT 2262-2263.)

d. Application of Law to the Challenge

Ms. Green passed all of the prosecutor’s tortured tests as to her
fitness under Witherspoon/Witt. This Juror was excused because she thought
that a defense attorney’s job was to prove defendant’s innocence. The word
“innocence” is used interchangeably with “not guilty” by a large segment of
the public. This did not mean she had a set view as to the burden proof that
would preclude her from sitting as a Juror. Only a few questions of the oral
voir dire were addressed to this subject, as well as a single written question.
There was nothing else in either the oral or written voir dire that would
suggest that this prospective juror in any way rejected this fundamental
axiom of American jurisprudence. She had never sat on a jury before (26
CT 15889), and likely was not aware of the burden of proof.

Appellant’s counsel realized he should have probed further and after

the questioning was over, he asked the court to be allowed to reopen the
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voir dire on this subject. For some completely inexplicable reason the court
refused to allow this area to be further explored.

It was not as if this court was placing strict time and contént limits of
the voir dire in this case. To say that the jury selection process in this case
was exhaustive is a grand understatement. The prosecutor was allowed to
spend endless hours on irrelevant hypotheticals, trick questions, and
outright deception and argument with the prospective jurors. Yet the court
could not take a few moments to personally inquire into whether this juror
could obey the law of presumption of innocence. If the court was truly
interested in protecting Mr. Armstrong’s constitutional interests, it would
have personally conducted an impartial voir dire into Ms. Green’s brief
statements as to the presumption of innocence and role of counsel.

It is of note that none of the eight prospective jurors discussed up to
this point had any fundamental problem with the imposition of the death
penalty. They all unequivocally stated that they could impose it if the
aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the mitigating. Yet, all
were dismissed.

Once again, another qualified prospective juror was removed for
cause; a “cause” that most likely was far less of a cause than a moment of
confusion by a twenty-four year old young woman inexperienced in the

workings of the criminal justice system. A few instructions and questions
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by the court would likely have cleared up any ambiguity as to Ms. Green.
The court could have carefully explained the law to the Juror and asked if
she could follow it. The court’s error requires reversal.

9. PROSPECTIVE JUROR CHRISTINA CLARK #9432

a. Questionnaire Responses

Christina Clark was a twenty-five year old Afro-American woman.
(18 CT 5175.) In response to the questionnaire, Ms Clark’ indicated that she
thought the death penalty to be cruel. (18 CT 5211, Q 178.) She also stated
that she thought that the death penalty should be abolished. (18 CT 5212,Q
187.)

However, Ms. Clark stated that she could impose the death penalty
“depending on the facts.” (18 CT 5213, Q 196.) She had no personal beliefs
that would preclude or make it difficult for her to vote for the death penalty
and could decide the penalty on the facts and law as given by the court. (18
CT 5213-5214, Q 199-200.) She also indicated she would consider the
evidence in deciding which penalty to impose. (18 CT 5215, Q 209-210.)
Further, she stated that she would not automatically vote for either
punishment. (18 CT 5216, Q215-218.) She did express concern that
imposing the death penalty is “in a sense playing God.’; (18 CT 5217, Q

222.)
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b. Oral Voir

Upon being questioned by appellant’s counsel, the prospective juror
stated that if a person was convicted of murder with special circumstances
she could vote for either penalty with an open mind, and that her decision
would depend on the evidence. (4 RT 685-686.) After the prosecutor spent a
good deal of time trying to convince Ms. Clark that her personal dislike for
the death penalty would prevent her from following the law (4 RT 687-
690), the juror made clear that if she had no doubt that a defendant
committed the crime, she could impose the death penalty but it would have
to be demonstrated that the defendant planned it. (4 RT 691-694.)

Appellant’s counsel then directly addressed the only relevant area of

inquiry;

Q:... if you're selected to be on this case,

the court is going to give you certain jury

instructions, which is the law.

A: Okay.

Q: No matter how you feel about the death penalty and in
playing god, if the instructions called for a decision, either
life without parole or he death penalty, can you follow that
law?

A: Yes.

Q: And is it your mind set that in every single case where a
juror is to decide the punishment, that you're, in every case,
automatically going to vote for life without parole?

A: No.

Q: All right. There are some situations, depending on the
circumstances, that you would vote for death?

A: Tbelieve so; yes.
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Q: And one of the things, in your mind, is having it proven to
you that the defendant committed those crimes, number one,
correct?

A: Uh-huh. That's correct.

Q: And something else you've talked about is it being
planned?

A: Uh-huh.

Ms. Locke-Noble: Is that yes?.

A: Yes.

Q: Are you saying that it was intentional on the defendant's
part, something that was thought about beforehand?

A: Yes. (4 RT 696-697.)

The prosecutor then confirmed that Ms. Clark could indeed follow

the law.

Q: Okay. You indicated that --

when counsel asked you if you could vote for death, you
indicated that you believe so. You hesitated, and then
you said, "I believe so," and you nodded your head in

the affirmative. Do you recall that?

A: Yes, I do.

Q: Okay. Now, we need to know for sure whether or not you
could impose the death penalty, not whether or not you
believe or don't

believe, but whether or not you could.

A: Yes, I could.

Q: Now, taking that into

consideration, all of the questions and answers on the jury
questionnaire -- because you personally believe that imposing
the death penalty would be playing god, correct?

A: That's what you --

Q: That's what you put in your questionnaire, correct?

A: That is what I put in my questionnaire, yes.

Q: And that's what you believe, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: So do you believe you could play God?

A: Yes. (4 RT 698-699)
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c. Prosecutor’s Challenge and the Court’s Ruling
The prosecutor challenged Ms. Clark for cause because he did not
believe that she was telling the truth. The prosecutor referred to the
prospective juror’s “mannerisms,” hesitations,” “shrugging of the
shoulders,” and the fact that she stated on the questionnaire that she knew
people who had been arrested but did not list them by name. (4 RT 704-
706.)

Over appellant’s objection, the court granted the prosecutor’s
challenge. It stated that while Ms. Clark’s statements were truthful, they
were inconsistent. While she expressed a feeling that the death penalty was
cruel, she indicated that she could impose it. The court further indicated
that the juror stated that she would prefer that California not have the death
penalty and at one point she said that “in a sense” only God can take life
although she agreed that in this capacity she could play God. Based on the
above, the court held that it could not be sure that the juror would follow
the law. (4 RT 710-713.)

d. Application of the Law to the Challenge
Appellant will not restate the laW that has been discussed at length
above. However, it is clear from that law that this was yet another
improperly excused juror. Ms. Clark came to the courthouse to do her duty

as a juror. Like every other prospective juror who heeds the summons to

134



serve, she came with far more knowledge as to how she generally “felt”
about certain issues than she did of the substance of the law that she would
have to follow if she was chosen to sit.

Ms. Clark came to the court with a certain sense of personal
discomfort about imposing the death penalty. She personally thought it was
a cruel thing to do and a little too close to playing God for her liking.

However, Ms. Clark came to the courthouse with something else; a
fundamental and very American sense that we are a nation of law and that
the law must be followed. This is exactly what Ms. Clark said she would
do. Ms. Clark understood that her reluctance to casually impose the
ultimate penalty on a fellow human being must be subrogated to the need to
follow the law. While she did not fully articulate this view at the outset of
the questioning, after she came to the understanding of her obligation under
the law, she indicated that she could indeed follow the law, and for this one
instance “play God.”

Under the law of Witherspoon, Witt, and Stewart, Ms. Clark said
absolutely nothing that disqualified her to sit. As was her wont, the
prosecutor did not seem to écknowledge the unambiguous words spoken by
Ms. Clark. Instead, she fixated on the prospective juror’s “shrugs,”
“hesitancy” and “mannerisms.” As seen over and over again in this

argument, this prosecutor was satisfied with nothing less than a juror who
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could state without the slightest human pause or sense of the magnitude of
the question that he or she would gladly and without hesitancy sentence a
man to death. Any juror who showed any sense of the solemnity of the
process was deemed inconclusive or untruthful.

The prosecutor’s characterization of Ms. Clark as being untruthful
was rejected by the court. She could set aside her personal feelings to the
greater imperative of the law. She unambiguously stated on several
occasions that she could impose the death penalty if the actions of appellant
were “planned.” The entire theory of the prosecution was that the attack on
the victim was planned and that appellant knowingly participated in the
attack.

The fact that the court could not be “sure” Ms. Clark could follow
the law is simply a part of the humén condition. Without first hearing the
evidence no one can ever be one hundred per cent “sure” that they can say
“death” to a fellow human being until the time comes to do it. However,
there was nothing in this voir dire to suggest that Ms. Clark could not. Any
ambiguity could have been clarified by additional questioning.

Yet another prospective juror, whose only failing was that she was
not an enthusiast about the death penalty, was improperly excluded from
this jury. Ms. Clark clearly was one of those Jurors discussed in Witt and

Witherspoon who qualified to sit in spite of her personal opinions because
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she was able to subrogate her likes and dislikes to the greater good of the

law.

There is no other remedy than to reverse the Jjudgment of death.

II. THE TRIAL COURT’S DENIAL OF APPELLANT’S
WHEELER/BATSON MOTIONS AND MOTION FOR A
MISTRIAL VIOLATED STATE LAW AND THE SIXTH AND
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION AND DEMANDS REVERSAL OF THE
ENTIRE JUDGMENT
INTRODUCTION

As stated in Argument I, and incorporated herein, appellant was
unconstitutionally deprived of his right to a properly constituted penalty
phase jury by the improper exclusion in the Hovey stage of the voir dire of
prospective jurors who clearly stated they could follow the law regarding
the imposition of penalty.

In addition to the trial court’s ninefold error vis a vis the law of
Wainwright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. 412 and People v. Stewart, supra, 33
Cal.4th 425, a pattern arose as to those prospective jurors who the
prosecutor wanted excused from the jury. Of the nine improperly excused
prospective jurors excused in the penalty qualifying voir dire, six were

either black, Hispanic or Jewish. Two others were born outside of the

United States and immigrated to this country.
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This case was racially charged to an extraordinary degree. Appellant
and his two co-defendants were young African-American males. The
victim was a lone middle-aged white woman. F urther, appellant testified
that the woman instituted the attack by calling appellant and his friends
“niggers.” (23 RT 4926-4928.) There can be absolutely no doubt that it was
in the prosecutor’s interest to cull from the Jjury as many African-
Americans and other minorities as possible.

The prosecutor’s intention to create a Jury virtually devoid of any
minority groups was clearly demonstrated during the peremptory
challenges. A total of six black prospective jurors, four of them male,
survived the Hovey process. Of these, all four black male jurors were
peremptorily challenged by the prosecution. One of the prospective black
jurors, a woman, was seated on the jury, and the seated jury and alternates
were empaneled without the sixth black prospective juror being called to
the jury box.

The end result was that fifteen of sixteen jurors and alternates were
white."” There were no African-American males. The following analysis
will clearly indicate that the final composition of the jury and alternates

thereto was not a result of chance or proper application of the law. It was

2 One of the alternates identified herself as “white/Hispanic”
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the result of a deliberate attempt by the prosecutor to have Mr. Armstrong’s
fate decided by a jury carefully molded by the prosecutor to deprive him of
the constifutionally mandated benefit of an impartial jury drawn from a
representative cross section of the community.

As such, no conviction resulting from a jury so composed can be
allowed to stand without violating both the law of the State of California
and the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution. The entire judgment against Mr. Armstrong should be
reversed.

A. GENERAL LAW AS TO THE DISCRIMINATORY EXERCISE
OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

It is indisputable that the United States Supreme Court has held that
the Equal Protection and Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth
Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibit the prosecution from
discriminatorily exercising its peremptory challenges on the basis of a

juror’s race or membership in a cognizable group. (Batson v. Kentucky
(1986) 476 U.S. 79, 84-87; Miller-El v. Dretke (2005) 545 U.S. 231,238
(“Miller-E1 11" In addition, this prohibition also rests upon a defendant’s
state and federal constitutional right to an impartial jury drawn from a

representative cross-section of the community. (Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at
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p. 89; People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258, 265-273; People v. Lenix
(2008) 44 Cal.4th 602, 612.; Calif. Const., art. I, sec. 16; U.S. Const.,
Amend. VL)

Moreover, as this a capital case, appellant’s Eighth Amendment
right to a reliable and non-arbitrary finding of guilt, death eligibility, and
the appropriate punishment were violated as was his right to be tried by an
impartial jury under the Sixth Amendment. (See Turner v. Murray (1986)
476 U.S. 28, 35.)

Citing to cases of long standing, the High Court in Batson set forth

the constitutional rationale for the above law.

Purposeful racial discrimination in selection of the venire
violates a defendant's right to equal protection because it
denies him the protection that a trial by jury is intended to
secure. “The very idea of a jury is a body ... composed of the
peers or equals of the person whose rights it is selected or
summoned to determine; that is, of his neighbors, fellows,
associates, persons having the same legal status in society as
that which he holds.” Strauder v. West Virginia (1880) 100
U.S. 303, 308; see Carter v. Jury Comm'n of Greene County,
396 U.S. 320, 330, 90 S.Ct. 518, 524, 24 L.Ed.2d 549 (1970).
The petit jury has occupied a central position in our system of
justice by safeguarding a person accused of crime against the
arbitrary exercise of power by prosecutor or judge. Duncan v.
Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 1451, 20
L.Ed.2d 491 (1968) (Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at pp. 86-87.)

Referring again to Stauder, the Batson Court stated the “venire must

be ‘indifferently chosen,” to secure the defendant's right under the
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Fourteenth Amendment to ‘protection of life and liberty against race or
color prejudice.”” (Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at pp. 86-87 citing to Strauder,
supra, 100 U.S., at 309.)

By the above, Batson made clear that the rational for its holding
went far beyond pigmentation or the chance place of national origin. Its
holdings were fundamental to the very essence to the founding principles
of this country; that the primary function of the United States Constitution
is to protect the people from an over aggressive sovereign who abuses the
power that has been granted to it by the people.

Batson further made it clear that the ban on this sort of racial
discrimination not only rests upon the constitutional rights of the accused.
With an emphasis on the founding principles of this nation the Batson
Court stated, “The harm from discriminatory jury selection extends beyond
that inflicted on the defendant and the excluded juror to touch the entire
community. Selection procedures that purposefully exclude black persons
from juries undermine public confidence in the fairness of our system of
justicé.” (Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at p. 87.) As stated in Miller-El v.
Dretke, supra, 545 U.S. at p. 238 "...the very integrity of the courts is
jeopardized when a prosecutor’s discrimination ‘invites cynicism

respecting in the jury’s neutrality.”” [citation omitted.]
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This Court in People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 256, 266-267 set
forth why a “cognizable group” is so defined and the rationale behind their

designation in the law.

In a series of decisions beginning almost four decades ago the
United States Supreme Court has held that an essential
prerequisite to an impartial jury is that it be drawn from “a
representative cross-section of the community.” The rationale
of these decisions, often unstated, is that in our
heterogeneous society jurors will inevitably belong to diverse
and often overlapping groups defined by race, religion, ethnic
or national origin, sex, age, education, occupation, economic
condition, place of residence, and political affiliation; that it
is unrealistic to expect jurors to be devoid of opinions,
preconceptions, or even deep-rooted biases derived from their
life experiences in such groups; and hence that the only
practical way to achieve an overall impartiality is to
encourage the representation of a variety of such groups on
the jury so that the respective biases of their members, to the
extent they are antagonistic, will tend to cancel each other
out.

A similar definition was set forth in People v. Estrada (1979) 93
Cal.App.3d 76, 90, citing to United States v. Guzman (S.D.N.Y.1972) 337
F.Supp. 140, 143-144, affirmed 468 F.2d 1245 (2d Cir.), certiorari denied
410 U.S. 937.

A group to be “cognizable” . . . must have a definite

composition . . There must be some factor which defines and

limits the group. A cognizable group is not one whose

membership shifts from day to day or whose members can be

arbitrarily selected. Secondly, the group must have cohesion.
There must be a common thread which runs through the
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group, a basic similarity in attitudes or ideas or experience

which is present in members of the group and which cannot

be adequately represented if the group is excluded from the

jury selection process. F inally, there must be a possibility that

exclusion of the group will result in partiality or bias on the

part of the juries hearing cases in which group members are

involved. That is, The group must have a community of

interest which cannot be protected by the rest of the

populace.

However, even in the light of the above, it is clear that the
prosecutor has the right to peremptorily challenge any prospective juror for
non-discriminatory purposes, even of that prospective juror is a member of
a “cognizable group.” It is the balancing the interests of the prosecutor, the
defense and the court system as a whole that has'occupied the attention of
both the United States Supreme Court and this Court over the years. As
stated by the Miller-El IT Court

The rub has been the practical difficulty of ferreting out

discrimination in selections discretionary in nature, and

choices subject to myriad legitimate influences, whatever the

race of the individuals on the penal from which jurors are

selected. (Miller-El v. Dretke, supra, 545 U.S. at 238.)

To this end, the High Court established the now familiar formula
that the trial court must follow in its determination as to whether the

prosecutor has engaged in prohibited discrimination in the exercise of a

peremptory challenge or whether that challenge was based upon “race-
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neutral” reasons. The formula is comprised of a three part inquiry. First,
the defendant is initially burdened with establishing a prima facie case of
discrimination “by showing that the totality of the relevant facts gives rise
to an inference that the peremptory challenges are being used for a
discriminatory purpose.” (Johnson v. California (2005) 545 U.S. 162, 168
citing to Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at 93-94.) |

Second, “once the defendant has made out a prima facie case, the
‘burden shifts to the State to explain adequately the racial exclusion’ by
offering permissible race-neutral justifications for the strikes.” (Johnson,
supra 545 U.S. at p. 168 citing to Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at 94.)
The third step is “[i]f a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the trial court
must then decide ... whether the opponent of the strike has proved
purposeful racial discrimination.” (Johnson, supra, 545 at p. 168.)

In Johnson v. California, supra, 545 U.S. 162, the High Court
specifically set forth how these three steps interacted in the final resolution
of the issue of the discriminatory exercise of peremptory challenges.
Johnson made it clear that in order to meet the first step, the defendant did
not have to prove that it was “more likely than not” that the prosecutor’é
challenge was discriminatory. (Johnson, supra at p. 168.) The Court made

clear that in Batson

144



We did not intend for the first step to be so onerous that the

defendant would have to persuade the judge-on the basis of

all the facts, some of which are impossible for the defendant

to know with certainty-that the challenge was more likely

than not the product of purposeful discrimination. Instead, a

defendant satisfies the requirements of Batson's first step by

producing evidence sufficient to permit the trial judge to

draw an inference that discrimination has occurred. (Johnson

atp. 170.)

Further, the defendant could make this prima facie showing by
reliance on the “totality of relevant facts about a prosecutor’s conduct
during defendant’s own trial.” (Batson v. Kentucky supra, 476 U.S. 94, 96.)
It 1s at this point that the prosecutor must present an explanation for the
strike. This step does not represent a “shift in burden” to the prosecutor, as
the ultimate burden always remains with the challenger of the strike.
(Johnson, supra, at p. 170.) This step is merely a procedural device to get
to the court’s determination of whether there was a discriminatory exercise
of the challenge. (/bid.) “It is not until the third step that the
persuasiveness of the justification becomes relevant - the step in which the
trial court determines whether the opponent of the strike has carried his
burden of proving purposeful discrimination.” (Ibid.)

It is the third step that ultimately involves the trial court. At this

point, it is not sufficient for the trial court to take the prosecutor’s

explanation at its face value. (Miller El- II, supra, 545 U.S. 545 U.S. at p.
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248; People v. Fuentes (1991) 54 Cal.3d 707, 720; Williams v. Rhoades G
Cir 2004) 354 F.4th 1101, 1108.) Instead, the trial court must conduct a
determination as to whether the reason tendered for the challenge was race-
neutral or simply pretextual for racial discrimination. As stated in Miller-El
11, supra, 545 U.S. at 239,

Although there may be any number of bases on which a

prosecutor reasonable [might] believe it is desirable to strike

a juror that is not excusable for cause...the prosecutor must

give a clear and reasonably specific explanation of his

legitimate reasons for exercising the challenge...The trial

court then will have the duty to determine if the defendant
has established purposeful discrimination.

B. QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSES AND “HOVEY” VOIR DIRE OF
THE FOUR IMPROPERLY CHALLENGED “BATSON” JURORS

Prior to analysis of the peremptory challenges of the above
mentioned four black male prospective jurors along the guidelines of the
above stated law, it is necessary to examine both who these people were
and the nature to their responses to both the questionnaire and the Hovey
voir dire questioning.

1. Shawn Leonard- # 3385

a. Questionnaire
Mr. Leonard was a 34 year old African-American male who had

two minor children. (VI CT 1442.) He served his country in the United
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States Navy and was decorated for his service in the first Gulf War. (VICT
1444-1445.) At the time of the trial, he was working for the United States
Postal Service. (VI CT 1445.)

Mr. Leonard felt very positively about the jury system, feeling that it
was “part of our democratic process.” (VI CT 1449, Q 30.) He felt that
sittiﬂg on the jury was a “civic obligation” that he would be glad to fulfill
(VICT 1450 Q 37; CT 1469, Q. 137.) He also specifically rejected the
concept that Black-Americans are usually unfairly treated in our society.
(VICT 1468, Q 133.)

Regarding his opinion as to the imposition of the death penalty, Mr.
Leonard felt that in the proper circumstances death would be a just
punishment. (VI CT 1478, Q 178-179.) Although he stated that he thought
that life without parole was worse than death for a defendant (VICT 1480,
Q. 198), he stated that it would depend on the facts whether he would
impose the death penalty. (Ibid., Q 196.; VI CT 1482, Q 209.) He further
stated that he would not automatically vote for or against either penalty.
(VICT 1483, Q 214-215.) He believed that the death penalty was a proper
penalty to keep a defendant from killing again. (CT 1484 Q 223))

b. Hovey Oral Voir Dire

After the trial court explained the relationship of aggravators and

mitigators and the weighing process in a death penalty case, Mr. Leonard
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clearly stated that he would not vote automatically for either penalty. (9 RT
1725-1728.) In response to questioning by appellant’s counsel, Mr.
Leonard again made it clear that he could impose the death penalty
“depending on the evidence and the background...” (9 RT 1728-1730.)
Further, Mr. Leonard told counsel that he would only vote for life if he felt
that appellant could be “rehabilitated” in prison. (9 RT 1730.)

Mr. Leonard stated that he thought that life in prison was a worse
penalty than death because “the person would have the rest of their life to
pay for what they did.” He further stated his decision would be controlled
by the “good vs. bad” as described by the judge. (9 RT 1732). Mr. Leonard
further explained “[i]f the person has a history of just hateful decisions, I
think it all comes down to the decisions people make and I think the
background will show some indication, you know, where that person lies
and you know, right or wrong the way that person feels about things right
or wrong.” (1bid.)

The prosecutor then departed completely from the facts of the case and
instituted the following misleading and fundamentally dishonest exchange:

Prosecutor: What if this was the first time a hateful decision

was ever made, would you be able to impose the death

penalty if the aggravating circumstances substantially

outweigh the mitigating circumstances, first time?

Leonard: The first time, people make mistakes. It is a horrible
mistake to make, but if there was something in his
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background. Prosecutor: No, no, there is nothing in the
background. This is the first time.

Leonard: First time.

Prosecutor: First time, no history.

Leonard: Yeah, maybe life in prison would be better then.
Prosecutor: So are you saying you would be unable to impose
either penalty if this was the first time somebody made a
hateful decision.

Leonard: I’'m not sure. I mean a lot of details. I would have to
consider

Prosecutor: But there are no details. This is the first time, no
details..."?

Leonard: I guess I would be swaying towards life in prison, so
I guess that would be my answer. (9 RT 1732-1733.)

After having forced this misleading answer from Mr. Leonard, he
was then given both the “assault” and “bank robbery” hypotheticals. Mr.
Leonard stated that he could impose death on all individuals in these
hypotheticals. (9 RT 1733-1735.) Further, Mr. Leonard stated that he would
not require more than one victim before he could impose the death penalty.
(9 RT 1735-1736.)

The prosecutor then embarked upon a very confusing series of
questions as to which of the special circumstances Mr. Leonard could
impose the death penalty. (9 RT 1736.) It took several iterations of these
questions before Mr. Leonard was able to understand what was being asked.
However, once the prospective juror understood that the murder of the

victim was required for all of the special circumstances, he answered that he

13. Of course, in reality there were “details.” In fact the prosecutor’s penalty case
was replete with evidence of alleged other violent and “hateful” acts of appellant.
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could. (9 RT 1736-1739.) F urther, Mr. Leonard stated that he would be able
to impose the death penalty in a hypothetical in which a person was walking
down the street and impulsively decided to rob a liquor store, killing the
cashier in the process. (9 RT 1742-1743.)

Unable to otherwise show that Mr. Leonard could not impose the
death penalty, the prosecutor once again got him to say that if the instant
crimes were appellant’s first bad acts he would impose life without parole.
(9 RT 1745-1746.) However, upon further consideration, Mr. Leonard
stated that he could impose death. (9RT 1747.)

The prosecutor requested that the court excuse Mr. Leonard for
cause in that his answers to the death penalty questions indicated that he
was substantially impaired because the prospective juror hesitated in some
of his answers and gave inconsistent and disqualifying answers to some of
her questions. (9 RT 1771-1754.) The court denied the cause challenge. (9
RT 1755.)

2. Roscoe Cook - #3654
a. Questionnaire

Mr. Cook was a 64 year old married African-American man. (VI CT
1492.) He had worked in education for the past thirty years and at the time
of the trial was employed as an assistant principal. (VI CT 1495, Q 7.) He

also possessed a doctorate in education. (VICT 1497, Q 19.) Mr. Cook also
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served on a prior murder jury and pledged that he would do the best that he
could to be a good juror, having no personal beliefs that would prevent him
from judging another. (VI CT 1499, Q 30-32.) When asked about his
feelings about sitting on a jury he stated “It is my duty as a citizen!” and
that he would pay attention and be honest. (VICT 1500, Q 37-38.)

Mr. Cook harbored no animus against the criminal justice system,
feeling that it was doing the best that it could and that it was the criminals
themselves that were responsible for the crime problem. (VICT 1515, Q
112; VICT 1514, Q 103.) He also strongly believed in “innocent until
proven guilty.” (VI CT 1516, Q 116.)

Mr. Cook stated that he had been exposed to racial prejudice and
had been called “nigger.” (VI CT 1518, Q 129.) However, he indicated that
he did not bear any hard feelings toward non-blacks because of this
(Ibid., Q 133), and reiterated that he could be an impartial juror because he
was a “fair person” and would do his “best no matter what.”(VI CT 1519,
Q137-138))

Regarding the death penalty, Mr. Cook stated that there was nothing
about the charges that would prevent him from being fair and impartial. (VI
CT 1528.) He also stated that he had no “general feelings” about the death
penalty (VI CT 1528, Q 178), and was neither disposed for nor against its

imposition. (/bid., Q 186.) Instead, Mr. Cook believed that “each case
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should be weighed on its own” and neither life without parole nor death
should be a mandatory punishment. (VICT 1529, Q188-189.)

Further, Mr. Cook made in clear that depending on the facts, a
person who intentionally kills another without Justification should receive
the death penalty (VI CT 1530, Q 196) and that all evidence should be
considered. (VI CT 1531, Q 206.) In addition, Mr. Cook indicated that he
could not possibly give an opinion on which was the “worse” of the two
penalties. (VI CT 1530, Q 198.) However, he clearly stated that in the
appropriate case he could and would vote for either penalty.”depending
upon info(sic) garnered at trial.” (VICT1532, Q 209-210.) When asked
whether he could impose the death penalty for a felony-murder, Mr. Cook
stated that “evidence will dictate the sentence.” (VICT 1533, Q219.)

b. Oral Voir Dire

Mr. Cook’s answers to both the court’s and appellant’s counsel’s
questions were very consistent with his questionnaire. After being informed
of the penalty weighing process by the court, Mr. Cook affirmed his
understandin.g and acceptance of the law: He also stated that he would not
automatically vote for either penalty. (11 RT 2265-70.) When asked by
counsel whether he had made up his mind as to what penalty would be
appropriate, Mr. Cook answered as any thoughtful, educated person would

in his position. He stated, “Oh, no. How could L,” clearly mirroring his
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previously stated opinion that all facts‘rﬁust first be considered. (11 RT
2271.)

However, as set forth in Argument I, the prosecutor was not
interested in relevant Wit related inquiry. She began by noting that Mr.
Cook had been a vice-principal at the Juvenile Hall and asked him if he had
cver seen appellant there. (11 RT 2272.) Having begun her questioning with
improperly telling Mr. Cook that appellant had a juvenile record, she then
seized upon a tactic she frequently used in trying to dismiss qualified jurors.
(See Argument I, supra.) From the outset, the prosecutor entered into an
adversarial posture with a prospective juror that she did not want on the
Jury. She engaged Mr. Cook in a hostile, confrontational manner
interrupting and chastising Mr. Cook for allegedly not fully answering the
questionnaire inquiry as to Jury service. (11 RT 2272-2275.)

Eventually, she turned her attention to Mr. Cook’s answer to
question 200, in which he stated that he would not set aside his personal
belief system when he was a Jjuror. (11 RT 2276-2277.) The prosecutor
then stated that the juror was going to follow his personal belief system and
not the law. (11 RT 2278.) Mr. Cook proceeded to clear up any
misconception about his attitude by informing the prosecutor that his belief
system included his adherence to the law and that he would indeed follow

the court’s instructions. (11 RT 2279.)
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The prosecutor then intensely questioned Mr. Cook as to his
questionnaire statements that he had no opinion as to the death penalty. Mr.
Cook reiterated that indeed he had no personal feelings about the death
penalty. (11 RT 2279-2280.) The prosecutor then commenced the same type

of intentionally confusing and ultimately spurious exchange.

Prosecutor: Okay. Here’s my question to you. If you don’t
have an opinion regarding the death penalty, how will I know
you will be able to impose it, should it be appropriate?

Mr. Cook: You may not know.

Prosecutor: Because you do not know what your opinion is
regarding the death penalty, right?

Mr. Cook: No, I didn’t say that. I said “I don’t have a
disposition about that.” (11 RT 2280-2281.)

Dissatisfied with the fact that Mr. Cook was not going to allow
himself to be drawn into the prosecutor’s attempt to mischaracterize his
attitudes, the prosecutor continued with her attempt to get Mr. Cook to say

something disqualifying.

Prosecutor: Okay. Do you have an opinion on the death
penalty.

Mr. Cook: Are we talking about the same thing? I said I
didn’t have an opinion about the death penalty—

Prosecutor: Okay.

Mr. Cook: - - one way or the other.

Prosecutor: I said to you, “I wouldn’t be able to know whether
or not you’d be able to impose the death penalty, because you
don’t know what your opinion is on the death penalty.” Do
you recall that..

Mr. Cook: Yes.
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Prosecutor: And then you said that you wouldn’t know. And
I’m asking you how can you impose the death penalty, if you
didn’t know what your opinion is. And you said you had an
opinion. And I said , well, what is it? And you said, well are
we talking about the same thing? It’s kind of confusing.

(11 RT 2281.)

Being an educated, accomplished and logical man, Mr. Cook began
to express some exasperation as to what had suddenly become a completely
disingenuous process.

Mr. Cook: Not to me I just don’t know what you are talking about
part of the time. (11 RT 2281.)

The following exchange then occurred.
Prosecutor: Okay. What part is confusing?
Mr. Cook: Oh man, this is- - you’re asking me questions and
it seems like your asking me the same question in order, and I
don’t always- - I’m not clear on what it is you’re saying. [
didn’t know that this was going to be this kind of exchange or
this kind of questioning and that. But had I known, I would
feel the same, I’d feel exactly what [ am saying to you now.
(11 RT 2282)

In response to Mr. Cook’s plea to get the voir dire back on some
sort of rational track, the prosecutor completely departed from any
semblance of proper questioning and turned this voir dire into a personal
confrontation with Mr. Cook by asking “Do you feel threatened or

something.” (11 RT 2282.) Mr. Cook responded by saying that he did not

feel threatened but felt that the prosecutor was “coming after” him. (/bid.)
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The prosecutor responded that she was “coming after him” because she
needed to know the answer as to how he could impose the death penalty if
he did not have an opinion as to its general application. (11 RT 2282-2283.)
Once again, Mr. Cook responded to this same question again, essentially
telling the prosecutor that without more facts he could not possible say what
he would do. (11 RT 2283.) |

For some reason, the prosecutor then questioned Mr. Cook about

his earlier career in teaching. The following exchange then occurred.

Prosecutor: You were a teacher?

Mr. Cook: Yes.

Prosecutor: Okay. What did you teach?

Mr Cook: Everything

Prosecutor: You taught history?

Mr. Cook: I taught all subjects.

Prosecutor: Okay. Well, what are all subjects to you?
Because see, I don’t know what you taught, because I don’t
know you, and all subjects to you could just be math and
English.. So that’s why I am asking, what subjects did you
teach? (11 RT 2284.)

Exasperated once again at the prosecutor’s refusal to accept his
plainly stated answers, Mr. Cook stated,

You’re amazing. You’re amazing. I taught history, English,

art- - I taught all of the classes that are taught in a regular

curriculum on an elementary level and most of them on a
secondary level.(11 RT 2284.)
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The prosecutor then asked for a side bar conference where she
complained to the judge that Mr. Cook was hostile to and prejudiced against
her. (11 RT 2285.) She claimed that she had never had a prospective juror
demonstrate this sort of attitude. (11 RT 2286.) She then stated that it was
necessary to ask further questions about Mr. Cook’s attitude about her.
Counsel objected because this sort of questioning was outside the Hovey
purview but the court decided to allow this questioning to continue. (11 RT
2286-2288.)

The prosecutor’s questioning about Mr. Cook’s “attitude” continued.
After once again sparring with Mr. Cook and Justifying her own conduct'
(11 RT 2289-2290), the prosecutor yet again returned to the same oft
answered question, as to how Mr. Cook could impose the death penalty if
he had no ethical opinions as to the penalty itself. (11 RT 2290.) Having
already answered this question as best as he could, Mr. Cook had nothing
further to add. (11 RT 2290-2291 .) He did state that he was simply a
citizen doing his duty and respohding to jury duty. (11 RT 2291.) The
prosecutor yet again asked Mr. Cook how could she be sure he could
impose the death penalty as Mr. Cook had no opinion as to the death

penalty. Mr. Cook only could reiterate his prior answer. (11 RT 2291) The

14. The prosecutor provocatively and cynically accused Mr. Cook of simply not
wanting to be in the courtroom.
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prosecutor then asked Mr. Cook whether if he was in her shoes, would he
want a juror such as himself on the jury. (11 RT 2292.) Mr. Cook stated that
he did not have the educational background to answer such a question.
(Ibid.)

The prosecutor then turned her attention to the hypotheticals
discussed in Argument I. Mr. Cook told the prosecutor that he could
impose the death penalty on the person holding the victim’s arms in the
“assault” hypothetical. (11 RT 2294.) Instead of accepting this answer as a
sign that Mr. Cook could impose the death penalty, the prosecutor
immediately went back to asking the same ultimately meaningless question.
“Now, based on your answers, would you say that you are for or against the
death penalty?” (11 RT 2295.) Mr. Cook’s response was once again one of
predictable and justifiable weariness “Lady, I keep telling you the same
thing. I don’t understand why you keep asking me the same thing.” (11 RT
2295))

The prosecutor yet again asked the same question, how Mr. Cook
could impose death if he had no opinion as to the death penalty. Again, Mr.
Cook tried to explain to his inquisitor that he would have to hear all of the
facts before he could make a decision as to the penalty. (11 RT 2296.)

The prosecutor then posited the “bank robbery” hypothetical to Mr.

Cook, who without hesitation indicated that he could impose the death
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penalty on all three of the individuals involved, including the person who
was serving as the “wheelman.” (11 RT 2296-2297.) In spite of the fact
that it was abundantly clear by this time that Mr. Cook was willing to
impose the ldeath penalty even on an abettor who had no direct role in
killing, the prosecutor returned to the same exact irrelevant and provocative
question she had been harassing Mr. Cook with from the outset of the voir
dire. (11 RT 2297.) Counsel objected to the question but the court overruled
the objection. (/bid.) The prosecutor, for at least the fifth time, refused to
accept that Mr. Cook was willing to impose the death penalty (11 RT 2300)
and once again continued to focus on how could the juror impose death if
he had no opinion as to the penalty itself. (11 RT 2300-2301.)"

During the balance of the prosecutor’s questioning, Mr. Cook
made clear that he was a open minded person who could follow the law and
not be biased for or against one side or the other. (11 RT 2302-2316.)

The prosecutor ultimately challenged Mr. Cook for cause stating
that Mr. Cook could not tell her whether he was for or against the death
penalty. (11 RT 2318.) The court denied the challenge for cause, stating that

Mr. Cook’s responses to the questioning indicated that he could follow the

15. This repeated fall-back to this question had absolutely no purpose. Time and
time again, Mr. Cook made it clear that in any number of situations he was
willing to impose the death penalty. Yet the persecutor continued to seek an
answer to what had long since become a moot question.
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law. (11 RT 2320-2322.) The court made it clear that while Mr. Cook did
not answer the prosecutor’s abstract questioning they way that she would
have liked, his answers to the more practical questions was adequate to
show that he qualified under Wirz. (11 RT 2321.)
3. Ethan Walters - #5883
a. Questionnaire

Mr. Walters was a 28 year old, single African-American male. (VI
CT1542.) He had a degree in mechanical engineering and had almost
earned his Masters in astronautics. (VI CT1547.) He was working as an
engineer for Boeing at the time of the trial. (VI CT 1545.) He was also a
member of the National Society of Black Engineers. (VI CT1551, Q 48.)
Mr. Walters made it clear that he did not have any feelings one way or the
other as to his jury service, indicating that he would be a very neutral juror.
(VICT1549, Q 30.) However, he stated that the criminal justice system
worked too slowly. (VI CT 1565, Q112.) He also stated that, as an African-
American, he had been exposed to racism. (VI CT1568, Q 129; VICT
1569, Q 136.)

Regarding the imposition of the death penalty, Mr. Walters stated
that while he was for the death penalty in principle, he felt that it its current
form it served no purpose as the process was so slow. (VI CT 1578, Q 178-

179.) He further stated that the death penalty was not used often enough.
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(Ibid Q 183.) Mr. Walters also stated that if death were executed in a timely
fashion it would deter crime. (VI CT 1579, Q 186.) He also stated that the
death penalty should be imposed for crimes of extreme violence and/or
where rehabilitation seemed unlikely. (/bid , Q191.)

While Mr. Walters stated that he would personally prefer death to
life in prison (VI CT 1580, Q 198; VI CT 1585, 227), he stated depending
on the facts he could vote for either penalty. (VI CT 1579-1583, Q 194-197,
209, 214-215.)

b. Oral Voir Dire

There was nothing in Mr. Walters oral voir dire that indicated in
any way that he would not be a fair and impartial juror who could follow
the law. After the court explained the penalty phase, Mr. Walters stated he
would not automatically vote for either penalty. (12 RT 2394-2398.) He
also stated that there was nothing about the nature of this case that would
preclude him from being a fair juror. (12 RT 2398.) He also stated that
while he indicated on the questionnaire that he would personally prefer a
death sentence for himself, he would follow the law as to the imposition of
the death penalty on appellant. (12 RT 2399.)

In response to counsel’s questioning, Mr. Walters indicated that he

understood the law of aiding and abetting and could follow it vis a vis the
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imposition of death. (12 RT 2400-2401 .) He further stated that he would
consider all factors before he imposed a sentence in this matter.
(12 RT 2403.)

The prosecutor then reviewed the basic penalty decision process with
Mr. Walters, explaining how ultimately each individual juror must assigned
his or her own particular weight to each “bad” or “good” factor and arrive at
a penalty, under the law. (12 RT 2405-2408.) Mr. Walters made clear that
he could follow the law, look a defendant in the eye and “say ‘death’.”
(12 RT 2408.)

In response to the prosecutor’s “assault” hypothetical, Mr. Walters
indicated that he could sentence the person holding the victim to death. (12
RT 2409.) In addition, he stated that while he would personally prefer a
death sentence as opposed to spending his life in prison, he would not
impose his personal beliefs on anyone else or upon the system. (12 RT
2410.) Mr. Walters further stated that he would be able to base his verdict
solely upon the evidence. (12 RT 241 1.) He further said that he could
impose the death penalty even if only one person died. (12 RT 2413)

In response to the prosecutor’s “bank robbery” hypothetical, Mr.
Walters stated that all three participants would be guilty of murder. (12RT

2417-2418.) Regarding the penalty, he stated that he would lean against the

imposition of death for the person or persons outside the bank because of
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their lack of participation and intent. (12 RT 2418-2420.) However, Mr.
Walters stated that if the person in the car gave the shooter a loaded gun he
might be able to impose the death penalty on the driver of the car. (12 RT
2419-2420.) After some further discussion with the prosecutor on this
subject, Mr. Walters stated that he could see the persecutor’s point and
perhaps could impose death on all of the three participants after considering
all of the facts. (12 RT 2421.)

Both parties passed Mr. Walters for cause. (12 RT 2424.)

4. Reginald Payne-#8871

a. Questionnaire

Mr. Payne was yet another accomplished African-American male.
He was 56 years old, married with eight children, all of whom were either
working or in school. (VI CT 1592.) He was employed as a plant operator
for the Los Angeles County Sanitation District. (VICT 1597,Q5))
Mr. Payne served his community by serving as a juror on four cases, two of
which were murders. (VI CT 1599, Q 32.) His son was a victim of an armed
robbery (VI CT 1608-1609),and he was personally the victim of attempted
intimidation by local gang members, causing him to start a Neighborhood
Watch program. (6 VI 1611, Q 95.)

Mr. Payne also made clear that he fully understood that his

obligation as a juror required that he neither favored the defense nor the
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prosecution. (VI CT 1616, Q 116.) However, he did say that he was biased
against gang members because of their “chilling effects on a community.”
(VICT1618, Q 130.) He also stated that he could follow the law as the
Judge gives it without reference to any personal beliefs of his own. (VI CT
1624-1625, Q 170.)

Regarding the death penalty, Mr. Payne indicated that while it may
be used too much, and should never be “used lightly,” it does have its place
in the criminal justice system. (VI CT 1628 Q 178-179.) He also stated that
“our system of justice is not prepared to operate without it at this time” and
“until we can find a viable alternative we can not abolish it.” (VICT 1629,
Q 186-187.) Mr. Payne also stated that he could impose the penalty, and
that the circumstances of the victim’s death would have “great bearing” on
the punishment. (RT 1630, Q 196.)

Mr. Payne also stated that he thought that life in prison was much
worse than death given the conditions at California prisons. (VI CT 1629-
1630, Q 193, 199.) However, he also stated that he could set aside his own
beliefs and follow the law that the judge gives to the jury. (VI CT 1630-
1631, Q 200.) He also stated that he would impose the death penalty when
“a proven set of circumstances constitutes (its) imposition.” (VI CT 1632, Q

209.) Mr. Payne also stated that he would not automatically vote for either
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penalty. (VI CT 1633, Q 214-215.) He also stated that he would abide with
society’s rules in deciding whether to impose death. (VICT 1634, Q 223)
b. Oral Voir Dire

After the trial court explained the relationship of aggravators and
mitigators and the weighing process in a death penalty case, Mr. Payne
indicated that he understood the court’s explanation and would not
automatically vote for either penalty. (12 RT 2870-2874.) Appellant’s
counsel passed the juror for cause without any further questioning. (12 RT
2874.)

The prosecutor questioned Mr. Payne as to the armed robbery of his
son and Mr. Payne’s problems with certain gangs. (12 RT 2875-2877.) She
also questioned him about a disagreeable incident that he and his other son
had with the Long Beach quice. (12 RT 2876-2879.) However, Mr. Payne
indicated that this would not affect his judgment in this case. (12 RT 2879.)
In regard to his statement in the questionnaire that the death penalty was
sometimes “overused,” Mr. Payne stated that what he meant was that before
imposing the death penalty it was necessary to “look at the facts” and not
“rush to anything.” (12 RT 2880.) Mr. Payne further stated that in other
jurisdictions “some... mistakes have been made so I think we should be very
careful about what we do.” (12 RT 2881.) However, Mr. Payne also made it

clear that his decision in this case would be based only upon the evidence
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that was produced in the courtroom (12 RT 2884), and that he could live
with himself after he imposed a penalty of death. (12 RT 2885-2886.)

Mr. Payne also stated that in spite of his personal feelings that life
was a Worse penalty that death, he could follow the law. (12 RT 2892-
2893.) He also stated that while he felt that the death penalty was
disproportionately imposed upon blacks, this experienced juror clearly
stated that he would not consider this in the instant case as “that’s not my
Job.” (12 RT 2894-2896.) The prosecutor also made inquiry as to whether
Mr. Payne believed that some people could have a productive life in prison.
Mr. Payne agreed that is was possible but also stated that he would follow
the law that defined the most serious penalty as death. (12 RT 2899-2901.)

Regarding the prosecutor’s “assault” and “bank robbery”
hypotheticals, Mr. Payne stated that he would be able to impose death on all
defendants if the aggravating circumstances substantially outweighed the
mitigating. (12 RT 2897-2899.)

The prosecutor then asked Mr. Payne whether he would inform the
court if at any time either he could not follow his oath and the law or that he
felt another juror was not doing the same. Mr. Payne responded in the
affirmative. (12 RT 2901-2902.) Mr. Payne was then passed for cause by

both counsel. (12 RT 2903.)
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C. THE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE VOIR DIRE
1. Procedural Review

Fifty-eight prospective jurors survived the Hovey voir dire. The
above four black men were among them. The process for the selection of
the jury was twelve prospective jurors were randomly selected from the
Hovey qualified group of 58. These twelve were assigned seat numbers and
seated in the jury box. Counsel were then allowed to conduct a voir dire on
these jurors and exercise peremptory challenges. Once a prospective juror
was peremptorily excused, another prospective juror was called to replace
him in the jury box. This process continued until a jury was selected.
Appellant exercised 19 of his 20 available challenges and the prosecutor 18
of hers before the jury was empaneled. After the impanelment of the sitting
jury, the court undertook the selection of 6 alternate jurors. Of the original
panel of 58 Hovey qualified jurors, 4 remained after the impanelment of the
sitting jury. Of these, there was one black female juror (# 33 83).

(7CT 1836; 17 RT 3556.)

The selection of the alternates was done in the same fashion as the
selection of the sitting jury. However, the selection of the 6 alternates was
ultimately done by counsel stipulating as to which prospective jurors they
found acceptable. The black female juror was never questioned, nor was

she designated as one of the alternate jurors.
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2. Peremptory Challenge to Shawn Leonard

As part of the above process, Mr. Leonard was randomly called by
the court to replace an excused prospective juror in the seventh juror seat.
(15 RT 3181.) In response to questioning by appellant’s counsel, Mr.
Leonard affirmed that he could judge this case fairly and indicated that after
listening to the other prospective juror’s being questioned, he would have
no different answers. (15 RT 3182.)

In response to the prosecutor’s questions, Mr. Leonard stated that
he felt more sure that he was in favor of the death penalty than he was at the
Hovey voir dire. (15 RT 3183.) Mr. Leonard stated that at the time of the
Hovey voir dire he hadn’t thought much about the death penalty but since
that time he had time to consider his position. (/bid)

In response to questioning by the prosecutor, Mr. Leonard stated that
he had had no previous bad experiences with law enforcement. (15RT
3183-3185.) The prosecutor then asked if Mr. Leonard knew anyone who
had been convicted of a crime and he stated that his brother was convicted
for a drug offence and that he visited him in prison. (15 RT 3183-3184.) He
also stated that he would follow any instructions that the court may have
regarding judging the credibility of witnesses. (15 RT 3184-3185.) Both

sides then passed Mr. Leonard for cause. (15 RT 3185.)
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It was at this point that appellant’s counsel Patton asked for a
sidebar conference (15 RT 3185), and stated that from the prosecutor’s
questioning he believed that she was about to exercise a peremptory
challenge against him. (15 RT 3186.) He further referred the court to the
case of Miller Elv. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322. (Ibid.) M. Patton also wanted it
put on the record that Mr. Leonard was the only African -American seated
on the jury at that time. (/bid.) |

The prosecutor’s reaction to this could only be described as
feigned righteous indignation.'® She stated “I am extremely offended. I am
extremely offended.” (15 RT 3186.) She further stated that she needed a
recess because she was so angry. (15 RT 3 187.)

The trial court quite reminded all counsel that as no challenge had
been made by the prosecution, the matter was not ripe for consideration. (15
RT 3188.)"

After a few other jurors were questioned, the prosecutor did
exactly what Mr. Patton predicted she would; she peremptorily challenged

Mr. Leonard. (15 RT 3221) Mr. Patton objected on the ground that there

16. It was feigned because only a few minutes after the prosecutor’s passionate

remonstration about how “offended” she was over counsel’s suggestion, she did
indeed remove Mr. Leonard from the jury. Her disingenuity was fully confirmed
when the only other black male jurors soon followed Mr. Leonard home.

17. The fact that Mr. Patton prematurely raised the issue is irrelevant to the
determination of whether these challenges were constitutionally appropriate.
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was nothing on the record to even suggest that Mr. Leonard would not be a
qualified juror and maintained that the challenge was racially based. (15
RT3222.) Counsel then asked that the trial court to make a prima facie
finding that there has been an exclusion on the basis of race stating that
even the exclusion of a single person could be sufficient for such a finding.
(15 RT 3223))

The court bluntly told counsel that he was wrong in this assertion
and the prosecutor gratuitously added that it was unethical to miscite the
law to the court." The court then denied the “Wheeler” motion stating that
it had reviewed the Hovey voir dire and from the answers could see why the
prosecutor would want to challenge Mr. Leonard. The court, in spite of Mr.
Leonard clearly stated position, further stated that the peremptory challenge
was not race based but rather based upon the “Juror’s inability to be able to
impose death at the penalty phase.” (15 RT 3224.)

The prosecutor then stated that Mr. Leonard was “not participating
in the cooperative sense that all of the other Jurors- -they are watching
counsel, they’re listening to questions, he’s just looking straight ahead. I
found that kind of unusual, because no one else is doing that out there.” (15

RT 3225.) The trial court responded to this by stating that Mr. Leonard had

18. Mr. Patton did not miscite the law. As will be later shown in this argument, it
was the court and the prosecutor who were wrong,
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his eyes on the court “throughout the questioning of the remainder of (sic)
counsel.” (15 RT 3225.)
3. Peremptory Challenge fo Roscoe Cook

As part of the above process, Mr. Cook was randomly called by
the court to replace an excused prospective juror in the ninth juror seat. (16
RT 3296.) In response to appellant’s counsel, Mr. Cook reiterated that he
could be fair. (Ibid.) Mr. Cook voluntarily offered that he wished to correct
an unintentional misstatement he made in the Hovey voir dire. He corrected
his Hovey questioning about his Jury service to state he never actually sat on
a murder jury. He had been called to the box but had been excused. (16 RT
3297-3298.)

Pursuant to the prosecutor’s questioning, Mr. Cook in'dicated that
35-40 years ago, he was stopped often by police officers. In the vicinity of
the Watts riots, a policeman pointed a shotgun at him. (16 RT 3299.)
However, Mr. Cook readily stated that this long past incident would have
no effect on him in this trial. (16 RT 3300.) In response to the prosecutor’s
further questioning, Mr. Cook stated that he could “always” follow the
court’s instructions and if the prosecutor proved the case beyond a
reasonable doubt he would return a guilty verdict. (16 RT 3301-3302.)

Both side passed Mr. Cook for cause. (16 RT 3302.)
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After further discussion about other Jurors, the trial court
addressed the prosecutor. “And just to remind counsel...I know that Ms.
Locke-Noble’s favorite amazing friend is now seated in seat no. 9, and that
1s going to be a challenge again that we’ll have to take a break for again.
But I don’t know, they have made up, I don’t know ” (16 RT 3306.)

The prosecutor did indeed exercise a peremptory challenge on Mr.
Cook. (16 RT 3319.) Counsel again objected to the challenge on Batson
grounds, stating tﬁat along with the exclusion of Mr. Leonard, this
challenge amounted to a systematic exclusion of African-Americans from
the jury. (16 RT 3330.)

The prosecutor replied to this motion by indicating to the court that
she had had a “personality conflict” with Mr. Cook at the Hovey voir dire
and felt that as a result he could not fairly hear the People’s case. (16 RT
3320.) She also indicated that Mr. Cook would not set aside his “personal

belief system.” (16 RT 3321 .) She also argued to the court that the juror

19. While there may be a time and place for levity in a court room, this was not
it. Firstly, the court should never have suggested to the prosecutor whom she
should challenge. Further, the prospective juror was an extremely well educated,
very accomplished 64 year old gentlemen who currently had faith in our legal
system in spite of the undeniable racism toward black Americans during the years
he was growing up.(VI CT 1515,Q 112; VICT 1514, Q 103; (VICT 1516, Q
116.)

As was and will be more fully addressed, any animus between the prosecutor and
Mr. Cook was created by the prosecutor’s repeated attempts to twist his words at
the Hovey voir dire.
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had been unable to say “whether he was for or against the death penalty.
(Ibid.)

The court did not find a prima facie case of systematic exclusion
stating that the conflict between Mr. Cook and the prosecutor was sufficient
reason for her to peremptorily challenge him. (16 RT 3322-3323)

4. Peremptory Challenge to Ethan Walters

As part of the above process, Mr. Walters was randomly called by
the court to replace an excused prospective juror in the third Juror seat. (16
RT 3350.) The prosecutor began her voir dire with an extensive discussion
of Mr. Walter’s job. (Ibid.) Mr. Walters indicated that he was a satellite
engineer, designing and building communication satellites. (16 RT 3351-
3352.) Mr. Walters stated that he had a B.A. degree in engineering but was
close to getting his Masters, (16 RT 3351-56.)

Mr. Walters also volunteered to the prosecutor that he had a
cousin arrested for some sort of assault in Florida. (16 RT 3356-3357.) Mr.
Walters got the impression from talking to his cousin that his cousin felt he
was being treated unfairly. (16 RT 3358.) Mr. Walters indicated that a few
times he felt he was “ticketed” unfairly and on one occasion he went to
court and won his case. (16 RT 3358-3359.)

In response to the prosecutor’s questions, Mr. Walters indicated that
he could follow the law regarding circumstances and the evaluation of

witnesses. (16 RT 3360.) Mr. Walters further stated to the prosecutor that if
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thé People proved their case beyond a reasonable doubt his verdict would
be guilty. (16 RT 3361 .) Both sides passed Mr. Walters for cause. (16 RT
3361.)

The prosecutor exercised é peremptory challenge against Mr. Walters,
yet another American-American male Juror. (16 RT 33 72.) Counsel
objected to this excusal and made another “Batson” motion, asking the
court to find a prima facie case of systematic exclusion. The court found
that a prima facie case had indeed been made and asked the prosecutor to
explain her challenge. The prosecutor asked the court to review Mr.
Walters’ questionnaire before she began her explanation. The court agreed.
(Ibid.)

After reading the questionnaire, the court stated that jt still found a
prima facie case of deliberate systematic exclusion. (16 RT 3375 .) The
prosecutor indicated that what “really bothers (her) about this particular
juror” was that Mr. Walters believed that life without parole would be a
more severe sentence than death. (16 RT 33 75-3376.) The prosecutor
stated she was also concerned that because of Mr. Walters’ scientific
training, she could never prove the case to his satisfaction. (16 RT 3376.)
She also stated that on his questionnaire, Mr. Walters indicated that at times
prosecutors can be overzealous.(/bid.)

The prosecutor also claimed that the Mr. Walters indicated on his

questionnaire that the death penalty needed to be reformed, “just like
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affirmative action.” (16 RT 3377.)® The prosecutor also stated that Mr.
Walters stated that he had been pulled over by the police several times for
“questionable reasons. (/bid.) The prosecutor’s stated that she was troubled
Mr. Walters’ opinions that the criminal justice was “too slow” and “biased
against the economically disadvantaged.” (16 RT 3377-3378.)

The prosecutor was also troubled by the fact that in the Hovey voir Mr.
Walters stated “I don’t have any feelings one way or another about (the
death penalty.”) (16 RT 3378.)*' The prosecutor then told the court that “if
someone cannot say they believe in the death penalty, they cannot impose
it.” (16 RT 3378.)* The prosecutor further stated that she had perempted
all prospective jurors who stated they believed that life was a harsher

penalty than death. (/bid.)

20. As will be fully discussed later, the prosecutor once again misstated a
prospective juror’s opinions to the court. The “reform” of which the prosecutor
complained was Mr. Walters feeling that the death penalty was not imposed offen
enough and the system had to have more executions to create a real deterrent.(VI

CT1578, QQ178-179, 183.)

21.This yet another misstatement of what was said. Immediafely after saying this,
he made clear that he was not against the death penalty and that California should
have the death penalty (12 RT 241 1-2412.))

22. Nowhere in the Mr. Walters’ voir dire did he even suggest that he would not
impose the death penalty if appropriate. As stated above, he actually was a
proponent of rapid trial and exaction where appropriate. This prosecution’s
attitude toward the concept of “belief” in the death penalty raises executions to
almost a religious state of grace, in which all jurors must come to the court room
with an unshakable faith in the righteousness of the death penalty. She is not
entitled to such a jury.
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The prosecutor also was “bothered” by the fact that Mr. Walters
“seem(ed) to have a lot of information about the law.” (16 RT 3378.) The
prosecutor complained that when she asked her questions and hypotheticals
Mr. Walters was familiar with terms such as “intent” and “aider and
abettor.” The prosecutor claimed that Mr. Walters already had more
information than the other jurors had‘. (16 RT 3378-3379.)%

At this point, the court interrupted the prosecutor to state that Mr.
Walters’ statements about “overzealous” prosecutors were coupled with his
opinion that defense attorneys manipulate evidence. The trial court stated
that Mr. Walters derived these rather vague opinions from television and
said feelings should not be given much weight. (16 RT 33 79.)

The prosecutor finished her argument by reiterating that her chief
concerns about Mr. Walters was that he believed that life was the worse
penalty and he stated that because the death penalty causes so much
litigation it should be “let 80.”(16 RT 3380.)* The prosecutor also restated

that because Mr. Walters was an engineer he would be unable to impose the

23.As will be discussed further, what “bothered” the prosecutor was that Mr.
Walters declined to have his views misrepresented at the Hovey voir dire. (See
Argument 1.) It does not take special legal knowledge for an intelligent, educated
person to know that intent is a critical element in the criminal justice system.
Further, the fact that he might be better educated or informed than the
average juror does not constitute a “race-neutral explanation.”

24. Once again, Mr. Walters’ statement was taken totally out of context. As stated
above, he was an advocate of the use of the dearth penalty and his only complaint
about it was that the State did not have their heart into the execution of the
imposition of death.
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death penalty. She further stated that he was the only engineer on the panel
and he is trained to look into all possible doubt. (16 RT 3380.)

Appellant’s counsel strongly opposed the prosecutor’s
characterizations of Mr. Walters. He stated that the fact that a professional
strived to do his best at work does not mean he or she cannot be a good
juror. He also reminded the court that Mr. Walters made it perfectly clear
that he was willing to uphold the law and vote for death where appropriate.
(16 RT 3380-3381.)

The court accepted the prosecutor’s explanation as race-neutral,
stating that while he liked the Juror very much, the prosecutor has been
consistently excusing prospective jurors who thought that life without
parole is a more severe sentence. (16 RT 3382.)

The following exchange then occurred.

Prosecutor: I believe that as a result holding this hearing
concerning Wheeler, I have to g0 now back and justify or
state the reasons for the other two Jurors who were excused
previously

Court: I was going to ask you to do that at this time. (16 RT
3382))

The prosecutor responded by stating her “race-neutral”
explanations for his challenges of Mr. Leonard and Mr. Cook. Regardiﬁg

M. Leonard, the prosecutor claimed that the life penalty was worse than

death. (16 RT 3383.)
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She also complained that “he also believed that if the person had
(sic) a past of hateful decisions, that would effect whether or not he would
impose the death penalty,” and he might lean to the life penalty if this was a
defendant’s first hateful act. (/bid )>* |

The prosecutor also stated that Mr. Leonard would make her prove
all of the special circumstances, as well as intent. In addition, he also
~ thought that rehabilitation was a goal of the penal syétem. She also was
troubled that Mr. Leonard would prefer death over life imprisonment for
himself, stating “For myself I couldn’t stand to be incarcerated forever.”
The prosecutor also claimed that Mr. Leonard believed that life in prison
was a more severe sentence than death. (16 RT 3384.) She also pointed out
to the judge that Mr. Leonard said if he knew a defendant would never “do
it again,” he’d lean toward life in pﬁson. (16 RT 3385)

The court accepted the prosecutor’s explanation as being race-
neutral. (16 RT 3385))

Regarding Mr. Cook, the prosecutor basically revisited her entire
voir dire of the him that resulted in his alleged conflict with the prosecutor.
She relied upon the fact that Mr. Cook indicated that he had memory

problems (16 RT 3385), that he stated he would not set aside his beliefs (16

25. From the context of the statement, the word “had” was a misprint. It should
read “was.”Further, as discussed later, how could Mr. Leonard’s statement be
construed as an unwillingness to impose the death penalty on this defendant, who
had a long history of juvenile anti-social behavior.
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RT 3386-3387) and alleged that he could not explain to the prosecutor
which was the worse of the two penalties, stating “who knows” when the
prosecutor asked that question of him. (16 RT 3387.) She also was bothered
by the fact that no matter how many times she asked Mr. Cook for an
answer he continued to state that he had no personal opinion for or against
the death penalty. (16 RT 3387-3388.)

The prosecutor then commenced a long recitation of how poorly
Mr. Cook treated her, stating that he made sarcastic remarks to her and
essentially making her job that much more difficult by not answering her
questions. (16 RT 3387-3393.) She further accused him of stating “I’m not
for killing anyone” and that Mr. Cook essentially never said that he could
face the appellant and impose the death penalty on him. (16 RT 3393.) She
also claimed that Mr. Cook was evasive when she asked the question
whether he had been exposed to racial prejudices. (16 RT 3393-3394.)

The court accepted the prosecutor’s statement as race neutral
stating that Mr. Cook did not answer the questions posed to him and that
there was a lot of friction between the Mr. Cook and the prosecutor. (16 RT
3394.) |

3. Peremptory Challenge of Reginald Payne

The peremptory voir dire of Mr. Payne was very brief. He made it

clear that he would be ablé to follow all of the court’s instructions. (16 RT

3452.) He also stated that if the People proved their case beyond a
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reasonable doubt, he would find appellant guilty. (16 RT 3454.) Both sides
then passed for cause. (Ibid.)

The prosecutor then exercised a peremptory challenge on Mr.
Payne. (16 RT 3456-57.) She prefaced the actual challenge by naming some
of the white prospective Jjurors that she had peremptorily challenged and the
reason therefore. (16 RT 3445-3456.) She also stated that because the
incidents with his sons, Mr. Payne had an animus toward the Long Beach
Police Department. (16 RT 3457-3458.)

She also offered to the trial court that Mr. Payne stated that the
death penalty was sometimes “overused,” referring to other Jurisdictions.
However, she did admit that Mr. Payne indicated that this woqld not affect
him in this case. (16 RT 3458-3459.) The 'prosecutor also stated that she
found it “disturbing” that Mr. Payne was temporarily affected by the
verdicts rendered on the murder cases stating that it wasn’t always pleasant
to do what has to be done. (16 RT3459-3460.)

The prosecutor then told the court that she was disturbed by Mr.
Payne’s statement that he believed that the life imprisonment was a harsher
penalty than death because of the conditions in California prisons,
indicating that she did not believe that M. Payne could impose the death

penalty. (16 RT 3460-3461.) However, Mr. Payne had made it very clear
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that he could impose the death penalty, “Because that would come under
the instructions of the Judge.” (16 RT 3461; see also 16 RT 3463.)

Appellant’s counsel opposed the prosecutor’s characterizations,
stating that this was a forthright and articulate person whose honest answers
to the prosecutor’s questions in no way indicated an animus toward the
police nor that he was unable in good conscious to impose the death penalty
according to the court’s instructions. (16 RT 3464.) Counsel also reminded
the court that Mr. Payne’s answers regarding the death penalty reﬂected his
own feelings about the idea of being locked up in a small cell for the rest of
his life and was not a general statement that applied to all defendants. (16
RT 3464-3465.)

The prosecutor responded by stating that all that she considered
was the position of the jurors on the death penalty, and never considered
race, age, marital status or anything else. She further stated that in
evaluating the prospective Jurors she didn’t even know who they were when
she reviewed the questionnaires. (16 RT 3465-3466.)%

The court then declared a recess to look at the questionnaire and

the transcript before rendering a decision. (16 RT 3466 et seq.) After the

26. This is yet another prosecutorial utterance that is virtually impossible to take
seriously. The first question of the questionnaire specifically asks the prospective
Juror his or her race, martial status, ethnic origin, etc. (See VI CT 1492.)
Apparently, the prosecutor was asking the court to believe that she simply chose
not to read this part of the questionnaire.
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court reconvened, the prosecutor again maintained that she had no idea that
Mr. Payne was black when she began reviewing the punishment section of
his questionnaire. (16 RT 3471-3472.) She then summed up her reason as

to all her peremptory challenges as follows:

I don’t believe that somebody, one, who believed that life
without the possibility of parole is a more severe punishment
than death can actually impose the death penalty, because they
believe that spending the rest of their life in prison would be
the more severe punishment that could be imposed. (16 RT
3472; emphasis supplied.)

The prosecutor then summarized, somewhat differently that earlier in
her argument, her alleged race-neutral reasons for the peremptory

challenges.

-as T'have indicated to you, I have exercised peremptory
challenges consistently for certain reasons, those reasons
being:

.Life without the possibility of parole is a more severe
sentence than death;

2. They believe in rehabilitation. Therefore, in my opinion
they would vote for life without the possibility of parole
although they say that they could impose the death penalty;

3. A bad experience with a police officer, whether it is
themselves or a family member;

4. Whether or not if they believed both punishments are equal;
5. Whether or not somebody would want to Judge another
person; and

6. If they sat on a hung jury.I have excused them as well or if
indicated (sic) they indicated they returned a not guilty verdict.
(16 RT 3478.)
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- After hearing the balance of the arguments, the court rejected the
race-neutral explanation and informed the prosecutor that he will would not
allow her to peremptorily excuse Mr. Payne. (16 RT 3479-3480.)

Predictably, the prosecutor reacted saying she “highly object(ed)”
to the court’s ruling and claiming that the trial court had Jjust branded her a
racist. (16 RT 3480-3481.)*" She further opined that Mr. Payne “indicated
he is not going to vote for the death penalty in this particular case,” (16 -
RT 3487.) After the court failed to be swayed by the prosecutor’s
argument, the prosecutor, without any basis in fact, bluntly that stated that
Mr. Payne “will hang this jury.” (16 RT 3488.)

In spite of the trial court having already fully reviewed and
considered this matter, the prosecutor again requested that the court re-
review the matter and revisit it after lunch break. (16 RT 3489.) The court
agreed, citing its desire to be “fair-minded” and that the prosecutor was

“very passionate about the decision.” (16 RT» 3490.)

27. Batson and its progeny do not'require that it be proven that the prosecutor had
“racist” motives. It is sufficient that the prosecutor wants to win badly enough to
deprive the defendant of his constitutional rights.

28. Once again, the prosecutor constructs facts to suit her argument. Mr. Payne
never said this. If her did, he never would have made it to this point in the jury
selection process.
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After the break, the prosecutor rehashed her arguments at length,
still trying to persuade the court that her reasons for the challenge of Mr.
Payne were race neutral. (16 RT 3497-3514.)

She also stated that

-.even if we get a conviction, I see this Juror as ripe for the

defense attempting to get him to change his mind and nullify

the verdict that we may get in this particular case. He has

basically told the defense if I’m on the Jury, come see me,

because I’m going to be going over it and over it in my mind,

and maybe I will find a reason to change my mind. (16 RT

3523)

The prosecutor then pointed out once again that the Mr. Payne put a
certain emphasis on rehabilitation but that California was not a rehabilitation
state. The prosecutor interpreted this to mean “that’s why (Mr. Payne will
impose life without the possibility of parole, because he believes people can

be rehabilitated. That’s what I see him saying in this instance.” (16 RT

3525.)%

29. This is yet another misstatement of the law. It is simply not true that
California does not have rehabilitation. As will be seen later in this Argument, the
mitigating factors of Penal Code section 190.3 include a defendant’s capacity for
rehabilitation. Further, the prosecutor’s statement that if one believes in
rehabilitation, one cannot vote for the death penalty is illogical, it is tantamount to
stating that if a juror believes in the presumption of innocence, he cannot be
trusted to vote for a conviction.
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She also reargued that Mr. Payne’s statement that proportionately
more African-Americans were on death row and incarcerated, arguing that
this precluded him from being a fair juror. (16 RT 3529-3530.)

The prosecutor also reargued that she exercises peremptory
challenges against persons who have sat on hung juries because she doesn’t
want such a person “nullifying this jury.” (16 RT 3531.)

After another recess, the trial court abruptly changed its mind and
ruled that the prosecutor’s explanations were race neutral and denied the
Batson motion. (17 RT 3535-3536.) The court started that given Mr. Payne’s
feelings about the conditions in the prisons, the fundamental incarceration of
black and overuse of the death penalty created a race-neutral reason for the
exercise of the prosecutor’s challenge. (17 RT 3537-353 8.)

Appellant’s counsel moved for a mistrial, stating that the case was
highly charged with racial overtones and “from the Jury selection process
taking place in this courtroom, it is apparent that no black males, no African-
American male will or can sit on this panel.” (17 RT 353 8.)

Without ruling on whether black males are a protected classification
for equal protection purposes under state or federal law, the court denied the

motion for mistrial. (17 RT 3539-3550.)
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D. APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE INSTANT CASE
L. African-American Males are a “Cognizable Group” for Equal
Protection and Cross-Section of Community Analysis

The word “cognizable” as used in this area of the law is a term of
legal significance which goes far beyond the dictionary meaning of
“knowable or perceivable.” (The American Heritage® Dictionary of the
English Language, Fourth Edition Copyright © 2009 by Houghton Mifflin
Company.) If such were not the case, then red haired people or people with
crossed-eyes would be considered cognizable. Instead, in People v. Fields
(1983) 35 Cal.3d 329, 342, this Court stated, “It is clear that the groups
recognized as cognizable classes are generally relatively large and well
defined groups in the community whose members may, because of common
background or experience, share a distinctive viewpoint on matters of
current concern.”

This Court’s decisions mirror those of the United States Supreme.
In Castaneda v. Partida (1977) 430 U.S. 482, 494, the High Court defined a
cognizable group as “one that is 2 recognizable, distinct class, singled out
for different treatment under the laws, as written or as applied.”
Under these definitions, it is clear that African-American males are indeed a
“cognizable group.” This group is large and well defined. Being a group

whose history involved, and to some extent still involves, discrimination and
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prejudice by long established institutions of authority, they indeed “share a
distinctive view point on matters of common concern.”

This concern includes the experiences that their group has had with
the police, the courts and the prison system. There is also the common
experience of being a group frequently targeted for improper police stops
and detention. The social, economic and psychological experience of the
African-American male in the United States has been long documented and
much discussed. This group has indeed been “singled out for different
treatment” and its members, for the greatest part, share a common
perspective on life.

Further, this court has long held that African-American members of
a given sex are considered, by law, to be a cognizable group for Batson
purposes. (See e.g., People v. Cleveland (2004) 32 Cal.4th 704, 735; People
v. Motton (1985) 39 Cal.3d 596, 605-606.)

2. A Prima Facie Case was Made as to the Systematic Exclusion
of African-American Males from this Jury
The test as to whether a defendant has made a prima facie of
discrimination is whether he has shown (1) that the prospective juror was a
member of a cogniéable group, (2) the prosecutor used a peremptéry
challenge to excuse that Juror, and (3) the totality of all of the circumstances

raises the inference that the strike was “motivated by race.” (Boyd v.
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Newland (9" Cir 2006) 467 F.3d 1 139, 1143.) As stated in section A of this
Argument, the systematic exclusion of such a cognizable group as African-
Americans males not only runs afou] of the Equal Protection Clause but
violates the fair cross-section of the community requirement of the United

States Supreme Court.

...the Court has unambiguously declared that the American
concept of the jury trial contemplates a Jury drawn from a fair
cross section of the community. A unanimous Court stated in
Smith v. Texas, 311 U.S. 128, 130, 61 S.Ct. 164, 165, 85 L.Ed.
84 (1940), that “(i)t is part of the established tradition in the
use of juries as instruments of public justice that the jury be a
body truly representative of the community.” To exclude racial
groups from jury service was said to be ‘at war with our basic
concepts of a democratic society and a representative
government.” A state jury system that resulted in systematic
exclusion of Negroes as jurors was therefore held to violate the
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.
Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 85-86, 62 S.Ct. 457,
472, 86 L.Ed. 680 (1942), in the context of a federal criminal
case and the Sixth Amendment's Jury trial requirement, stated
that ‘(o)ur notions of what a proper jury is have developed in
harmony with our basic concepts of a democratic system and
representative government,” and repeated the Court's
understanding that the jury “be a body truly representative of
the community' . . . and not the organ of any special group or
class.' ( Taylor v. Louisiana (1975)419 U.S. 522, 527.)”

The exclusion of the four African-American men was a systematic
attempt to not just remove persons of a certain skin pigmentation but of a
key part of the Los Angeles community, a part that may not be entirely

sympathetic with all of the ethos of the prosecution, yet a part whose voice is
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constitutionally required to be heard. That voice was silenced by the removal
of each and every member of that part of that community. As counsel stated,
the prosecutor would allow no African-American man to sit on this jury.

The High Court has held that a defendant can make out a prima
facie case of discriminatory jury selection by “the totality of relevant facts”
about a prosecutor’s conduct in the case being tried. (Miller-E] v. Dretke,
supra, 545 U.S. at p. 239.) That totality clearly includes the number or
percentage of prospectivé jurors from the cognizable group in question.
(Miller-El, supra, 545 U.S. at p- 240-241; United States v. Collins (2009)
551 F.3d 914, 921 .) In this case, four African-American males survived
Hovey and 100% of then were removed by the prosecutor’s peremptory
challenge.

As stated above, the bar for establishing such a prima facie case has
not been set very high by the courts (Collins, supra, 551 F.3d at p. 920) and
certainly not a “more probable than not test.” All that must be shown is that
“the totality of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference that the
peremptory challen.ges are being used for a discriminatory purpose.”
(Johnson v. California, supra, 545 U.S. at 168.) Such a showing has been
made.

The trial court specifically held that a prima facie case was

established as to the third and fourth prospective African-American male
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Jurors, Walters and Payne. During the challenge of Mr. Walters, the court
required the prosecutor to set forth her race neutral explanation for the first
two challenges, Mr. Leonard and Mr. Cook. By doing so, the court de Jacto
indicated that a prima facie case of discrimination was made as to these first
two jurors, as well as the more explicit finding as to the third and fourth
challenged African-American jurors, Mr. Walters and Mr. Payne. (People v.
Lenix (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602,613, fn 8.; 16 RT 3382))
3. The Prosecutor’s “Race-Neutral” Explanations For Her
Challenges Were Pretextually and her Challenges Were
Made to Unconstitutionally Exclude African-American
Males from the Jury
a. Introduction
As stated in section A of this Argument, after the defendant has
established a prima facie case of systematic exclusion by the prosecution,
the burden of going forward is “momentarily” shifted to the prosecutor to
offer “race-neutral” explanations for the challenge(s) of the given
prospective juror(s) in question. (Johnson v. Californiq, supra, 545 U.S. at
171.)
After these explanations are tendered, the trial court must decide, by the
totality of circumstances whether the challenges to the jurors in question

were constitutionally legitimate or made to unconstitutionally exclude one

or more members of a cognizable group from the jury for racial reasons,
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As previously stated, this was a case that was directly associated
with racial perceptions and attitudes. The charges were that a white woman
was killed by a group of young black men. Citing to the overruled case of
People v. Johnson (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1302, the United States Supreme Court
in Johnson v. California (2005) 545 U S. 162, 167 stated these type of
racially charged circumstances® were “highly relevant” to the Batson
question and that “it certainly looks suspicious that all three African-
American jurors were removed from the jury by the prosecutor.”

A close examination of the facts surrounding the peremptory
challenges of all of the four male African-American prospective jurors
reveals the prosecutor’s intention to exclude these four men for racial
reasons, permitting the trial to proceed with a virtually all-white Jury and a
completely all-white set of alternates.

The four prospective Jurors excluded were all well-established, law
abiding, responsible men who had a very real stake in the Log Angeles
County community. Mr. Leonard was a decorated veteran who honorably
served his country in a war zone. He was currently working for the United

States Government and supporting his two children. Mr. Cook was a very

30. In Johnson, an African-American man killed his a young white child. at 162.)
The instant case is far more racially charged than this.
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well educated individual who has been involved in the education of our
youth for many years as both a teacher and an assistant principal. He took
his citizenship responsibilities very seriously and considered Jury service as
his duty to his community and country. Mr. Walters was a very
accomplished engineer, so thoughtful and direct in is answers that the
Judge, himself, stated that he liked him “very much.” (16 RT 33 82.) Mr.
Walters’ only concern about the capital punishment laws was that by not
executing punishment promptly, the system was losing credibility. Mr.
Payne was a sanitation plant operator for the County of Los Angeles. He
had raised eight children and actively and courageously opposed the
infestation of gangs in his community.

In addition to the above, all of these men were dedicated to our
system of justice and swore to uphold the law. None of them indicated in
any way that their personal beliefs would hold sway over the law as stated
by the jﬁdge. Each indicated he would follow the law and decide the case
on only the facts and the law. None of them indicated that they had any
complaint about the ultimate justice of their country’s laws. They were
each and every one honorable men,

These four men would make any community proud. They honored
the call for jury duty and stood ready to serve in a fair and impartial

manner. However, these men also had something else in common. They
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were all African-American males. The were dismissed by a win-at-all-costs
prosecutor not only because there were the same “color,” but because she
feared that as a result of “common background or experience, these jurors
share(d) a distinctive viewpoint on matters of current concern” that may
have not been advantageous to the prosecutor. (People v. Fields (1 983) 35
Cal.3d 329, 342.)

The prosecutor’s stated reasons for removing these four
upstanding citizens from the jury were clearly pretextual, both in the light
of the voir dire answers of these men, themselves, and the similar
viewpoints of white Jurors who were approved by the prosecutor to sit on
the jury.

As stated above, the foundation of the prosecutor’s alleged “race-
neutral” explanation for the challenge of all of these men was “all that she
considered was the position of the Jurors on the death penalty.” (3465-
3466.) During her challenge of Mr. Walters, she summarized the specific
factors she considered in making this determination. (16 RT 3478.)

1. A prospective juror who believed life without the
possibility of parole is a more severe sentence than death;

2. A prospective juror who believed in rehabilitation, because
he would vote for life without the possibility of parole
although he says that he could impose the death penalty;

3. A prospective juror who had a bad experience with a police
officer or had a family member with such an experience.
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4. A prospective juror who believed both punishments are

equal;

5. A prospective juror who would not want to Jjudge another

person; and

6. A prospective juror who sat on a hung jury or who had

returned a not guilty verdict.

As will be seen in the below analysis, the “race-neutral” reasons as
applied to the four American-American male prospective jurors in question
were blatant misrepresentations or outright misstatements of their
positions. The pretextual nature of these “race-neutral” reasons for
challenging the fpur African-American men were clearly demonstrated by a
comparative juror analysis, which revealed the stated “race-neutral”
concerns for striking these Jurors were not matters of prosecutorial concern
as to white sitting jurors who felt the same as the challenged A frican-
American males. These white Jurors were allowed 1o sit in spite of having
the same “infirmities” as the four African-American males.

In judging whether a prosecutor’s peremptory challenge was truly
“race-neutral” or merely pretextual, the “totality of relevant circumstances”
must be considered. (Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at p. 94.) These facts can, and
should, include a comparative analysis of the prosecutor’s questions to and
the responses thereto of Jjurors not in the “cognizable group” that were

found acceptable by the prosecutor. (Miller E1 I, supra, 545 U.S. at p. 241.)

As stated by the United States Supreme Court, when deciding whether or
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not the “race-neutral” explanations tendered by the prosecutor were simply
pretext.

More powerful that bare statistics, however, are side-by-side

comparisons of some black venire panelists who were struck

and white -panelists were allowed to serve. If a prosecutor’s

proffered reason for striking a black panelist applies just as

much to an otherwise-similar nonblack that is permitted to

serve, that is evidence tending to prove purposeful

discrimination at Batson s third step. (Miller-El II, supra, 545

U.S. atp. 241))

More recently, in Snyder v. Louisiana (2008) 552 U.S 472, 478-480,
the High Court reaffirmed this principle by rejected the prosecutor’s “race-
neutral” reason for the challenge to an African-American male juror. The
person in question was a student whom the prosecutor claimed would be
distracted by college obligations. However, as the Court recognized, there
was a sitting white juror whose level of occupation and family distraction
far exceeded that of the black Juror, but who was not challenged by the
prosecutor. (/d at p. 483-484.) This discrepancy was considered by the
Court to be evidence that the prosecutor’s “race-neutral” explanation was
merely a pretext. (Ibid: See People v. Lenix, supra, 44 Cal.4th at 620.)

Even more recently, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal in Alj v,

Hickman (9" Cir 2009) 571 F.3d 902, 916 cited to Miller-E] in stating “The

fact that [a proffered] reason also applied to [these] other panel members,
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most of them white, none of them struck, is evidence of pretext.” (Miller-El,
supra, 545 U.S. at p. 248.)

Further, in comparing the answers of two jurors for this purpose it
is only necessary to find that these jurors were “similarly situated” not
identically alike. (Miller-El II, supra, 545 U.S. at 247 fn 6.) As stated by
the Court, “A per se rule that a defendant cannot win a Batson claim unless
there is an identical white juror would leave Batson inoperable; potential
Jurors are not products of a set of cookie cutters.” (Ibid.)

b. Mr. Leonard

Regarding Mr. Leonard, at the time of the challenge, the prosecutor
did not give an explanation for the challenge as the court did not find a
prima facie case of discriminatory use of the peremptory challenge.’'
However, in response to appellant’s objection to the peremptory challenge,
she stated that Mr. Leonard was “not participating in the cooperative sense
that all of the other jurors-they’re watching counsel, they’re listening to
questions, he’s just looking straight ahead. I found that kind of unusual,

because no one is doing that out there.” (16 RT 3225.)

31. The prosecutor and the court effectively stated that appellant could not enter
an objection on this ground based on a single peremptory challenge, and along
with that the prosecutor chastised counsel for “misciting the law” when counsel
argued that he was indeed entitled to make such a challenge. The court was
mistaken. (People v. Silva (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345, 380.)
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However, as the peremptory challenges against the black male
prospective jurors mounted, the court compelled the prosecutor to further
explain the reason for the challenge to Mr. Leonard. The prosecutor
retroactively gave the following specific reasons for excluding Mr. Leonard
from the jury, stating that Mr. Leonard believed that life without the
possibility of parole was worse than death and stated that “fbr myself, I
couldn’t stand to be incarcerated forever.” (16 RT 3383-84.) She further
complained that Mr. Leonard stated that whether a person had a history of
“hateful decisions” would effect his penalty vote and if the defendant didn’t
have such a history he might lean to the life penalty. (/bid.) She further
stated she excused Mr. Leonard because he believed in rehabilitation and
would make her prove all of the special circumstances. (16 RT 3384) The
court accepted the prosecutor’s explanations as a “race-neutral.” (16 RT
3385.)

To begin with, the prosecutor’s “reason” regarding Mr. Leonard’s
statement regarding appellant’s “hateful decisions” is so logically
indefensible that it can only be viewed as an pretext to rid the jury of Mr.
Leonard because he was an Afircan-American male. The whole point of the
California death penalty law is to focus the jurors’ attention on the
statutorily stated aggravating and mitigating factors. (See People v. Frye

(1998) 18 Cal.4th 894, 1015.) Those factors specifically encompass a
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defendant’s other acts of violence and “hate” (Penal Code section 190.3 (b))
as well as prior convictions (/bid. 190.3 (¢). They also encompass a
defendant’s good acts of charity and kindness or, at the very least, lack of
prior “hateful” conduct. (/bid 190.3 ))

Mr. Leonard told the prosecutor that he would want to know
something about appellant’s history of violence and hate before he came to
a decision about the penalty. There would be something terribly wrong with
a juror who would not want this information. In addition, the fact that Mr.
Leonard would lean toward life if this was appellant’s first act of hate or
violence would likely put him in the company of most prospective jurors
Judging the ultimate fate of an eighteen year old.

Just as importantly, this whole line of questioning was yet another
cynical “hypothetical” that had absolutely no factual relationship to the case
at hand. The charges against appellant were nor his first acts of violence or
evidence of “hateful decisions.” The prosecutor knew full well that she
intended to introduce penalty phase evidence indicating that appellant was
involved in a violent gang culture and personally was involved in violent
gang “jumping in” rituals, repeated assaults of innocent persons and violent
assaults while in jail. (AOB, supra, p. 23 et seq.)

This so-called “race-neutral” reason was extracted from Mr.

Leonard only after telling him that there “was nothing in the background.
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This is the first time...there are no details.” (9 RT 1733.) It was only after
this misleading, questioning that Mr. Leonard stated that in such an
instance, he would be “swaying towards life in prison.” (Ibid.)

Seventeen of the eighteen seated jurors and alternates were white.
Not a single one of them were questioned about first tirr{e “hateful
decisions” or presented with the factually irrelevant hypothetical of a
defendant whose first and only act of violent or hateful social deviance was
capital murder. Further, none were asked how many special circumstances
it would take to allow them to vote for death. This sort of contrasting voir
dire resulting in a “race-neutral” explanation for the excusal of a member of
the cognizable group in question is extremely suspect. (Miller-El I, supra,
545 U.S. at p. 255.)

If the prosecutor was as concerned about Mr. Leonard’s feelings
about such a hypothetical “first time evil” individual as she claimed she
was, she certainly would have asked this question of other prospective
Jurors eventually seated. However, this questioning was reserved for a
black male prospective juror, further evidencing that this supposed “race-
neutral explanation” was clearly pretextual to facilitate the removal ofa
member of a targeted cognizable group. (See gen. Pierre v. Louisiana
(1939) 306 U.S. 354, 361-362; Ali v. Hickman (9" Cir 2009) 571 F.3d 902,

916.)
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Regarding the other “race-neutral” explanation that Mr. Leonard
should be excused because of his opinions as to which penalty was worse,
the following must be initially observed. Even discounting any racial
motivations, the prosecutor’s insistence that there was a correlation between
a prospective juror’s initial personal opinion of which is the “worse” of the
two penalties and that jurors inclination to the follow the law as given by
the judge is misplaced and illogical. In itself, the question as to which
penalty a prospective juror thought was “worse” is virtually impossible for
a juror to intelligently answer as the Juror has no previous experience with
being incarcerated in the prison system. Any such answer is pure
speculation based upon a juror’s personal preference based upon incomplete
information.

In Miller-El II, supra, 545 U.S. at pp. 246-252, the voir dire
relating to the panel’s attitude as to which was the “worse penalty” virtually
mirrored that in the instant case. The prosecution exercised peremptory
challenges to several African-American prospective jurors, giving the
“race-neutral” explanation that these Jurors stated that they were not sure
which was the worse penalty or stated that Jor them (emphasis added) life
would be worse. In looking at the totality of the circumstances of the entire
voir dire, the United States Supreme Court rejected this as a race-neutral

reason. The Court pointed out that every one of the African-American

200



prospective jurors stated that regardless of these opinions, they would have
no problems in imposing the death penalty undef the law.

Further, the Miller-El Court stated that the plausibility of the
state’s argument was “severely undercut by the protection’s failure to object
to other panel members” who expressed views much like the challenged
African-Americans. (Miller-El II supra, 545 U.S. at p. 248.)

In the case of Mr. Leonard, the prosecutor claimed that he should be
excused because he thought life was worse that death. (16 RT 3383.) This
was a mischaracterization of what Mr. Leonard said, the same type of
mischarcterization used to excuse prospective jurors for their alleged
inability to impose death under the law of Wizr. (see Argument I.) When
asked by the prosecutor why he wrote on his questionnaire that life without

parole was the worse penalty, the following telling exchange occurred.

Prosecutor: And can you tell me why you believe this is
worse for a defendant.

Mr. Leonard: Well, the person would have the rest of their
lives to pay for what they did, you know, that it what I mean
death, it’s death you don’t have to think about it any more,
Prosecutor: So. You are saying that if you had to spend the
rest of your life in prison you would think about what you did
everyday?

Mr. Leonard: I think T would.

Prosecutor: What about someone who believed what they did
was okay?

Mr. Leonard: I think that’s where the good versus bad comes
into play to determine if that person should be put to death or
not. (9 RT 1732))
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It is clear from this exchange that Mr. Leonard’s belief that life in
prison was the worse penalty was not based upon what was worse for any
given defendant but, rather, his personal inherent sense of decency in that
he would be haunted by the homicidal act his entire life. However, he
recognized that the ultimate decision ultimately relies on the “good” versus
“bad” analysis, meaning the law as the court and counsel had already
described.

There is absolutely nothing in the balance of Mr. Leonard’s written or
oral voir dire to even hint that he would not follow the law exactly as the
court would give it. He felt that sitting on a Jury was a “civic obligation”
(VICT 1450, Q 37) and specifically rejected the notion that blacks were
treated unfairly by the system. He also made it clear that he could “set aside
religious, social or philosophical convictions” and reach a penalty decision
based only upon the evidence heard at trial and the law as given by the
Judge. (VICT 1480, Q 200)

Further, a comparative analysis of sitting white jurors, is another
revelation of the pretextual nature of this particular “race-neutral”
explanation. Seated Juror #4 stated in answer to Q 198 as to which penalty
was worse stated that life in prison was worse stating “I can only base this

on my personal choice. And I value freedom.” (VII CT 1927.) However on
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question 227 of the questionnaire, the juror gave a contradictory answer
stating that death was worse. (VII CT 1932.) At the very least, these
answers indicated that this white juror was at least conflicted about her own
opinions. However, the prosecutor never even attempted to clear up this
conflict in the voir dire (14 RT 2980 et seq), apparently being satisfied that
none of this mattered very much as she had a juror who was not a black
male.

The same situation occurred with white seated Juror # 5 who
indicated in response to question 198 (VII CT 1927) that based on her
perceptions, life was the worse of the penalties but then gave a conflicting
answer in question 227. (VII CT 1932.) Once again, the pfosecutor did not
even bother to clarify these conflicting responses.

White seated Juror #10, in question 198, stated the question as to
which penalty was worse was “too tough to answer”. She proceeded to
vacillate in her questionnaire answers between saying that death may be the
worse sentence (VII CT 2230, Q 227) and stating that life appears to be the
“more appropriate sentence.” (VI CT 2229, Q 224.) She further stated that
she would require overwhelming evidence for the death penalty. (12 RT
2604.) Again, none of this seemed to give the prosecutor pause.

White seated Juror #9 in response to question 198 stated that life

was the worse penalty (VII CT 2225), then seemed to contradict himself on
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question 227. (VII CT 2230.) This time the prosecutor questioned the juror
about her feelings. (14 RT 3047-3050.) In doing so, the prosecutor
established that this juror clearly believed that life in prison was the worse
of the two penalties because, as also opined by Mr. Leonard, she felt that
the defendant would have to live with the remorse. (14 RT 3047.) After
additional questioning indicating that the Juror felt that in spite of her
feelings she could follow the law (14 RT 3048-3049), the following
exchange occurred.

Proseuctor: My concern is that you believe that life without

the possibility is the worse possible punishment to give a

defendant.

Juror: Yes.

Prosecutor: So if you believe that, and you believe that this

case deserves the worse possible punishment, how could you

ever impose the death penalty? Do you see what I am

saying?...

Juror:Well it was my understanding from the explanation

from the judge, that there were several factors that have to be

weighed here. (14 RT 3049-3050.)

From this exchange, it is clear that this juror believed that life was a
worse penalty than death. Further, her answers virtually paralleled those of
Mr. Leonard. Both believed that ultimately the decision would not be made
on their personal opinion but the factors and the law. Both were willing to

do their jobs under the United States Constitution and laws of the State of

California. Only one was given their chance to do so. The Juror who was
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white remained sitting. The juror who was a African-American male was
excused.

Alternative Juror #5, another white juror, made it clear that he also
felt that life without parole was the worse of the two penalties. (9 CT 2571,
Q 198.) However, on oral voir dire, the prosecutor limited her inquiry on
this Subj ect as to whether the juror would be able to impose the death
penalty. (18 RT 3884.)

Further, white sitting juror #12, while stating that death was the
worse penalty, indicated on her questionnaire that in general she would lean
toward life without parole. (VII CT 2328, Q 224.) She was not even
questioned by the prosecutor about her answer during the oral voir dire.

(11 RT 2324 et seq.)

The above comparative analysis clearly demonstrates that the
prosecutor’s stated concern regarding Mr. Leonard’s death penalty attitudes
did not extend to a good number of the seated jurors or alternates. The
prosecutor’s repeated protestations that she was being “race-neutral” and
only concerned about attitudes as to the death penalty ring utterly hollow in
the face of her treatment of jurors who were not black males, demonstrating
her “race-neutral” justification was pretextual.

The prosecutot’s claim that Mr. Leonard’s belief in “rehabilitation”
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serves as a race-neutral reason for his removal from the jury is, again, a
pretext to send home this reasonable and thoughtful African-American man.
Once again, Mr. Leonard’s very careful and precise answers were taken out
of context. All that Mr. Leonard said about “rehabilitation” was he would
only vote for life if he believed that a defendant could be “rehabilitated” in
prison. (9 RT 1730.)

There is absolutely nothing about this statement that indicated that
Mr. Leonard could not follow the law. The prosecutor’s comment that no
prospective juror who believes in rehabilitation would ever sentence a
person to death regardless of what that juror may swear to in court is
senseless. The whole point of the weighing process is to determine who
should live and who should die based on all statutory factors including
factor (k) which expressly permits the jury to consider any circumstance of
defendant’s character which would argue for a sentence of less than death.
Therefore, a juror is supposed to consider whether he feels that a defendant
is possessed of such a character that his time in prison would be productive
or that the defendant may arrive at some state of personal redemption. (See
Skipper v. South Carolina (1986) 476 U.S. at 1, 3-5; Eddings v. Oklahoma
(1982) 455 U.S. 104, 110.)

There was nothing in Mr. Leonard’s questionnaire or voir dire that

he placed an inordinate emphasis on “rehabilitation,” or that he could not
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follow the law as given by the judge. However, none of this mattered to the
prosecutor, who, according to the record, seemed to be far more interested
in Mr. Leonard’s racial point of origin than any individual thoughts he
might have as an independent human being.

Further, once again, a comparative analysis, revealed that several
of the sitting white jurors also indicated a personal belief in “rehabilitation”
and its function in making a penalty decision. While not using the specific
word “rehabilitation,” seated juror #4 stated that life in prison would be
“appropriate” depending upon “any potential (a defendant) may have left to
contribute.” (14 RT 2989.) She further explained, “I think a person with life
in prison could still offer some positive contribution to society. If you are
like writing books, helping other prisoners. It’s not likely. You still have
some life left, I guess.” (Ibid.)

In spite of not using the word “rehabilitation” it could not have
escaped the prosecutor’s notice that Juror # 4 fully ascribed to the concept
even to a greater extent than did Mr. Leonard. However, once again, what
was bad for the black goose was not bad for the white gander. This juror,
who spoke so clearly of rehabilitation, was seated with the prosecutor’s
bleésing.

Similarly, seated Juror #11 twice stated on her questionnaire that

the death penalty should be reserved for irredeemable people. (VII CT
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2273, Q192; VII CT 2276, Q 209.) She reaffirmed this belief on oral voir
dire. (4 RT 720.) There certainly may be some subtle differences between
the concepts of “redemption” and “rehabilitation” but certainly not in this
context. White seated Juror # 11 essentially stated that her penalty decision
would be partially based on whether appellant could do something useful in
prison. (VII CT 2273, Q 193.) This comment was a clear endorsement by
this white juror of the concept of rehabilitation.

However, this juror also was allowed to sit on this jury, in
complete contradiction to the prosecutor’s own “race-neutral” explanation
that any juror who believed in this concept would vote for life regardless of
what he or she swore to at voir dire. (16 RT 3525.)

Alternate juror #6, also fully endorsed by the prosecution, stated
specifically in her questionnaire that the penalty of life in prison without
possibility of parole should be imposed “for a person who is truly sorry and
can be rehabilitated to some usefulness and good.” (9 RT 2619, Q 193.)
Once again, this did not seem to particularly trouble the prosecutor. (19 RT
4027.) Alternate Juror #6, who was white was allowed to sit on appellant’s
jury, at the ready to decide Mr. Armstrong’s fate. Mr. Leonard, an
African-American male, whose views were essentially identical to this

juror, was sent home.
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Taking into account this comparative analysis, the prosecutor’s
alleged justification of dismissal because Mr. Leonard would give weight to
rehabilitation was plainly pretextual. The prosecutor’s claim of racial
neutrality does not even bear the most casual consideration.

This pretextual challenge as to “rehabilitation” was very similar to
that described in Miller-El 11, supra, 545 U.S. 242- 245.) In Miller-El, 11,
an African-American prospective juror indicated on voir dire that he
believed that the possibility of rehabilitation might affect his penalty
verdict. However, this juror also stated that he had no moral, religious or
philosophical reservations about the death penalty. (Ibid.) He also stated
that his belief in rehabilitation would not prevent him from imposing the
death penalty. (/bid.)

The High Court noted that upon challenging this juror, the
prosecutor “simply mischaracterized” the prospective juror’s testimony by
telling the trial court that the African-American juror stated that he could
not vote for death if rehabilitation was possible, when, in reality the juror
stated that he could impose the death penalty regardless of the possibility of
rehabilitation. This is exactly what happened in the instant case. (Miller-El,
supra, 545 U.S. at 242-245.) In addition, the Court noted, “If indeed (the
challenged black juror’s) thoughts on rehabilitation did make the prosecutor

uneasy, he should have worried about a number of white panel members he
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accepted without reservations.” (Id. at 244.) Such again was the situation in
the inétant case.

The above-discussed “race-neutral” explanations for the
peremptory challenge of Mr. Leonard were nothing but flimsy pretext. They
were not even internally consistent. When a comparative analysis was
employed, the pretextual and cynical nature of the prosecutor’s neutrality is
fully laid bare. Several white jurors felt the exact same way as Mr. Leonard,
but were allowed to be seated as jurors or alternates. This would be the
pattern of all of the prosecutor’s peremptory challenges to the four black
men.

Regarding the “race-neutral” explanation that Mr. Leonard would
make the prosecutor prove all of the special circumstances, Mr. Leonard
never said he would do this. This so-called “explanation” arose from an
incredibly confusing series of questions that the prosecutor posed to Mr.
Leonard in the oral voir dire. (9 RT 1736-1739.) It was clear from this voir
dire that Mr. Leonard did not understand the prosecutor’s questioning until
the end of this exchange. Upon finally ascertaining what the prosecutor was
asking, Mr. Leonard clearly stated that he could impose death even if only
one special circumstance was found true. (9 RT 1739.)

Not only did the prosecutor again misstate Mr. Leonard’s answer,

but a comparative analysis reveals the reality that the prosecutor was far
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more interested in setting up a trap for this African-American male
prospective juror than she was in obtaining an answer to what she
considered a critical question. None of the seated jurors or alternates were
subjected to this type of questioning. None was asked how many special
circumstances it would take to allow them to vote for death. This sort of
contrasting voir dire resulting in a “race-neutral” explanation for the excusal
of a member of the cognizable group in question is extremely suspect.
(Miller-EL I, supra, 545 U.S. at p. 255.) As stated above, if the prosecutor
was so concerned about this particular issue, she certainly would have asked
the jurors eventually seated the same questions she asked Mr. Leonard. She
did not, because this was not a real issue for the prosecutor. Removing Mr.
Leonard, on any pretext possible, was.

It is clear from the above analysis that Mr. Leonard was removed
from the jury for having the same thoughts and feelings that were perfectly
acceptable in the white jurors who were seated. All of this makes the
prosecutor’s statement that she was concerned that Mr. Leonard was not
“fully participating in a cooperative sense” absolutely unbelievable. It was
unclear what the prosecutor even meant at the time she made this statement,
or what sort of further “participation” she was expecting from Mr. Leonard.
As any good prospective juror, he had no personal interest in the outcome;

he didn’t care who won or lost, who sat on the jury and who did not. He
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simply sat quietly and minded his own business while the other prospective
Jurors were being questioned. There was no indication in the record that he
was not paying attention or was creating a distraction during the
questioning of other prospective jurors. The trial court, itself, stated that
during the questioning of the other jurors, Mr. Leonard was concentrating
on the judge. (15 RT 3225.)

Perhaps the prosecutor harbored some sort of delusion that Mr.
Leonard’s job when not being questioned was to hang on her every word
and “fully participate” as if the jury selection process was a camp sing-
along. More likely, this was yet another attempt to rid the jury of a member
of a racial group that she didn’t feel would vote for conviction and de<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>